

https://theses.gla.ac.uk/

Theses Digitisation:

https://www.gla.ac.uk/myglasgow/research/enlighten/theses/digitisation/

This is a digitised version of the original print thesis.

Copyright and moral rights for this work are retained by the author

A copy can be downloaded for personal non-commercial research or study, without prior permission or charge

This work cannot be reproduced or quoted extensively from without first obtaining permission in writing from the author

The content must not be changed in any way or sold commercially in any format or medium without the formal permission of the author

When referring to this work, full bibliographic details including the author, title, awarding institution and date of the thesis must be given

Enlighten: Theses <u>https://theses.gla.ac.uk/</u> research-enlighten@glasgow.ac.uk  $\Lambda$  thesis entitled

NG CALIFY AND AND

# Transcriptional Control During the Cell Cycle and Apoptosis

Presented by

#### **Chang-Woo Lee**

to

The University of Glasgow

うちょうしき おく たいていい たいせい

ę.

for the degree of

**Doctor of Philosophy** 

August 1998

Division of Biochemistry and Molecular Biology Institute of Biomedical and Life Science University of Glasgow ProQuest Number: 10391495

All rights reserved

INFORMATION TO ALL USERS

The quality of this reproduction is dependent upon the quality of the copy submitted.

In the unlikely event that the author did not send a complete manuscript and there are missing pages, these will be noted. Also, if material had to be removed, a note will indicate the deletion.



ProQuest 10391495

Published by ProQuest LLC (2017). Copyright of the Dissertation is held by the Author.

All rights reserved.

This work is protected against unauthorized copying under Title 17, United States Code Microform Edition © ProQuest LLC.

ProQuest LLC. 789 East Eisenhower Parkway P.O. Box 1346 Ann Arbor, MI 48106 – 1346

GLASGOW UNIVERSITY Library 11316 (copy J

GLASGOW UNIVERSITY LIBRARY

4 1

.

26 3

۰.

To my family,

6 8000

# Abstract

Both E2F and p53 are sequence specific transcription factors that play important roles in controlling early cell cycle progression. The pathway of control mediated through E2F governs the transition from G1 into S phase whereas p53 in response to genotoxic stress can facilitate cell cycle arrest or apoptosis. Here, I show that there is a physical and functional interaction between p53 and DP-1. p53, which interacts with a distinct form of DP-1, competes with E2F-1 for DP-1 leading to a reduction in the level of E2F-1/DP-1 heterodimer transcriptional activity. The results establish DP-1 as a common cellular target in two distinct pathways of growth control mediated through the activities of pRb and p53 tumour suppressor proteins. and the second second

A state

From previous studies it is known that cells expressing aberrant levels of E2F-1 can undergo p53-dependent apoptosis. However, I demonstrate that E2F-1 can induce apoptosis in  $p53^{-/-}$  turnour cells and that DP-1 is able to augment the E2F-1-induced apoptosis, yet by itself it has no ability to induce apoptosis, consistent with the ability of DP-1 to enhance E2F-1-mediated transcriptional activation. Surprisingly, E2F-1-induced apoptosis requires DNA-binding but not *trans* activation, suggesting that this apoptosis is not simply the consequence of the direct activation of genes required for apoptosis.

The mechanisms which influence the outcome of p53 induction are not clear, although transcription of the p53 target gene, encoding the cdk-inhibitor  $p21^{Waf1/Cip1}$ , correlates with p53-mediated cell cycle arrest. Using a combination of biochemical and functional assays, I identify that p300 as a co-activator required for p53-dependent transcriptional activation of Waf1/Cip1. Furthermore, I show that the cdk-inhibitor p21<sup>Waf1/Cip1</sup> autoregulates in a positive fashion transcription through modulating the activity of the p53/p300 complex, whilst negatively regulating the activity of E2F by preventing cdk-dependent phosphorylation of pRb. Consistent with a role for p21<sup>Waf1/Cip1</sup> in the autoregulation of p53-dependent transcription, p300 augments the ability of p53 to cause G1 arrest. In addition, I find that p300, which also functions as a co-activator for E2F/DP heterodimer, enhances the E2F-1-induced apoptotic activity. Thus, a functional interaction between p300 and either p53 or E2F-1 has a profound impact on early cell cycle progression, specifically in regulating the contrasting outcomes of cell cycle arrest and apoptosis.

The survey for any

(N.14)

HALFORD ALL

p300/CBP proteins have been implicated as critical regulators of distinct cellular pathways, such as those leading to differentiation, cell cycle arrest and apoptosis. To elucidate the mechanisms of transcriptional activation by p300, it was considered possible that additional control may be exerted through proteins that physically interact to regulate the activity of p300. I demonstrate that a newly identified protein, termed JMY, makes a physiological complex with p300 in mammalian cells. Also, this new protein functionally co-operates with p300 in the transcriptional activation of p53, and possesses the properties of a co-activator for p53. I find that JMY has potent effects on certain p53-dependent genes, such as *bax*, and physiologically JMY co-operates with p300 in promoting apoptosis. These results reveal a new level of control that is important in dictating the cellular response to p53.

### **Table of contents**

Abstract	2
Table of contents	4.
Table of figures	II
Abbreviations	15
Declaration	20
Publications	21

a service of the service method water a service of

23

เป็นที่มีเป็นการสู่สามารถสายการสามารถสามารถสามารถสามารถสามารถสามารถสามารถสามารถสามารถสามารถสามารถสามารถสามารณ

# Chapter1

Introduction

1-1 p53, the cellular mediator for growth control and cell death 23 1-1.1 Cell cycle arrest mediated by p53 is dependent on its transcriptional activity 24 1) Sequence-specific DNA binding activity 26 2) Transcriptional suppression / transcriptional activation of specific target genes 28 1-1.2 p53 is not the only determinant of the cell cycle checkpoints 32 I-1.3 Apoptosis induced by p53 33 1-1.4 p53 induction is not necessary for apoptosis in some 35 circumstances 1-1.5 Cell cycle arrest and apoptosis by p53 may be differentially regulated functions 36

	1-1.6	Accumulation or modulation of p53	37
1-2	The F	C2F pathway	39
	1-2.1	Cell cycle progression is coupled to the regulation of E2F	39
	1-2.2	E2F and DP family possess proto-oncogenic activity	43
	1-2.3	E2F-1, a possible link between the loss of pRb and the	
		activation of p53	44
	1-2.4	The physiological role of E2F-1	45
	1-2.5	Cell cycle regulation of pRb and its relatives by	
		phosphorylation	46
	1-2.6	Regulation of pocket proteins by cellular and viral	
		oncoproteins	50
	1-2.7	The role of pRb in apoptosis and differentiation	54
1-3	Co-a	ctivator p300/CBP, an integrating signal with cell cycle	
	regu	latory transcription factors	55
	1-3.1	p300/CBP are transcriptional co-activators involved in	
		growth control and signal transduction pathways	56
	1-3.2	The phosphorylation of p300/CBP by cell cycle	
		dependent kinase	62
	1-3.3	p300/CBP as modulators of chromatin	62
	1-3.4	p300/CBP in cancer and other human diseases	64

## 1-4 Objectives

66

ALL TANK

÷

ŝ

1 \*\*\* (X)\*\* (\$1.17

Service.

Chapter 2	
Materials	and Methods

2-1	Plasmids	68
2-2	Transfection	70
2-3	Luciferase and $\beta$ -galactosidase assays	71
2-4	Immunofluorescence	71
2-5	Flow cytometry	72
2-6	Immunoprecipitation	73
2-7	Metabolic in vivo labelling	75
2-8	Apoptosis assays	75
2-9	Purification of p53 protein from insect cells	76
2-10	Glutathione S-transferase recombinant protein	77
2-11	In vitro binding assay	77
2-12	Histidine tagged protein	78
2-13	Gel retardation assays	79

#### Chapter 3 ,

Nuclear accumulation is necessary for E2F-dependent		
apoptosis		
3-1 Introduction	80	
3-2 Results	81	
3-2.1 Intracellular localization of E2F/DP proteins	81	
3-2.2 Co-expression of DP-1 with E2F-1 causes DP-1 to efficient	ntly	
accumulate in nucleus	85	
3-2.3 E2F-1 can induce apoptosis independent of p53	85	

3-2.4 Properties of E2F required for apoptosis	86
3-3 Conclusion	98
Chapter 4	
Functional relationship between p53 and E2F-1/DP-1	99
4-1 Introduction	99
4-2 Results	100
4-2.1 DP-1 associates with p53	100
4-2.2 An immunochemically distinct form of DP-1 associates	
with p53	100
4-2.3 An amino-terminal region in p53 is required for binding	
to DP-1	106
4-2.4 p53 can modulate E2F site-dependent transcription	106
4-2.5 Regulation of p53-dependent transcription by E2F and pRb	111
4-2.6 The regulation of p53 activity requires the E2F-1 and	
p53 trans activation domains	114
4-3 Conclusion	115

いたいという 建築 ひとをなる たまで ロード

いんななき いたい 愛 せいなる アイクロ ゆうゆう 素質 いいてき いっけい アンバルバー

### Chapter 5

# Cell cycle regulation and apoptosis by p53 and E2F-1/DP-1 through co-activator p300 119

5-1	Introduction	119
5-2	Results	120
	5-2.1 p300 relieves the inactivation of p53 by E2F-1	120
	5-2.2 p300 physically associates with p53 and E2F-1	120

	5-2.3	p21 <sup>Waf1/Cip1</sup> enhances p53-dependent transcription by	
		the regulating the p53/p300 interaction	131
	5-2.4	CH3 domain in p300 interact with p53	134
	5-2.5	p300 is required for the activation of Waf1/Cip1	134
	5-2.6	Physiological consequences of p300 interacting with	
		p53 and E2F	140
5-3	Conc	lusion	147

#### Chapter 6

*JMY, a new co-activator for p300, regulates the p53 response* 149

6-1	Introduction	149
6-2	i-2 Results	
	6-2.1 JMY forms a physical complex with p300	149
	6-2.2 Two domains in p300 interact with JMY	152
	6-2.3 JMY possesses the properties of a transcriptional	
	co-activator	157
	6-2.4 JMY regulates p53-dependent apoptosis	160
6-3	Conclusion	167

### Chapter 7

Discussion

174

7-1	E2F family members exhibit distinct cellular distributions	
	and functional properties	174
7-2	An ability of E2F-1 to induce apoptosis	175

8

7-3 pRb and p300 have different effects on E2F-1-mediated	
apoptosis	178
7-4 The p53 and pRb/E2F pathways of growth control are	
functionally integrated	182
7-5 p53 physically and functionally associates with DP-1	184
7-6 Functional cross-talk between p53 and E2F-1 through	
co-activator p300	188
7-7 A central role for p300 in cell cycle control and apoptosis	190
7-8 E1A deregulates p53 and E2F-1 activity through its	
co-activator p300	196
7-9 A novel transcriptional co-activator, JMY, that interacts	
with p300	198
7-10 JMY enhances p53-dependent transcription through	
co-activator p300	199
7-11 JMY augments p53-dependent apoptosis	200
7-12 Overall conclusion	202
References	206

## Acknowledgements

247

Court Faces

ر در •

۰.

÷

## Table of figures

#### Introduction

Figure 1-1	
Structural organization of the p53 protein	27
Figure 1-2	
Model for activation of cell cycle arrest in G1 by p53	29
Figure 1-3	
The p53-dependent pathways for cell cycle arrest and apoptosis	31
Figure 1-4	
Sequence comparison of E2F and DP proteins	40
Figure 1-5	
Genes regulated by E2F	42
Figure 1-6	
Cell cycle dependence of E2F containing complexes	47
Figure 1-7	
Functional domains in pRb	51
Figure 1-8	
Schematic representation of p300/CBP	58
Figure 1-9	
p300/CBP co-ordinates transcription with chromatin remodeling	59
Figure 1-10	
Schematic diagram of p300/CBP functions	64

1997年の「「日本の日本の」」である。

and the second state of the second second

and the state of the second state of the state of the second second second second second second second second s

5

10 A 20

# Nuclear accumulation is necessary for E2F-dependent apoptosis

The intracellular localization of E2F proteins82Figure 3-2E2F-1 induces p53-independent apoptosis in SAOS-2 cells87Figure 3-3The dimerization of E2F-1 and DP-1 augments apoptosis91Figure 3-4Trans activation is not necessary for E2F-1 induced apoptosis93Figure 3-5p300 and pRb have different effects on E2F-1 mediated96	Figure	3-1	
Figure 3-2E2F-1 induces p53-independent apoptosis in SAOS-2 cells87Figure 3-3The dimerization of E2F-1 and DP-1 augments apoptosis91Figure 3-4Trans activation is not necessary for E2F-1 induced apoptosis93Figure 3-5p300 and pRb have different effects on E2F-1 mediated96		The intracellular localization of E2F proteins	82
E2F-1 induces p53-independent apoptosis in SAOS-2 cells 87 Figure 3-3 The dimerization of E2F-1 and DP-1 augments apoptosis 91 Figure 3-4 <i>Trans</i> activation is not necessary for E2F-1 induced apoptosis 93 Figure 3-5 p300 and pRb have different effects on E2F-1 mediated apoptosis 96	Figure	3-2	
Figure 3-3The dimerization of E2F-1 and DP-1 angments apoptosis91Figure 3-4Trans activation is not necessary for E2F-1 induced apoptosis93Figure 3-5p300 and pRb have different effects on E2F-1 mediated apoptosis96		E2F-1 induces p53-independent apoptosis in SAOS-2 cells	87
The dimerization of E2F-1 and DP-1 angments apoptosis91Figure 3-4Trans activation is not necessary for E2F-1 induced apoptosis93Figure 3-5p300 and pRb have different effects on E2F-1 mediated apoptosis96	Figure	3-3	
Figure 3-4 Trans activation is not necessary for E2F-1 induced apoptosis 93   Figure 3-5 p300 and pRb have different effects on E2F-1 mediated 96		The dimerization of E2F-1 and DP-1 augments apoptosis	91
Trans activation is not necessary for E2F-1 induced apoptosis 93   Figure 3-5 p300 and pRb have different effects on E2F-1 mediated   apoptosis 96	Figure	3-4	
Figure 3-5 p300 and pRb have different effects on E2F-1 mediated   apoptosis 96		Trans activation is not necessary for E2F-1 induced apoptosis	93
p300 and pRb have different effects on E2F-1 mediated apoptosis 96	Figure	3-5	
apoptosis 96		p300 and pRb have different effects on E2F-1 mediated	
		apoptosis	96

### Functional relationship between p53 and E2F-1/DP-1

Figure	4-1	
ł	p53 associates with DP-1	101
Figure	4-2	
1	p53 binds to an immunochemically distinct form of DP-1	104
Figure	4-3	
l	Domains in p53 required for the interaction with DP-1	107
Figure	4-4	
]	p53 modulates E2F hinding site-depedent transcription	109
Figure	4-5	
]	Regulation of p53-dependent transcription by E2F-1	
:	and pRb	112

#### Figure 4-6

Regulation of p53 activity requires the E2F-1 and p53 activation domains 116 A last the little

and the set of the set of the set of the

and the second second

aligned the second second of the second s

# Cell cycle regulation and apoptosis by p53 and E2F-1/DP-1 through co-activator p300

#### Figure 5-1

	p300 rescues E2F-1 inactivated p53 and enhances the	
	transcriptional activity of p53 and E2F-1	121
Figur	e 5-2	
	p300 physically associates with p53	124
Figur	e 5-3	
	p300 physically associates with E2F-1 and DP-1	1 <b>29</b>
Figur	e 5-4	
	p21 <sup>Waf1/Cip1</sup> enhances the activity of the p53/p300 complex	
	and p53-dependent transcription	132
Figur	e 5-5	
	Region of p300 required for the interaction with the	
	trans activation domain of p53	135
Figur	e 5-6	
	p300 is required for the activation of p53 target genes	138
Figur	e 5-7	
	Effect of p300 on cell cycle arrest and apoptosis	142

## JMY, a new co-activator for p300, regulates the p53 response

うる、第二日 ちょうがん ち

a second the second second states and

スート・シート いたいない

Figure 6-1	
Diagrammatic summary of functional domains in JMY	150
Figure 6-2	
JMY interacts with p300	153
Figure 6-3	
JMY interacts with two domains in p300	155
Figure 6-4	
JMY possesses the properties of a co-activator for p53	158
Figure 6-5	
The protein expression level of p53 by p300 or JMY	161
Figure 6-6	
Induction of Bax protein by p300/JMY	163
Figure 6-7	
Levels of p300 and JMY	165
Figure 6-8	
JMY has selective effects on p53-target genes	168
Figure 6-9	
IMY augments p53-dependent apoptosis	170
Discussion	
Figure 7-1	
The dual functions of E2F/DP on cell cycle control	177
Figure 7-2	
The E2F-1 trans activation domain contains three distinct	

protein-binding sites

Figure	e /-3	
	Repression of E2F/DP transcriptional activity by p53	
	may occur via two pathways	186
Figure	e <b>7-4</b>	
	Model for cell cycle control by p300	194
Figure	e 7-5	
	Regulation of cell cycle and apoptosis by p53 and E2F-1/DP-1	
	through co-activators p300 and JMY	204

1. W. S. W. S. S.

and second second to

1000

states and the second

# Abbreviations

ATF	Activating transcription factor
β-gał	β-galactosidase
bp	Base pair
BRG-1	Brabma-related protein
BRK	Baby rat kidney
cAMP	Cyclic adenosine mono-phosphate
САТ	Chloramphenicol acetyltransferase
CBP	CREB-binding protein
CDK	Cyclin dependent kinase
C/EBP	CCAAT-box/enhancer-binding protein
ced-3	Caenor-habditis elegans
СН	Cysteine/histidine-rich domain
СК	Casein kinase
CMV	Cytomegalovirus
CR	Conserved region (in the adenovirus E1A protein)
CRE	cAMP-response element
CREB	CRE-binding protein
Сус	Cyclin
DAPI	4,6-diamidino-2-phenylindole
DBD	DNA binding domain
DHFR	Dihydofolate reductase
DMEM	Dulbecco's modificatied eagle's medium
DMSO	Dimethylsulphoxide
DNA pol $\alpha$	DNA polymerase a
DNA-PK	Double-stranded DNA-activated protein kinase

300 S - 17 - 1

ł

ċ

1. 1. A. 1. A.

dNTP	Deoxy-nucleoside triphosphate
DIT	Dithiothreitol
dutp	Deoxy-uracil triphosphate
EDTA	Ethylene diamine tetra-acetic acid
ELISA	Enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay
ER	Oestrogen
FACS	Fluorescence activated cell scanning
FCS	Foetal calf serum
F9EC	F9 embryonal carcinoma
FITC	Fluorescein isothiocyanate
GAD	Gal4 activation domain
GR	Glucocorticoid receptor
GST	Glutathione-S-transferase
HA	Hemagglutinin protein (derived from influenza virus)
HAT	Targeted histone acetylation
HBS	HEPES-buffered saline
HBV	Hepatitis B virus
HDAC1	Histone deacetylase 1
HEPES	N-[2-Hydroxethyl]piperazine-N'-[2-ethanesulfonic acid]
HLH	Helix-loop-helix
НРV	Human papilloma virus
IB	Immunoblotting
ICE	Interleukin 1 β-converting enzyme
IGF-BP3	Insulin-like growth factor-binding protein 3
IL-2	Interleukin-2
INF α	Interferon a
IP	Immunoprecipitation
IPTG	Isopropyl-B-D-thiogalactopyranoside
IR	Irradiation

State State

Golden and Ca

IVT	In vitro translated
JMY	Junction-mediating and regulatory protein
KID	Kinase-inducible domain
LOH	Loss of heterozygosity
Luc	Luciferase
МСК	Muscle creatine kinase
MDM 2	Murine double minute 2
MOZ	Monocytic-leukemia zinc-finger
MyoD	Myogenic HLH transcription factor
NLS	Nuclear localization signal
NP-40	Nonidet P-40
p53 BP	p53 binding protein
p55L	Faster migrating half of DP-1 p55 doublet
p55U	Slower migrating half of DP-1 p55 doublet
PAGE	Polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis
PBS	Phosphate buffered saline
PBST	Phosphate buffered saline tween-20
P/CAF	p300/CBP-associated factor
PCNA	Proliferating cell nuclear antigen
PCR	Polymerase chain reaction
РКС	Protein kinase C
PMSF	Phenylmethysulfonyl fluoride
Pol II	RNA polymerase II
PR	Progesterone
pRb	Retinoblastoma gene product
RAR	Retinonic acid receptor
REF	Rat embryo fibroblast
RGC	Ribosomal gene cluster
RTS	Rubinstein-Taybi syndrome

RXR	Retinoid X receptor
SAP	Stress-activated protein
SDS	Sodium dodecyl sulphate
SRC-1	Steroid receptor co-activator 1
SREBP	Sterol regulatory element binding protein
STAT	Signal transducer and activator of transcription
SV40-LT	Simian virus 40 large T antigen
TAD	Transactivation domain
TAF	TBP-associated factor
ТВР	TATA binding protein
TdT	Terminal deoxy-transferase
TFs	Transcription factors
ТК	Thymidine kinase
Торо.1	Topoisomerase 1
TR	Thyroid hormone
TRITC	Tetramethylrhodamine isothiocyanate
Tris	Tris(hydroxymethyl)methylamine
TS	Thymidylate synthetase
TUNEL	TdT-mediated dUTP nick end labelling
Tween 20	Polyoxyethylene sorbitan monolaurate
UV	Ultraviolet light
VP16	Virion protein 16 trans activation domain
v/v	Volume per volume
wt	Wild type
WT 1	Wilm's tumour-1
w/v	Weight per volume
YY1	Ying yang 1
Zip	Leucine zipper

- (+/+) Wild type
- (+/-) Heterozygous mutant
- (-/-) Homozygous mutant

## Declaration

All work presented within this thesis was performed entirely by myself and in no way forms part of any other thesis. Any material supported by other persons is acknowledged. The work was carried out while I was a postgraduate student at the Division of Biochemistry and Molecular Biology, Institute of Biomedical and Life Science, University of Glasgow, UK, from March 1995. I was under the supervision of Professor Nicholas B. La Thangue.

the second second records the second second and the second second second

Chang-Woo Lee

August 1998

### **Publications**

The following publications were submitted during the course of the work presented in this thesis.

Lee, C.W. and N.B. La Thangue. 1998. Promoter specificity and co-activator control of the p53-related protein p73. Submitted for publication.

Shikama, N.\*, C.W. Lee\*, L. Delavaine, J. Lyon, W. Cairns, M. Krstic-Demonacos, and N.B. La Thangue. 1998. A new component of the p300/CBP co-activator complex that regulates E2F and the p53 response. Submitted for publication.

Cairns, W., N. Shikama, M. Krstic-Demonacos, C.W. Lee, J. Lyon, and N.B. La Thangue. 1998. Regulation of nucleosome assembly proteins by p300/CBP co-activators. Submitted for publication.

Lee, C.W., T. Sorensen, N. Shikama, and N.B. La Thangue. 1998. Functional interplay between p53 and E2F through co-activator p300. Oncogene 16:2695-2710.

Sorensen, T.\*, R. Girling\*, C.W. Lee\*, J. Gannon, L. Bandara, and N.B. La Thangue. 1996. Functional interaction between DP-1 and p53. Molecular and Cellular Biology 16:5888-5895.

de la Luna, S., M. Burden, C.W. Lee, and N.B. La Thangue. 1996. Nuclear accumulation of the E2F heterodimer regulated by subunit composition and alternative splicing of a nuclear localization signal. Journal of Cell Science 109:2443-2452.

\* denotes joint first authorship.

## Chapter 1. Introduction

In all eukaryotes, cell cycle progression is regulated not only through the activity of transcription factors, but also through the activity of activators and repressors which might modulate their activity (La Thangue, 1994; Hartwell and Kastan, 1994; Dynlacht, 1997). Co-ordination of these complex processes is thought to be important for growth-related decisions which will influence whether the cell proliferates, enters quiescence, or differentiates (Nevins, 1992; La Thangue, 1994). A critical period for integrating growth regulating signals occurs during early cell cycle progression where, in the appropriate conditions, cells become committed to the division cycle (Nevins, 1992; La Thangue, 1994). The transition from G1 into S phase is governed by a number of cell cycle regulatory proteins with established roles in controlling proliferation, such as the tumour suppressor protein p53, the E2F transcription factors, and the retinoblastoma tumour suppressor protein pRb (Nevins, 1992; La Thangue, 1994; Lam and La Thangue, 1994; Weinberg, 1995).

In addition, pathways that act positively and negatively are exerted during physiological processes such as development, differentiation, senescence, and apoptosis (Hunter and Karin, 1992; Lam and La Thangue, 1994; Raff, 1996; Vousden, 1996; White, 1996). In many cases, arrest of cell proliferation takes place under circumstances in which the integrity of the genome has been compromised, and failure to arrest proliferation would release cells with highly unstable genomes that could evolve into tumour cells or trigger the apoptotic signals (Hartwell and Kastan, 1994; Weinberg, 1995; White, 1996).

Apoptosis plays an indispensable role during embryogenesis, in adult tissue homeostasis, in the regulation of the immune system and in the development of the nervous system so as to eliminate unwanted, potentially dangerous cells or superfluous cells from the organism (Fisher, 1994; Hoffman and Liebermann, 1994; Steller, 1995; Vaus and Strasser, 1996). The mechanisms which control apoptosis are thought to be highly conserved in all mammalian cells, and must therefore be tightly regulated. The genes regulating and executing the apoptotic programme are just beginning to be identified and are currently an area of intense investigation (Ko and Prives, 1996; Hansen and Oren, 1997). However, the events which determine whether a particular cell should arrest the cell cycle or activate the apoptosis pathway are not fully understood.

## 1-1. p53, the cellular mediator for growth control and cell death

The human tumour suppresor gene p53 encodes a 393 amino acid phosphoprotein that exhibits sequence-specific DNA binding and directly interacts with various cellular and viral proteins (Ko and Prives, 1996; Levine, 1997) (Table 1-1 and Figure 1-1). The p53 protein is a critical regulator of tumourigenesis, as evidenced by the fact that p53 is lost through mutation or inactivation by viral oncoproteins in more than half of human cancer. Moreover, individuals with Li-Fraumeni syndrome, who inherit a mutant p53 allele, are highly predisposed to various cancers (Malkin, 1993). Homozygous disruption of p53 alleles in the mouse does not result in developmental defects but leads to a dramatically increased incidence of diverse tumours (Donehower *et al.*, 1992), this being consistent with the postulated role of p53 as a guardian of genomic integrity (Lane, 1992; Pietenpol and Vogelstein, 1993).

Ż

At the physiological level, p53 has been implicated as a key mediator of the cellular response to DNA damage. DNA damage induces accumulation of active

p53, which can eventually lead to a G1 arrest or to apoptosis (Kastan *et al.*, 1992; Lu and Lane, 1993; Pietenpol and Vogelstein, 1993; Crook *et al.*, 1994; Macleod *et al.*, 1995; Polyak *et al.*, 1996; Chen *et al.*, 1996; Ko and Prives, 1996). It has been shown that p53 senses DNA damage and arrests the cell cycle in either the G1/S or G2/M checkpoints to allow DNA repair to take place. If repair is not successful, p53 initiates apoptosis thus preventing the propagation of genetic defects to successive generations of cells. In addition, there is evidence that p53 can affect the initiation of apoptosis in a dose-dependent manner when induced by agents that cause DNA-strand breakage (Ko and Prives, 1996). However, p53 appears to be necessary for some, but not all forms of apoptosis (Clarke *et al.*, 1993; Ailday *et al.*, 1995; Macleod *et al.*, 1996).

The choice between cell cycle arrest and apoptosis mediated by p53 is not completely understood. Therefore, the factors governing how a cell responds to p53 activation is a subject therefore of great interest. 

# **1-1.1.** Cell cycle arrest mediated by p53 is dependent on its transcriptional activity.

The wild-type p53 protein is a sequence-specific transcription factor which can activate genes possessing p53 consensus sites. The biochemical activity of p53 most tightly associated with tumour suppression and growth arrest involves a damage-dependent activation of sequence-specific transcriptional activity. p53 induces the transcription of a number of genes (Table 1-1), the products of which directly mediate growth arrest as is the case of  $p21^{Waf1/Cip1}$  (Pietenpol *et al.*, 1994; Crook *et al.*, 1994).

#### Table 1-1 Proteins that have a functional relationship with p53.

Viral and cellular proteins interacting with p53		
SV40 T antigen	Blocks p53 DNA binding domain	
Ad EIB 55kDa	Blocks p53 transcriptional activation domain	
HPV E6	Promotes the degradation of p53	
c-Abl	p53-mediated cell cycle arrest	
TFIID/TBP	Binds amino and carboxyl termini of p53	
TFIIH (XPB, XPD)	Helicase modulated by wild type p53, not mutant p53	
WT1 (Wilms	Stabilizes p53 protein, and inhibits apoptosis although	
tumour-1)	permitting growth arrest	

#### The products of p53-responsive genes.

p21 <sup>Wafl/Cip1</sup>	Inhibit several cyclin-dependent kinases; bind cdk's,
	cyclins, and PCNA; arrest the cell cycle
MDM2	Product of an oncogene; inactivates p53-mediated transcription
	and so forms an autoregulatory loop with p53 activity
GADD45	Induced upon DNA damage; binds to PCNA and can arrest the
	cell cycle; involved directly in DNA nucleotide excision repair
Cyclin G	A novel cyclin (it does not cycle with cell division) of
	unknown function and no known cyclin-dependent kinase
Bax	A member of the Bcl2 family that promotes apoptosis; not
	induced by p53 in all cell types
IGF-BP3	The insulin-like growth factor binding protein-3; blocks
	signalling of a mitogenic growth factor

Data in this table are compiled together with data from Hall *et al.* (1996), Ko and Prives (1996), Hansen and Oren (1997), and Levine (1997).

四方に、今天御客村は、ひます。 そうであたであたが、そうかったち、ここのかったち、またのでは、ちゃつ、そうない、 

1) Sequence-specific DNA binding activity.

p53 binds to promoters containing TGCCT repeats, the so-called RGC sequence (Kern et al., 1991; Mahcswaran et al., 1995), present in the promoter of the muscle creatine kinase (MCK) gene (Weintraub et al., 1991; Zambetti et al., 1992). Analysis of multiple genomic p53 target sites has also led to a consensus binding site, defined as two copies of the motif 5'-PuPuPuC(A/T)(T/A)GPyPyPy-3' separated by 13 bp (El-Deiry et al., 1992; Sturzbecher and Deppert, 1994). The central region of p53 (comprising amino acid residues from 102 to 292) contains the DNA-binding (core) domain (Pavletich and Pabo, 1993; Prives, 1994) (Figure 1-1). It has a protease-resistant core and independently folded domain containing a  $Zn^{2+}$ ion that is required for its sequence-specific DNA-binding activity (Cho et al., 1994; Vogelstein and Kinzler, 1994; Prives, 1994). More than 90% of the missense mutations in p53 reside in this core domain, and fall into two classes. The mutations in amino acid residues such as R248 and R273, the two most frequently altered residues in the protein, result in defective contacts with the DNA and loss of the ability of p53 to act as a transcription factor (Ko and Prives, 1996). A second class of p53 mutations disrupts the structural basis of the  $\beta$  sheet and the loop-sheet helix motif that acts as a scaffold in the domain (Hupp et al., 1992; Cho et al., 1994; Prives, 1994; Levine, 1997). Interestingly, the carboxy-terminal domain of p53 recognizes certain types of damaged DNA including short single strands which also activate the sequence-specific DNA binding function of p53 (Lee et al., 1995; Jayaraman et al., 1995).



#### Figure 1-1

#### Structural organization of the p53 protein.

Hatched boxes I to V represent evolutionarily conserved regions. Indicated above are the positions of defined phophorylation sites by DNA-PK, cyclin-dependent kinases (CDKs), CKI, CKII, and PKC. Some of the proteins which interact with particular regions of p53 are shown at the bottom (see Table 1-1 for further details). 2) Transcriptional suppression / transcriptional activation of specific target genes.

The first 42 amino acids at the amino-terminus constitute a transcriptional activation domain that interacts with the basal transcriptional machinery and positively regulates gene expression (Fields and Jang, 1990; Lin *et al.*, 1995). This region makes contacts the TATA-associated factors TAFII70 and TAFII31 (Lu and Levine, 1995), TAFII40 and TAFII60 (Thut *et al.*, 1995), which are subunits of TFIID, and also the TATA-binding protein, TBP (Chen *et al.*, 1993; Lin *et al.*, 1994). These interactions are thought to contribute to the ability of p53 to repress general transcription in the absence of a cognate recognition site.

Various downstream target genes of p53 have been identified. A summary of them is given in Table 1-1. As mentioned previously, the *p53* gene is induced in response to DNA damage or under conditions unfavourable for DNA synthesis, under certain circumstances this will result in a halt in the cell cycle which allows the cell to repair its DNA or to await for more favourable conditions (El-Deiry *et al.*, 1993; Harper *et al.*, 1993; Dulic *et al.*, 1994; Waldman *et al.*, 1995; Chen *et al.*, 1996). The main player in the cell cycle arrest is the cyclin dependent kinases (CDKs) inhibitor p21Wafl/Cip1. Upregulation of p21Wafl/Cip1 expression by p53 in response to radiation can inhibit cyclin-dependent kinase activities (Dulic *et al.*, 1994). As result of this inhibition, hypophosphorylated pRb accumulates (Sherr, 1993; Pines, 1995; Weinberg, 1995), and a G1 arrest is induced by the consequent repression of E2F responsive genes (Koh *et al.*, 1995; Lukas *et al.*, 1995) (Figure 1-2). It is known that the phosphorylation of pRb is an important step for growth stimulation of quiescent cells (Nevins, 1992; Lam and La Thangue, 1994). Members of the CDK family are responsible for phosphorylating pRb (Figure 1-2).

p21<sup>Waf1/Cip1</sup> inhibits not only the G1-acting cyclinE-CDK2 complex but also G1/S-acting cyclinA-CDK2, cyclinA-cdc2 that acts in S and early G2, and it also showns inhibitory activity against cyclinD-CDK4/6 complex (Hinds *et al.*, 1992; Dowdy *et al.*, 1993; Ewen *et al.*, 1993; Cox and Lane, 1995; Sherr and



#### Figure 1-2

#### Model for activation of cell cycle arrest in G1 by p53.

p53 protein can transcriptionally induce p21 expression, which inhibits cyclin/CDK phosphorylation of pRb. Hypophosphorylated pRb sequesters the transcription factor E2F (complex E2F/DP), and thereby blocks progress through G1 by inhibiting expression of E2F-responsive genes (see Figure 1-5 for further details). Roberts, 1995). The two known pRb-related proteins p107 (Ewen *et al.*, 1991) and p130 (Hannon *et al.*, 1993; Li *et al.*, 1993) are also substrates of cyclin/CDK. Thus, p21<sup>WafI/Cip1</sup> inhibition of cyclinD1-CDK4 and cyclinE-CDK2 can affect the activities of p107 and p130, which regulate the other E2F family members E2F-4 and -5 (Beijersberger *et al.*, 1994; Ginsberg *et al.*, 1994; La Thangue, 1994). The repressive hypophosphorylated form of pRb is targeted by DNA viral oncoproteins such as adenovirus E1A, simian virus 40 large T antigen, and human papillomavirus E7, which bind directly to and inactivate pRb (La Thangue and Rigby, 1987; Nevins, 1992; Tommasino and Crawford, 1995; Levine, 1997). In that way, the DNA tumour viruses stimulate quiescent cells to undergo DNA replication, thereby providing an environment permissive for viral replication.

53

• • •

ų,

4

计正式的 建化合体 人名英格兰人

Interestingly,  $p21^{WafI/Cip1}$  also binds to PCNA (proliferating cell nuclear antigen) (Waga *et al.*, 1994; Gulbis *et al.*, 1996) and these complexes block the role of PCNA as a DNA polymerase processivity factor in DNA replication, but not its role in DNA repair (Figure 1-3). Thus,  $p21^{WafI/Cip1}$  can act on cyclin-CDK complexes and PCNA to stop DNA replication.

Mice deficient in the *Waf1/Cip1* gene (*Waf1/Cip1-/-*) develop normally, and mouse embryo fibroblasts derived from these mice are partially deficient in their ability to arrest cells in G1 in response to DNA damage (Deng *et al.*, 1995).

By contrast, the removal of both Wafl/Cip1 alleles from a cancerous cell line in culture that contained a wild-type p53 allele completely eliminated the DNA damage-induced G1 arrest in these cells, indicating that  $p21^{Wafl/Cip1}$  is sufficient to enforce a G1 arrest in this situation (Polyak *et al.*, 1996; Levine, 1997).

*mdm2* is a protooncogene, amplified in various tumours, which possesses two p53 response elements in its first intron and can be transcriptionally induced by p53 (Momand *et al.*, 1992; Juven *et al.*, 1993). The MDM2 protein directly interacts with p53 (in amino acid residues 18 to 23) (Figure 1-1), and thereby abolishing p53's transcritpional activity (Momand *et al.*, 1992; Lin *et al.*, 1994; Thut *et al.*, 1997).



#### Figure 1-3

#### p53-dependent pathways for cell cycle arrest and apoptosis.

(Data in this figure are compiled together with data from Cox and Lane (1995), Hall *et al.* (1996), Ko and Prives (1996), Hansen and Oren (1997), and Levine (1997)) This interaction participates in a negative feedback loop in which both the activity of p53 and the expression of MDM2 are regulated in the cells (Chen *et al.*, 1994) (Figure 1-3). In addition, MDM2 regulates the stability of p53 protein, possibly through a mechanism that involves export from the nucleus and thereafter ubiquitin-dependent degradation of p53 (Haupt *et al.*, 1997; Kubbutat *et al.*, 1997; Roth *et al.*, 1998). Although induced by UV light in a p53-dependent manner, the time of *mdm2* induction actually correlates with the recovery of cellular DNA synthesis (Perry *et al.*, 1993). Thus MDM2 may be involved in cell recovery after damage, rather than repair. The over-expression of MDM2 in tumours reduces the p53-dependent G1 arrest (Chen *et al.*, 1994; Cox and Lane 1995). Moreover, the interaction between p53 and MDM2 is influenced by phosphorylation of the p53 activation domain which has been suggested to be mediated by kinases induced by genotoxic stress (Shieh *et al.*, 1997), thus enabling the negative growth regulating effects of p53 in response, for example, to irradiation to be overcome.

a strategical a standard a standard

 $\sim 24$ 

In addition, gadd45 also contains a p53 binding site in its intron 3 and is induced by DNA damaging a p53-dependent manner (Kastan *et al.*, 1992). Although the function of GADD45 in the cell cycle is not completely clear, recent evidence suggests that it can directly interact with the replication and repair factor PCNA and to inhibit the entry of cells into S phase (Smith *et al.*, 1994; Kastan *et al.*, 1992). The over-expression of the product of the gadd45 gene in some cell types promotes G1 arrest (Figure 1-3). Perhaps, it is possible that GADD45 plays the backup role for p21<sup>Waf1/Cip1</sup>.

#### 1-1.2. p53 is not the only determinant of the cell cycle checkpoints.

Cells could be arrested by p53-independent mechanisms, as has been suggested by different lines of evidence (Strasser *et al.*, 1994). Apoptosis in proliferating  $p53^{-/-}$  T lymphoma cells is accompanied by cell cycle arrest.
Dexamethasone-treated cells accumulated only in G1, but irradiated cells accumulated in G2, as anticipated from studies on  $p53^{-/-}$  fibroblasts (Kastan *et al.*, 1992). It seems likely therefore that p53 is not the only determinant of the cell cycle checkpoint triggered by DNA damage. Furthermore, it has been found that  $p21^{Waff/Cip1}$  expression during development and in the adult mouse can induced by DNA-damaging agents through p53-independent mechanism and that the gene can be induced by serum or upon differentiation in the absence of p53 function (Macleod *et al.*, 1995). So, it is possible that the p53-independent G1 arrest might be mediated by  $p21^{Waff/Cip1}$ , or by other cyclin-CDKs inhibitors such as  $p16^{INK4a}$  or  $p27^{Kip1}$  (Serrano *et al.*, 1993; Sherr and Roberts, 1995; Kamb, 1995).

1

5

# 1-1.3. Apoptosis induced by p53.

The question of whether transcriptional activation is important for p53dependent apoptosis has been addressed in a number of elegant studies (Lowe *et al.*, 1994; Symonds *et al.*, 1994; Bates and Vousden, 1996; Ko and Prives, 1996; Hansen and Oren, 1997; Levine, 1997). Two of the genes that are regulated by p53 may influence the decision to commit to an apoptotic pathway : *bax* and *IGF-BP3* (insulin-like growth factor-binding protein 3) (Miyashita and Reed, 1995; Buckbinder *et al.*, 1995).

The Bax gene has been implicated as a direct target for p53 (Miyashita and Reed, 1995), and the over-expression of Bax can efficiently induce apoptosis (Ludwig *et al.*, 1996) (Figure 1-3 and Table 1-1). Furthermore, it has been reported that Bax binds to Bcl-2 and antigonizes its ability to block apoptosis, so p53-dependent synthesis of Bax has been suggested to be a stimulus for cell death (Oltavi *et al.*, 1993; Miyashita and Reed, 1995). The over-expression of anti-apoptotic proteins, Bcl-2 or the adenovirus E1B 19kDa protein, abrogates p53-mediated apoptosis without impairing p53-mediated G1 arrest and prevents the

apoptosis seen with deregulated c-Myc (Fanidi *et al.*, 1992; Debbas and White, 1993; Chiou *et al.*, 1994; Wagner *et al.*, 1994; Han *et al.*, 1996; Ko and Prives, 1996). The balance of Bel-2 to Bax may therefore be a critical factor in determining proliferation or apoptosis. At high levels, Bel-2 protein may compete for the p53-induced Bax to protect cells from p53-induced apoptosis. Induction of Bax in response to irradiation (IR) appears to correlate with p53 status in human cells and  $p53^{-4-}$  mice exhibit increase levels of Bel-2 and decreases in Bax protein levels in several cells and tissues (Ko and Prives, 1996). Moreover, tumour growth is accelerated and apoptosis drops dramatically in *bax*-deficient mice, indicating that it is probably required for a full p53-mediated response (Yin *et al.*, 1997).

and the second strate of the second second

. .

¥,

art towned

御殿 いい た

The *IGF-BP3* also has been identified as a p53 responsive gene induced in cells after DNA damage (Figure 1-3 and Table 1-1). IGF-BP3 inhibits the insulinlike growth factor (IGF) mitotic signalling by binding to IGF and preventing its interaction with its receptor (Buckbinder *et al.*, 1995). IGF has been shown to function as an efficient survival factor, protecting cells from p53-dependent, mycinduced apoptosis (Harrington *et al.*, 1994). Thus, it is possible that the effect of activation of IGF-BP3 by p53 is to abrogate survival signals, rather than growth signals, to make the cell more sensitive to other apoptotic functions of p53.

A lot of evidence supports a correlation between apoptosis and transcriptional activity by p53. Tumour-derived mutant alleles of p53 (with the mutation Ala143, His175, or Trp248) encode proteins that fail to induce apoptosis in transiently transfected H1299 cells (Friedlander *et al.*, 1996). In addition BRK cell lines transformed by E1A and expressing a temperature-sensitive p53 Val135 mutant undergo apoptosis after shift to 32°C (the permissive temperature to form the wild-type conformation of p53), whereas cells expressing a transcriptionally defective p53 Gln22, Ser23 (p53<sup>22/23</sup>) were dramatically impaired for the ability to mediated E1A-induced apoptosis in the same conditions (Sabbatini *et al.*, 1995). Moreover, experiments in transgenic mice expressing a p53 mutant harboring only the carboxy-terminal domain p53 (amino acid residues 302 to 390) results in mice

developing aggressive brain tumours by the inactivation of endogenous p53 (Bowman *et al.*, 1996). Thymocytes from transgenic mice expressing a T antigen capable of binding to p53 have also been shown to be resistant to radiation-induced apoptosis (McCarthy *et al.*, 1994).

à

÷ 9

and the set of the set

-3 4

4780 U.S.

#### 1-1.4. p53 induction is not necessary for apoptosis in some circumstances.

It has been found that p53 induction is not the only trigger for cell death following DNA damage. Thymocytes, cells which enter apoptosis in response to DNA damage through a p53-dependent pathway, also undergo p53-independent cell death during the normal process of lymphoid development (Clarke et al., 1993; Lowe *et al.*, 1993), providing evidence that p53 is not the sole contribution to apoptosis. Cells from T lymphomas derived from  $p53^{-1}$  mice are killed rapidly and efficiently by irradiation and DNA-damaging agents (Strasser et al., 1994). Furthermore, it was shown that apoptosis is p53-dependent in the central nervous system but p53-independent in the peripheral nervous system (Macleod et al., 1996). Experiments using human B cell lines treated with cisplatin resulted in DNA damage that induced apoptosis, during the G1/S boundary of cell cycle, when p53 is transcriptionally active, and G2/M phase, when p53 is transcriptionally inactive (Allday et al., 1995), suggesting the existence of another cell cycle checkpoint at G2/M phase. More clearly, the mutant p53 Gln22, Ser23 (p53<sup>22/23</sup>), which abrogates the transcriptional activating function of p53, triggered apoptosis in HeLa cells (Haupt et al., 1995b), and p53 dl214, which contains only the first 214 amino acid residues of murine p53, can induce apoptosis, despite lacking the major portion of the DNA-binding domain (Haupt et al., 1995b). Interestingly, the overexpression of MDM2 failed to abolish p53-mediated apoptosis in HeLa cells, despite a complete abrogation of its trans activation ability, while MDM2 dramatically inhibited p53-mediated apoptosis in H1299 cells (Haupt et al., 1996). Thus, taken together it appears that the transcriptional activity of p53 is not necessary for the induction of apoptosis in all cells. Nevertheless, this does not exclude the possibility that several pathways co-operate to induce cell death. The evidence suggests that different p53 functions, both transcriptionally-dependent and -independent, play a role in activating these pathways.

2

1.1.1

j,

# 1-1.5. Cell cycle arrest and apoptosis by p53 may be differentially regulated functions.

Numerous studies have shown that growth arrest and apoptosis are independent functions of p53. Murine hematopoletic cell lines undergo G1 arrest in response to irradiation in the presence of survival factors or growth factors, but when they are absent, p53-dependent apoptosis ensues (Gottlieb et al., 1994; Canman et al., 1995). Uncoupling growth arrest and apoptosis has also been demonstrated through the use of several mutants forms of p53 (Haupt et al., 1995b; Rowan et al., 1996; Friedlander et al., 1996). In particular, p53 175P, a mutant which was originally isolated from a human papilloma virus type 16 (HPV 16) positive metastasis of a cervical carcinoma, can induce a cell cycle arrest in some cell lines but shows loss of apoptotic function (Rowan et al., 1996; Ludwig et al., 1996), indicating that the loss of p53 apoptotic function without concomitant loss of growth arrest can suffice to relieve p53 dependent tumour suppression and thereby contribute to tumour development. Furthermore, Bel-2 has been shown to prevent p53-mediated apoptosis without impairing p53-mediated growth arrest (Chiou et al., 1994; Debbas and White, 1994). In addition, it also has been documented that the activation of p53 Val135 in rat REF52 cells caused the growth arrest at G2/M phase, without inducing apoptosis (Stewart et al., 1995), further highlighting the complexity of p53 functions in different cell types and tissues (Zhan et al., 1994; Allday et al., 1995).

36

Various studies suggest that apoptosis often occurs as a default mechanism when cells fail cell cycle checkpoints in the presence of p53 function. Whereas loss of pRb function and over-expression of E2F are known to disrupt the G1 arrest and favour apoptosis (Wu and Levine, 1994; Qin *et al.*, 1994; Shan *et al.*, 1996; Macleod *et al.*, 1996; Lee at al., 1998), a similar effect has also been shown for p21<sup>Waf1/Cip1</sup> deficiency (Macleod *et al.*, 1995; Chen *et al.*, 1996; Donatella *et al.*, 1996; Polyak *et al.*, 1996). In particular, experiments on fibroblasts from  $Waf1/Cip1^{-/-}$  mice have shown them to be defective in G1 arrest in response to DNA damage (Deng *et al.*, 1995). However, thymocytes from the same mice showed no defect in response to DNA damage-induced apoptosis, in marked contrast to  $p53^{-/-}$  thymocytes. Recently, hybrid assay studies using p53 expressing cancer cell lines, which yielded growth arrest in some lines or apoptosis in others suggest, however, that some cells can experience a dominant apoptotic signal which renders them refractory to rescue by growth-inhibitory proteins (Polyak *et al.*, 1996).

and a second as a second as a second of the second

# 1-1.6. Accumulation or modulation of p53.

In normal circumstances, the p53 protein remains in a latent state but, following genotoxic, irradiation with either ionizing radiation or UV light, cytokines, hypoxia, metabolic changes, or other forms of stress (Figure 1-3), post-transcriptional mechanisms result in an accumulation of p53 and/or increased half-life, and thereafter cell cycle arrest or apoptosis, effects that contribute to the suppression of malignant disease (Ko and Prives, 1996).

In addition to increasing p53 protein levels, cells may respond to DNA damage by modulating the function of the protein, at least in part by phosphorylation as p53 is multiply phosphorylated at serines and threonines within its amino- and carboxy-terminal regions *in vivo* and *in vitro* (Cox and Lane, 1995; Hall *et al.*, 1996; Ko and Prives, 1996).

The following protein kinases have been shown to phosphorylates p53; CDKs, casein kinase I and II (CKI and CKII), double-stranded DNA-activated protein kinase (DNA-PK), and protein kinase C (PKC) (Hall et al., 1996; Ko and Prives, 1996) (Figure 1-1). For example, recently it was shown that phosphorylation of human p53 at serine 15 (by DNA-PK) occurs after DNA damage and that this leads to reduced interaction of p53 with its negative regulator, MDM2 (Shieh et al., 1997). In contrast with E2F, phosphorylation dramatically stimulates the binding of p53 to its target sites in the Waf1/Cip1 and gadd45 genes (Waug and Prives, 1995). Phosphorylation thus induces a conformational change, conferring sequence selectivity on a relatively nonspecific DNA-binding protein (Hupp et al., 1992; Wang and Prives, 1995; Ko and Prives, 1996). The transcriptional potential of E2F and p53 can thus be modified by cell cycle specific cyclin/CDK combinations. Furthermore, p53 function can be activated by some cellular proteins, such as c-Abl tyrosine kinase (Yuan et al., 1996; Liu et al., 1996). Ionizing radiation stimulates the phosphorylation of DNA-PK by c-Abl inhibiting the ability of DNA-PK to form a complex with DNA (Kharbanda et al., 1997), and c-Abl binds to p53 and enhances its transcriptional activity (Goga et al., 1995). Moreover, the stabilization of p53 has been observed with the expression of either adenovirus E1A or E7 protein of oncogenic forms of HPV, both which bind pRb but not p53 (Lowe and Ruley, 1993; Demers et al., 1994). Also, the cellular product of the Wilms' tumour gene, WT1, another tumour suppressor, also stabilizes p53 (Maheswaran et al., 1995).

# **1-2.** The E2F pathway

A variety of data suggest that the ability to activate a G1 cell cycle checkpoint in transformed cells is more important than the ability to influence the expression of apoptosis mediators. Therefore, it seems more likely that p53-mediated growth arrest and apoptosis are tightly inter-related at the cellular level. In particular, members of the E2F/DP transcription factor family and of the pRb family appear to play an important role in the decision as to whether a cell will respond to wild-type p53 activation by executing a viable G1 arrest or undergoing apoptosis.

いい かんてい

# 1-2.1. Cell cycle progression is coupled to the regulation of E2F.

Studies on the mechanisms of how the cell cycle is co-ordinated have provided important information on how physiological processes influence proliferation. The transcription factor E2F is believed to play a crucial role in the growth-promoting and growth-arresting processes (Nevins, 1992; Girling *et al.*, 1993; Bandara *et al.*, 1993; La Thangue, 1994; Muller, 1995; Buck *et al.*, 1995) (Figure 1-4). E2F is a heterodimeric factor which results from the interaction of two families of proteins: E2F (1 to 5) and DP (1 to 3), where each E2F protein requires a DP protein as an obligate heterodimeric partner, heterodimerization producing a significant increase in DNA binding activity (Girling *et al.*, 1993; Bandara *et al.*, 1993).



#### Figure 1-4.

#### Sequence comparison of E2F and DP proteins.

Shaded regions or hatched boxes correspond to sequences conserved in E2F family or DP family, respectively. Note that E2F-1, -2, and -3 preferentially bind to pRb, and E2F-4 and -5 to p107 and p130. E2F-1, -2, and -3 include a cyclin A binding site. 'A' and 'B' are both areas of sequence similarity which as yet have no clear function. DP proteins also contain a region of homology to E2F-1 to -5. 'C' and 'D' are regions of sequence similarity in all DP proteins. The heterodimerization domain of E2Fs and DPs is located in DNA binding.

Many of the genes which are believed to play an important role in regulating early cell cycle progression contain binding sites, <u>TTTCGCGC</u>, for the E2F transcription factor in their transcriptional control sequences. Among these are the proto-oncogenes *c-myc*, *N-myc* and *B-myb*, genes encoding enzymes required for DNA synthesis such as DHFR, thymidine kinase, thymidylate synthase and DNA polymerase  $\alpha$ , and genes encoding cell cycle regulators such as cdc-2, cyclinA, E and D1 (La Thanguc, 1994; Adams and Kaclin, 1995; Muller, 1995) (Figure 1-5). By deletion or mutation of E2F sites in many of these promoters, it has been demonstrated that E2F sites are important for the correct temporal expression pattern of the target gene. However, given the different times at which these target genes are expressed, it is clear that distinct mechanisms must be responsible for the timing of their activation (Figure 1-5). One of these mechanisms may be based on the fact that five E2F and three DP subunits heterodimerize in various combinations to form functionally active DNA-binding complexes (Bandara *et al.*, 1993; La Thangue, 1994; Muller, 1995; de la Luna *et al.*, 1996; Allen *et al.*, 1997). tie die see die die streek van die streek van die die die streek waarde die streek die streek die die streek die

1

They want in

्रिक स्वत्याद्रां स्वतिष्ठित प्रक्रांत्रे व व्यक्तिय का विविध व्यक्ति स्वत्ये हे विविध व्यक्त

18. 18 Sec.

The potential role of E2F and DP proteins in cell cycle control is underscored by the properties of the proteins which are known to influence the transcriptional activity of E2F (Figure 1-6). For example, a group of proteins which negatively regulate the cell cycle, including the retinoblastoma tumour suppressor protein (pRb) and its relatives p107 and p130 bind to and inactivate the transcriptional activity of E2F (Bandara and La Thangue, 1991; Chellappan *et al.*, 1991; Zamanian and La Thangue, 1992; Nevins, 1992; Schwarz *et al.*, 1993; Cobrinik *et al.*, 1993) (Figure 1-4).

It has been known that several viral oncoproteins, such as the adenovirus E1A protein, SV40 large T antigen and the E7 proteins of certain human papilloma viruses, bind to the pocket which mediates binding to the E2F binding region in pRb, relieving the transcriptional inactivation and subsequently releasing the E2F transcriptionally active form (La Thangue and Rigby, 1987; Bandara and La Thangue, 1991; Nevins, 1992; Lam and La Thangue, 1994; Vousden, 1995;



# Figure 1-5

# Genes regulated by E2F.

(Data in this figure was obtained from Hartwell and Kastan (1994), La

Thangue (1994), and Muller (1995))

Mymryk, 1996). Thus, the DNA tumour viruses deregulate E2F activity so as to stimulate quiescent cells to undergo DNA replication.

Another group of these regulators which control cell cycle progression are the cyclins and CDKs which affect both basal and activated transcription (Bandara *et al.*, 1991; Sherr, 1993; Pines, 1995; Dynlacht, 1997). As described previously, cyclin/CDKs complexes are believed not only to influence the activity of the pocket proteins but also to form complexes directly at least with the E2F-1, -2, and -3 subfamily members. This results in the phosphorylation of the DP subunit (Dynlacht *et al.*, 1994; Krek *et al.*, 1994 and 1995) and a subsequently inactivation of E2F/DP function which allows exit from S phase.

Ectopic expression of E2F-1 results in the expression of genes necessary for DNA synthesis and progression into S phase as described (Figure 1-5) (Kowalik *et al.*, 1995; Almasan *et al.*, 1995). Further evidence that E2F promotes entry into S phase derives from studies with *Drosophila melanogaster* lacking E2F-1 function in which cells are arrested in the G1 phase of the cell cycle after the seventeenth embryonic division (Duronio *et al.*, 1995).

# 1-2.2. E2F and DP family possess proto-oncogenic activity.

Considerable evidence suggests that E2F-1 can be oncogenic. E2F-1 transformed rat embryo fibroblast (REF) cells display anchorage-independent growth and form colonies in agarose, and injection of the transformed REF-E2F-1 cells into nude mice cause tumours (Singh *et al.*, 1994). In addition, in conjuction with an activated *ras* oncogene, and an E2F-1 chimeric protein, in which pRb binding region replaced with VP16 activation domain, exhibits increased transformation activity (Johnson *et al.*, 1994), suggesting that regulation of E2F activity by pRb may be critical in maintaing normal cellular growth control. Furthermore, DP-1 or DP-2 can co-operate with activated Ha-*ras* in the

transformation of rat embryo fibroblasts, and this oncogenic activity is unlikely to be due to the regulation of E2F site transcription, suggesting an E2F-independent effector function for DP (Jooss *et al.*, 1995). More recently, it has been shown that Ras and Myc can co-operate in inducing accumulation of E2F and resulting in cell cycle progression (Leone *et al.*, 1997). The inhibition of Ras activity blocks the normal growth-dependent activation of G1 CDK, and prevents activation of the target genes of E2F. However, although expression of Ras gene alone is not sufficient to induce S phase, co-expression of Ras with Myc allows the generation of cyclinE-dependent kinase activity and the induction of S phase (Leone *et al.*, 1997), demonstrating a functional relationship between Ras/Myc and E2F-1 in oncogenic transformation. and the second secon

the second second to the second s

、管理を変なるがたちないというなき、いいたちなどのないたが、人間を注意したたちます、容濃

## 1-2.3. E2F-1, a possible link between the loss of pRb and the activation of p53.

Apart from the role of E2F-1 in stimulating proliferation, over-expression of E2F-1 in some tissue culture cells can induce apoptosis that is p53-dependent (Wu and Levine, 1994; Qin *et al.*, 1994; Kowalik *et al.*, 1995; Almansan *et al.*, 1995; Shan *et al.*, 1996). The E2F-1/DP-1-induced cell death correlates with an accumulation of the p53 protein, suggesting that E2F may activate p53 to induce death (Almansan *et al.*, 1995; Kowalik *et al.*, 1995). Interestingly, an E2F-1 mutant that is defective in binding pRb but active in *trans* activation is a more potent activator of apoptosis (Shan *et al.*, 1996). The combined over-expression of E2F-1 and its heterodimeric DP-1 partner drives apoptosis in 32D cells even in the presence of survival factors such as IL-3 (Hiebert *et al.*, 1995; Almasan *et al.*, 1995). Moreover, E2F-1 mediated apoptosis is suppressed by co-expression of wild-type pRb or a dominant negative mutant of p53 (DeGregori *et al.*, 1997). In contrast, co-expression of a natural occuring pRb mutant or wild-type p53 did not suppress the induction of apoptosis (Qin *et al.*, 1994; Wu and Levine, 1994; DeGregori *et al.*,

1997). Therefore, the inhibition of E2F-1-dependent apoptosis may explain the antiapoptotic activity of pRb.

The co-operation between E2F-1 and p53 has lead to the suggestion that apoptosis may be mediated by a conflict of growth stimulatory signals activated by E2F-1 and the growth inhibitory functions of p53 (Qin *et al.*, 1994; Wu and Levine, 1994; Shan *et al.*, 1996; Lee *et al.*, 1998). In addition, in experiments using *Drosophila melanogaster* imaginal discs, ectopic E2F-1 expression induces S phase and apoptosis, suggesting that the down-regulation of E2F-1 upon entry into S phase may be necessary to prevent the induction of apoptosis (Asano *et al.*, 1996). Although p53 can augment E2F-1-induced apoptosis in several systems, recent studies have suggested that the pro-apoptotic effects of E2F-1 are not entirely dependent on p53 and pRb (Qin *et al.*, 1994; Hass-Kogan *et al.*, 1995; Asano *et al.*, 1996; Lee *et al.*, 1998). In particular, the introduction of E2F-1 in SAOS-2 cells cause a significant levels of apoptosis (Lee *et al.*, 1998). Thus, it may be possible that the E2F-1-mediated induction of apoptosis appears to result from the activation of a cell death pathway.

# 1-2.4. The physiological role of E2F-1.

Despite considerable progress in elucidating the multiple functions of E2F-1, it is uncertain whether the predominant function of E2F-1 is to promote entry into S phase, suppress G1 arrest, and/or regulate apoptosis.

 $E2F-1^{-/-}$  mice develop and reproduce normally, although they display a defect in thymocyte apoptosis indicating that E2F-1 may function to suppress cell proliferation (Field *et al.*, 1996). In addition,  $E2F-1^{-/-}$  mice develop a broad and unusual spectrum of tumours including reproductive tract sarcoma, lung adenocarcinoma, and lymphomas (Yamasaki *et al.*, 1996). Although over-expression of E2F-1 in tissue culture cells can stimulate cell proliferation and

oncogenic transformation, that loss of E2F-1 in mice results in tumourigenesis suggests that E2F-1 also functions as a tumour suppressor (Johnson *et al.*, 1994; Field *et al.*, 1996; Yamasaki *et al.*, 1996). However, under normal circumstances E2F-1 may have a dual role as a suppressor of cell proliferation in G0/G1 and an activator of proliferation in G1/S.

The fact that a deletion of E2F-1 leads to a decrease in apoptosis and enhanced proliferation suggests that *in vivo* the negative effects of E2F-1 on cell cycle progression may be more important than the positive effects. Nevertheless, the fact that E2F-1 is a member of a large family of related genes leaves open the possibility that E2F-1 also plays an important role in promoting S phase entry in many cell types but that in its absence this role is compensated for by other family members. - . . .

# 1-2.5. Cell cycle regulation of pRb and its relatives by phosphorylation.

The retinoblastoma protein (pRb) is a 110 kDa nuclear phosphoprotein that is inactivated in retinoblastomas and a variety of other tumour types (Lee *et al.*, 1987; Hu *et al.*, 1990). pRb has the ability to suppress cell proliferation, and this activity is controlled by its cell cycle dependent phosphorylation (Weinberg, 1992; Whyte, 1995; Wang, 1997). A variety of studies shown that pRb phosphorylation begins in late G1 and continues until M phase (Dowdy, 1993) (Figure 1-6). In G0 and early G1, pRb is maintained in a state of low phosphorylation. Late in G1, pRb becomes extensively phosphorylated on a number of serine and thereonine residues (Lees *et al.*, 1991). During mitosis, pRb is rapidly dephosphorylated by an anaphase-specific phosphatase (Ludlow *et al.*, 1993). It has also been suggested that the growth suppressing activity of pRb is mainly mediated by binding and inhibiting the transcription factor E2F (Chellappan *et al.*, 1991; La Thangue, 1994; Bandara *et al.*, 1994; Whyte, 1995).



#### Figure 1-6

# Cell cycle dependence of E2F containing complexes.

The diagram, which presents a summary of E2F control during the cell cycle, shows free E2F (transcriptionally active) accumulating towards the end of G1 to peak during S phase. The regulation of pRb, p107, and p130 to E2F are indicated.

The interaction of pRb with E2F-1 alone or DP-1 alone is weak, whereas interaction with the E2F-1/DP-1 beterodimer is highly stable (Bandara *et al.*, 1993; Helin *et al.*, 1993).

Interestingly, pRb and two of its homologs, p107 and p130, seem to interact with specific E2F proteins : pRb with E2F-1, -2, -3 / DP-1, -2, -3 ; p107 with E2F-4, -5 / DP-1, -2, -3; and p130 with E2F-4, -5 / DP-1, -2, -3 (La Thangue, 1994; Bandara et al., 1994; Muller, 1995; Allen et al., 1997) (Figure 1-4 and Table 1-2). This interaction forms a ternary complex that prevents E2F-mediated transcription by RNA polymerase II (Chellappan et al., 1991; Lam and La Thangue, 1994; Weintraub et al., 1995). The significance of the different interactions between pRb family and E2F family member is unclear. But, p130/E2F complexes are abundant in quiescent or differentiated cells but are less common in populations of cycling cells (Cobrinik et al., 1993; Smith et al., 1996) (Figure 1-6). Conversely, p107/E2F complexes are most readily detected in cycling cells, together with a cyclin/CDK containing complex during S-phase (Cobrinik et al., 1993; Ginsberg et al., 1994) (Figure 1-6). pRb/E2F complexes have been found in extracts of differentiated cells, quiescent cells, G1 phase cells, and possibly even in S-phase cells (Schwarz et al., 1993). Recently, it has been shown that pRb and p107/p130 provide different functions in E2F regulation by identifing target genes that are dependent on pRb family proteins for their normal expression in mouse knockout studies (Hurford et al., 1997).

The inhibition in E2F activity by pRb binding may be the result of (1) a block of the E2F *trans* activation domain, (2) a block in the interaction with the basal transcriptional machinery and (3) the decrease in histone acetylation promoted by the binding of pRb to histone deacetylase 1 (HDAC1) (Weintraub *et al.*, 1995; Chow and Dean, 1996; Luo *et al.*, 1998). The pRb and E2F family interaction is normally controlled during the cell cycle by altering the phosphorylated status of pRb: the hypophosphorylated forms bind E2F, whereas the hyperphosphorylated forms do not (La Thangue, 1994; Bandara *et al.*, 1994; Whyte, 1995) (Figure 1-2).

The phosphorylation of pRb family of proteins is carried out by cyclinA/CDK2, cyclinE/CDK2, or cyclinD/CDK4/6, thus co-ordinating transcription regulation and cell cycle control (Bandara *et al.*, 1991; Sherr and Roberts, 1995; White, 1995). Progression through the G1/S phase involves the activation of cyclinD/CDK4, cyclinD/CDK6, cyclinE/CDK2 and cyclinA/CDK2. CyclinD (D1, D2 and D3) complexed with CDK4 or 6 are involved in the phosphorylation of pRb during G1 and in response to mitotic agents which in turn accelerate progression through the G1 phase. CyclinE peaks at the G1/S transition indicating a role in entry into Sphase (Sherr and Roberts, 1995; Pines, 1995; Whyte, 1995). Thus, the different cyclin-CDK complexes may exert distinct effects on pRb family function. The activity of the CDKs is negatively regulated by CDK inhibitors such as p15<sup>I/NK4b</sup>, p16<sup>I/NK4a</sup>, p21<sup>Waf1/Cip1</sup>, and p27<sup>kip1</sup> (Serrano *et al.*, 1993; Harper *et al.*, 1993; Xiong *et al.*, 1993; Hannon and Beach, 1994; Sherr and Robert, 1995; and the second second

- 「ない」、「ないないない」、「ないないない」、「し、

AND IN THE SECOND

attes a colla

and the second field of the second second

p15<sup>*INK4b*</sup>, p16<sup>*INK4a*</sup>, p21<sup>*Waf1/Cip1*</sup>, and p27<sup>*kip1*</sup> (Serrano *et al.*, 1993; Harper *et al.*, 1993; Xiong *et al.*, 1993; Hannon and Beach, 1994; Sherr and Robert, 1995; Weinberg, 1995) (Figure 1-3). The genes encoding p15<sup>*INK4b*</sup> and p16<sup>*INK4a*</sup> are mutated in certain tumour cell lines, such as those derived from oesophageal, squamous cell carcinomas, glioblastomas, lung and bladder carcinomas (Schmidt *et al.*, 1994; Kamb *et al.*, 1994; Nobori *et al.*, 1994; Zhou *et al.*, 1994; Jen *et al.*, 1994). Mutant alleles in the p16<sup>*INK4a*</sup> gene fail to inhibit kinase activity and arrest growth and, furthermore, arrest by wild-type p16<sup>*INK4a*</sup> correlates with the expression of wild-type pRb (Serrano *et al.*, 1995; Lukas *et al.*, 1995; Koh *et al.*, 1995). Thus, the effect of these kinase inhibitors is likely to mediated by modulating the activity of pRb.

Numerous experiments have demonstrated a critical role for both Myc and Ras activities in allowing cell cycle progression (Alevizopoulos *et al.*, 1997; Leone *et al.*, 1997). Recently, it was shown that the inhibition of Ras activity blocks the normal growth dependent activation of CDK, prevents the activation of the target genes of E2F, and results in the cell cycle arrest in G1 (Alevizopoulos *et al.*, 1997; Leone *et al.*, 1997). Furthermore, co-expression of Ras and Myc induce the accumulation of active cyclin/CDKs and E2F, coincident with the loss of the

p27<sup>*kip1*</sup>, which allows the induction of S phase (Alevizopoulos *et al.*, 1997; Leone *et al.*, 1997). These results suggest that pRb is a crucial link between Ras / Myc and E2F pathway in tumourigenesis. Therefore, pRb represents an important intermediary between the cell cycle proteins and the transcriptional machinery that regulates growth progression.

## 1-2.6. Regulation of pocket proteins by cellular and viral oncoprotein.

pRb requires a domain termed the pocket domain from amino acid 395 to 876, in order to interact with many of its cellular binding proteins and exert growth suppression (Figure 1-7 and Table 1-2). Indeed, most of the retinoblastoma tumours involve mutation in this pocket region disrupting the ability of pRb to bind to proteins such as E2F (Hu et al., 1990; Bandara and La Thangue, 1991; Chellappan et al., 1991; Zamanian and La Thangue, 1992) (Figure 1-7). Further, viral oncoproteins such as SV40 large T antigen, adenovirus E1A, and HPV E7, proteins which contains the LXCXE motif involved in pRb binding (Whyte, 1995; Vousden, 1995; Wang, 1997), may transform cells in part by binding to this pocket, rendering pRb incapable of binding to E2Fs and promoting their growth progression (Bandara and La Thangue, 1991; Zamanian and La Thangue, 1992; Chellappan et al., 1992; Kaelin et al., 1992; Vousden, 1995). The role of hypophosphorylated pRb in the negative regulation of cell growth is supported by the observation that these viral oncoproteins preferentially bind to this form of pRb (Vousden, 1995; Whyte, 1995). Therefore, either the sequestration of pRb by viral oncoproteins or mutations in the pocket region can eliminate normal pRb function and contribute to the development of many different types of human cancers (Hu et al., 1990; Vousden, 1995).

Two pRb homologs, p107 and p130, also contain a pocket region that allows binding to the same cellular and viral oncoproteins, suggesting these relatives of pRb are involved in a similar mechanism of pRb function.



# Figure 1-7.

#### Functional domain in pRb.

The domain for growth suppression from amino acid residue 395 to 876 contains for viral oncoproteins, E2F, D-type cyclin, and histone deacetylase binding. NLS and c-Abl or MDM-2 binding region are within the C region. The binding of c-Jun involves in the B pocket as well as a carboxy-terminal domain. Amino acids, DEADG, are the consensus cleavage site for Ced-3/ICE proteases.

pRb	E2F-1, -2, -3 /	Repression of transcription via E2F binding sites
•	DP-1, -2, -3	
	ATF2	Increased transactivation by ATF2 dimers
	MyoD (myogenic HLH	Co-operate in the induction of myogenic differention
	transcription factor)	and cell cycle arrest
	c-Abl	Repression of tyrosine kinase activity and
		transcriptional activation; c-Abl induces cell cycle
		arrest
	Elf-l	T-cell specific transcription factor: Elf-1 regulates the
		activity of T-cell genes
	MDM-2	Inhibition of pRb growth regulatory function
	PU.1	Transcription factor
	UBF	Transcription factor (RNA polymerase I)
	BRG-1 (Brabma-	Disruption of nucleosome structure; co-operate in the
	related protein)	induction of cell cycle arrest
	Cyclins D1, D2, D3	Regulatory subunits for CDKs
	HDAC (histone	Deacetylating histones and disrupting nucleosome
	deacetylase)	structure
	c-Jun	Stimulates c-Jun transcriptional activity
p107	E2F-4, -57	Repression of transcription via E2P binding sites
	DP-1, -2, -3	
	с-Мус	Repression of transactivation by c-Myc; proto-
		oncogene
	Cyclins A, D1, D2,	Regulatory subunits for CDKs
	D3, E	
p130	E2F-4, -5 /	Repression of transcription via E2F binding sites
	DP-1, -2, -3	
	Cyclins A, D1, D2,	Regulatory subunits for CDKs
	D3, E	

Table 1-2 Cellular proteins interacting with pocket proteins.

Data in this table are obtained from Muller (1995), Whyte (1995), La Thangue (1997), Wang (1997), Luo et al. (1998), and Nead et al. (1998).

an ann a' fheir am ann aite an aite an an ·最大人的"山口"的"大大",这个时间的大学,就有自己,"这样的",我们不能。这些"这么是我说的",这个部分  $(x_{i}, A_{i}, A_{i}) \in \mathbb{R}$ 1.2 a nameda o a altar.

But, despite the ability of p107 and p130 to restrict cell cycle progression, neither p107 or p130 have been shown to act as tumour suppressor or be mutated in natural occuring tumours.

The pocket region of pRb contains at least three distinct protein binding sites, for the LXCXE motif, for E2F, and for c-Abl or MDM2 (Wang, 1997) (Figure 1-7 and Table 1-2). A domain in the carboxy-terminus of pRb (residues 768 to 928) binds to the ATP-binding lobe of the c-Abl tyrosine kinase, abrogating pRb-induced growth arrest. Phosphorylation of pRb at G1/S releases c-Abl, leading to the activation of this kinase (Welch and Wang, 1993 and 1995). The carboxy-terminal region of pRb (residues 792 to 928) also binds MDM2, resulting in the inhibition of pRb growth regulatory function (Xiao *et al.*, 1995). Interestingly, this carboxy-terminal region of pRb is required for the growth suppression function of pRb and for a stable interaction with E2F-1. Thus, MDM2 neutralizes the G1 arrest activity of two important tumour suppressor proteins p53 and pRb.

Many other proteins have been reported to bind pRb, included MyoD, ATF-2, Sp1, BRG1, and c-Myc (Wang, 1997) (Table 1-2). But, in most of these cases, the significance of pRb binding is not yet clear. However it has been demonstrated that pRb through its pocket region also interact with histone deacetylase (Luo *et al.*, 1998). Therefore, pRb may repress transcription of endogenous cell cycle genes containing E2F sites through recruitment of histone deacetylase, which deacetylates histones on the promoter, thereby promoting formation of nucleosomes that inhibit transcription (Luo *et al.*, 1998). Interestingly, it has been recently reported that the B pocket and carboxy-terminal domain of pRb directly interact with the leucine zipper region of c-Jun, and thus this interaction stimulates c-Jun transcriptional activity, providing evidence of a new role for pRb as a transcriptional activator (Nead *et al.*, 1998). But, this complexes are only observed in terminally differentiating keratinocytes and cells entering the G1 phase of cell cycle after release from serum starvation (Nead *et al.*, 1998). However, given the fact that many cellular transcription factors bind to the pRb pocket region, it may assemble into a number of different transcription complexes to regulate the growth control. Surprisingly, all natural pRb mutations in cell lines derived from retinoblastomas, osteosarcomas, small cell lung carcinoma, bladder carcinomas and prostate carcinomas are occurred in this pocket region (Hu *et al.*, 1990), suggesting that pRb pathway in tumour cells is deregulated through the pocket.

「「「「「「」」」」

4

### 1-2.7. The role of pRb in apoptosis and differentiation.

Even though the function of pRb is dispensable in tumour cells, in addition to suppressing growth, pRb also appears to inhibit apoptosis and facilitate differentiation. Mice carrying a targeted disruption of the *Rb* gene die between days 13.5 and 14.5 of gestation, exhibiting defects in fetal liver hematopoiesis as well as in lens and nervous system development with increased levels of apoptosis (Clarke *et al.*, 1992; Jacks *et al.*, 1992; Morgenbesser *et al.*, 1994). Similarly, in tissue culture cells inactivation of pRb through the E1A protein induces apoptosis (Debbas and White, 1993; Sabbatini *et al.*, 1995), and targeting the E7 protein to lens fiber cells promotes an apoptotic outcome (Pan and Griep, 1994). Subsequent inactivation of pS3, either by co-expression of the E6 protein (Pan and Griep, 1994) or targeted disruption of the *p53* gene (Morgenbesser *et al.*, 1994), overcomes the apoptosis evident in conditions of *Rb* loss.

Neuronal differentiation correlates with elevated levels of pRb in embryonal carcinoma cells (Slack *et al.*, 1993) and is impaired in  $Rb^{-/-}$  embryos (Lee *et al.*, 1994). These results underscore the delicate balance that pRb may help maintain between proliferation, apoptosis, and differentiation. Moreover, recent work has suggested that loss of *Rb* activates both p53-dependent and independent cell death pathways in the developing mouse nervous system (Macleod *et al.*, 1996). Other

interesting results have shown that the treatment of anti-neoplastic drugs caused the accumulation of p53 in the nuclei of both  $Rb^{+/+}$  and  $Rb^{-/-}$  mouse embryonic fibroblasts, and while p53 induction led to apoptosis in  $Rb^{+/-}$  cells,  $Rb^{+/-}$  and  $Rb^{+/+}$  cells underwent cell cycle arrest without apoptosis (Almason *et al.*, 1995).

It was shown that activated E2F-1 and p53 can act to induce apoptosis (Wu and Levine, 1994), and this may explain how mutations in Rb and p53 co-operate in the development of certain tumour types (Williams *et al.*, 1994; Macleod *et al.*, 1996). Death resulting from the loss of Rb can be blocked by the elimination of p53 (Weinberg, 1995). Therefore, the combined loss of Rb and p53 is highly tumourigenic in mice (Williams *et al.*, 1994). Interestingly, pRb contains a consensus Ced-3/ICE cleavage site at the carboxy-terminus (Wang, 1997) (Figure 1-7). Programmed cell death results from the activation of a family of cysteine proteases, as exemplified by the *C. elegans* Ced-3 and the mammalian ICE proteins (Martin and Green, 1995; White, 1996). Cleavage of pRb closely paralles death and could be blocked by Ced-3/ICE inhibitors (Bing and Don, 1996), suggesting that pRb is a target of the death-effector proteases and is cleaved during apoptosis.

# 1-3. Co-activator p300/CBP, an integrating signal with cell cycle regulatory transcription factors

The oncogenic products of DNA tumour viruses are involved in a variety of cellular processes including transcriptional activation and repression, growth control, cell differentiation, and transformation (Moran, 1993; Vousden, 1995).

Recently, it has become apparent that these activities are the result of interactions between viral oncoproteins and various cellular proteins involved in the control of cell growth and the regulation of transcription as described previously. Among these targets are p53, pRb and its relatives p107 and p130, all of which exhibit properties of negative regulators of cellular proliferation (Lam and La Thangue, 1994; Cobrinik *et al.*, 1996; Vousden, 1995). In addition, another targets of more recent interest is the p300/CBP family.

ŝ

1

The p300 protein and the related CBP, referred to below as p300/CBP, are highly homologous nuclear proteins that were originally identified by their ability to interact with adenovirus E1A and with the transcription factor CREB, respectively (Kwok *et al.*, 1994; Eckner *et al.*, 1994). Comparison of the p300 and CBP sequences indicates that they have 75% similarity and 63% identity across their entire length (Arany *et al.*, 1994). In addition to sequence-specific DNA binding factors and the RNA polymerase II transcriptional machinery, co-activators are involved in the process of transcriptional activation (Roeder, 1996; Ptashne and Gann, 1997). It is thought that some co-activators, but not all, facilitate transcriptional activation by promoting interactions between sequence-specific activators and the RNA polymerase II transcriptional machinery (Roeder, 1996; Ptashne and Gann, 1997). This function has been well characterized for the p300/CBP proteins.

# **1-3.1. p300/CBP** are transcriptional co-activators involved in growth control and signal transduction pathways.

Many studies have demonstrated that p300/CBP proteins act as transcriptional co-activators. The over-expression of p300 or CBP results in transcriptional activation by viral as well as cellular enhancers/promoters (Eckner *et al.*, 1994; Arany *et al.*, 1995; Lundblad *et al.*, 1995). Furthermore, p300/CBP

proteins can directly interact with a variety of viral and cellular proteins to physically bridge sequence specific binding factors and the basal transcription machinery, resulting in transcriptional activation (Shikama *et al.*, 1997) (Figures 1-8 and 1-9). In addition, a number of cellular enhancers and promoters found to be subject to E1A-mediated inactivation (Braun *et al.*, 1992; Hen *et al.*, 1985; Stein and Ziff, 1987), correlate well with the ability of the incumbent E1A protein to bind to p300/CBP (Stein *et al.*, 1990). Moreover, the transcriptional activation by p300/CBP can be abolished directly and specifically by E1A binding (Arany *et al.*, 1995; Yang *et al.*, 1996; Cook *et al.*, 1996). E1A mutants which lack the p300 binding site have lost the properties of E1A-driven cell cycle progression and its transforming potential (Moran, 1993). Thus, it makes good sense for a viral oncoproteins to possess such a mechanism since the suppression of differentiation favours the retention of cells in a proliferative state contributes to the oncogenic state (Figure 1-10).

17

Studies on another viral oncoprotein, simian virus 40 (SV 40) T antigen, demonstrated that the deletion of its amino-terminal domain impaired its transforming potential, albeit without affecting p53 and pRb binding (Manfredi and Prives, 1990; Marsilio *et al.*, 1990). Moreover, this T antigen mutant can restore the transforming activity lost by E1A mutants which have lost the ability to interact with p300 (Yacink and Moran, 1991). These studies implicated p300/CBP as a target for T antigen, and subsequent studies have found that T antigen can associate with a hypophosphorylated but ubiquitinated form of p300 (Avantaggiati *et al.*, 1996).

A variety of genes induced by cAMP share a conserved motif in their transcriptional control sequences, referred to as the cAMP-response element (CRE). The CRE binds the CRE-binding protein, CREB, which is directly phosphorylated by activated protein kinase A (Gonzalez and Montuniny, 1989). Phosphorylation at Ser 133 stimulates the transcriptional activity of CRE-dependent genes in part by enabling the kinase-inducible domain (KID) in CREB to interact with a co-activator

57



#### Figure 1-8

#### Schematic representation of p300/CBP.

The diagram represents p300/CBP together with recognized cysteine/histidine-rich domains, CH1, CH2 and CH3, and bromodomain. Note that the numbers indicate the amino acid residues in human p300. The region in p300/CBP required for binding to target proteins are indicated.

(Data in this figure are compiled together with data from Shikama *et al.* (1997) and Janknecht and Hunter (1996))



## Figure 1-9

### p300/CBP co-ordinate transcription with chromatin remodeling.

Transcription factors (TFs) recruit the co-activators p300/CBP, which are able to acetylate all histone components of the nucleosome. Thereby, altered chromatin integrity may facilitate the assembly of general transcription factors, such as TBP and TFIIB, which can associate with p300/CBP. In addition, TAF<sub>II</sub>250 also functions as a histone acetyltransferase. The histone deacetylase (HDAC1) continually deacetylates histones in chromatin, therefore, persistent activity of the co-activator/histone acetyltransferase is required to maintain gene activity. CBP (Chrivia *et al.*, 1993). Therefore, it is clear that p300/CBP are intimately involved in growth control, progression of cell cycle, and cell differentiation. These two co-activators make contact with, and connect the functions of many well-studied proteins such as c-Jun, c-Myb, c-Fos, CREB, MyoD, Stat 2, YY1, and nuclear hormone receptors (Shikama *et al.*, 1997) (Figure 1-8). Previous studies suggested that CBP can associate with c-Jun, specifically with the form of c-Jun phosphorylated by Jun N-terminal kinase (Arias *et al.*, 1994), and similarly with a carboxy-terminal region in the c-Fos transcription factor (Bannister and Kouzarides, 1995). Fos and Jun proteins heterodimerize to form a group of mitogen-regulated transcription factors known as AP-1. Because Fos and Jun proteins, by virtue of their role in mitogenesis, are implicated in proliferation control, it is somewhat surprising that E1A, which confers oncogenic properties on cells, counteracts the interaction between Fos and Jun with CBP (Arany *et al.*, 1995; Lundblad *et al.*, 1995). Ś

いたいです。

Æ.

The c-Myb proto-oncogene product also utilizes CBP as a co-activator, and again this interaction compromised by E1A (Oelgeschlager *et al.*, 1996; Dai *et al.*, 1996). Recent data found that p300/CBP not only stimulates the activity of c-Myb and C/EBP $\beta$  individually, but establishes synergy between them, presumably by simultaneously binding both transactivators (Mink *et al.*, 1997). Furthermore, C/EBP associates with other p300/CBP targets in addition to c-Myb, such as CREB/ATF family of transcription factors (Vallejo *et al.*, 1993), NF-*k*B (Stein *et al.*, 1993), and TBP (Nerlov and Ziff, 1995).

The basic helix-loop-helix protein MyoD also appears to interact with p300 through the region that is bound by E1A, and this interaction is critical for muscle and B cell differentiation (Eckner *et al.*, 1996; Puri *et al.*, 1997).

Signal transduction mediated by the JAK-STAT pathway involves p300/CBP (Bhattacharya *et al.*, 1996). Interferon  $\alpha$  (INF- $\alpha$ ) induces the transcription of a variety of genes required to produce antiviral effects, many of which require a transcription factor called ISGF 3/STAT 1 and STAT 2 (Darnell *et al.*, 1994). E1A

impedes transcriptional activation mediated by INF- $\alpha$  by inactivating p300/CBP, which binds through its amino-terminal region to STAT 2 (Bhattacharya *et al.*, 1996). Interestingly, it is known that interferons cause cell cycle arrest; thus the inactivation of ISGF 3 may contribute to the observed stimulation of DNA synthesis that correlates with the integrity of the amino-terminal region of E1A.

The E1A protein acts positively in combination with the transcription factor YY1 (Lee *et al.*, 1995). No direct interaction between E1A and YY1 has been reported, but rather p300 can bind to both proteins at the same time, resulting in a tripartite complex. Although YY1-binding sites are frequently present in transcriptional control regions, some sites function to repress transcription and, in these cases, p300 is believed to be responsible for the repressive activity that can be relieved by E1A (Lee *et al.*, 1995).

There is also a connection between p300/CBP and another class of sequencespecific transcription factors, namely the ligand-dependent nuclear receptors including the retinonic acid (RAR and RXR), oestrogen (ER), progesterone (PR), thyroid hormone (TR) and glucocorticoid (GR) receptors (Kamei et al., 1996; Chakravarti et al., 1996; Janknecht and Hunter, 1996). These nuclear receptors depend upon the p300/CBP for their ability to stimulate transcription (Kamei et al., 1996; Chakravarti et al., 1996). Several other co-activators have been implicated in the hormone-dependent activation of nuclear receptors which, interestingly, may interact with receptor bound to p300/CBP. For example, SRC-1 (steroid receptor co-activator 1) recognizes a carboxy-terminal p300/CBP region while nuclear receptors occupy the amino-terminal (Kamei et al., 1996) establishing the important idea that multiple interfaces within p300/CBP may be occupied stimultaneously by different factors. Consistent with this idea, co-expression of CBP with SRC-1 stimulates the activities of oestrogen and progesterone receptor in co-operative manner (Smith et al., 1996), raising the possibility that p300/CBP may function together with diverse co-activators in a common pathway of transcriptional activation.

# 1-3.2 The phosphorylation of p300/CBP by cell cycle dependent kinase.

10.0

p300/CBP phosphorylation levels change during the cell cycle, and during mitosis, hyperphosphorylation has been observed (Yacink and Moran, 1991). Another study showed that not only is p300 phosphorylated in a cell cycle dependent manner but is a substrate for cyclin dependent kinase *in vivo*, and is required for the induction of p53-independent *Waf1/Cip1* gene expression during cellular differentiation (Wang *et al.*, 1993). Interestingly, p300 mediates a biochemical and functional interaction between the Rel A subunit of NF-*k*B and cyclinE-CDK2, with the NF-*k*B-dependent gene expression being enhanced by expression of p300 in the presence of p21<sup>Waf1/Cip1</sup> (Perkins *et al.*, 1997). Thus, this result suggests that the interaction of NF-*k*B and cyclin dependent kinase through p300/CBP provides a mechanism for the co-ordination of transcriptional activation with cell cycle progression.

#### 1-3.3. p300/CBP as modulators of chromatin.

The DNA in the cell is organised into chomatin. The principle repeat element of chromatin is the nucleosome core, which consists of an octamer of histones, H2A, H2B, H3, and H4, supporting 1.65 turns of the DNA. Nucleosomes are potent repressors of transcription, presumably by physically interfering with the binding of transcription factors. A central question in cukaryotic transcription has been how transcription factors gain access to the DNA tightly "wrapped" or "wound up" in chromatin. Targeted histone acetylation (HAT) is thought to neutralize the positive charge of the histone tails and affect internucleosomal geometry by relaxing the interaction between histones and negatively charged DNA. Thus, the acetylation of histones is involved in the destabilization and restructuring of nucleosomes, which is probably a crucial event in the control of accessibility of DNA templates to transcription factors (Wade *et al.*, 1997; Shikama *et al.*, 1997) (Figure 1-9).

However, only a few proteins with HAT activity have been found to date; p300/CBP comprise two of the seven known human HAT's (Ogryzko *et al.*, 1996; Bannister and Kouzarides, 1996) (Figure 1-9). Interestingly, p300/CBP proteins are also the only HAT capable of acetylating all four core histones *in vitro*. In addition to their own intrinsic HAT activity, p300/CBP may also indirectly influence chromatin remodeling by its ability to recruit additional co-activators containing HAT activity. Three of the other HAT's, the P/CAF (p300/CBP-associated factor), SRC-1 (steroid receptor co-actovator-1), and ACTR co-factors, bind to each other as well as with p300/CBP (Yang *et al.*, 1996; Jenster *et al.*, 1997; Chen *et al.*, 1997; Spencer *et al.*, 1997) (Figure 1-9). One possible scenario is that transcription factors need to recruit multiple HATs in order to overcome the repressive effects of deacetylation on promoter activity.

Furthermore, recent research into the enzymatic activities of p300/CBP, P/CAF, and TAFII250 show that they are all able to directly acetylate the basal transcription machinery components TFIIE $\beta$  and TFIIF (Imhof *et al.*, 1997) (Figure 1-9), but the physiological significance of these acetylation events are unclear yet. These results suggest that our current understanding of the molecular mechanisms underlying transcriptional regulation underrate the role of co-factors such as p300/CBP.

#### 1-3.4. p300/CBP in cancer and other human diseases.

The autosomal dominant Rubinstein-Taybi Syndrome (RTS) is associated with the mutation of one *CBP* allele, and exhibits a complex phenotype typically including mental retardation, physical abnormalities and increased incidence of neoplasia (Petrij *et al.*, 1995) (Figure 1-10).



#### Figure 1-10

## Schematic diagram of p300/CBP functions.

Mutations of the *p300/CBP* genes or inactivation of p300/CBP by viral oncoproteins results in a variety of diseases and malignancies. Whereas p300/CBP plays a positive role in differentiation, it may also be involved in negative regulation of cellular growth such as growth arrest and apoptosis.

In addition, bi-allelic inactivating somatic mutations of the p300 gene have been observed in gastric and colon cancers (Muraoka *et al.*, 1996) (Figure 1-10). Furthermore, the loss of heterozygosity (LOH) of informative markers at chromosome band 22q13, which corresponds with the p300 locus (Eckner *et al.*, 1994), has been observed in 80% of informative glioblastomas. Loss of p300/CBPmight therefore allow uncontrolled cell growth. Likewise, LOH around the *CBP* locus has been observed in hepatocellular carcinomas (Sakai *et al.*, 1992) (Figure 1-10). As opposed to the germline chromosomal rearrangement reported in RTS patients, the *CBP* and p300 genes are also involved in somatic translocations associated with various types of hematological malignancies (Giles *et al.*, 1995; Ida *et al.*, 1997). The fact that p300/CBP is prone to translocations, inversions, and deletions suggests the presence of elements confering genomic instability. Therefore, how altered p300/CBP function, resulting from a chromosomal rearrangement, could result in uncontrolled cell growth in myelomonocytic cell lineages can be partly explained by studying at p300/CBP targets.

# 1-4. Objectives

Little is known about the function of the tumour suppressor p53 in the control of normal cell cycle progression. The balance between the activities of E2F and tumour suppressors such as pRb and p53 is crucial to ensure the normal progression of the cell cycle. In cells, the transcriptional activity of p53 and E2F are believed to be regulated mainly at the protein level. However, other cellular factors might also regulate the transcriptional avtivity of p53 and E2F.

ACCEL STATES

and the state of the

「「おおいい」の

and the second second

Recent studies have shown that the over-expression of E2F-1 can induce apoptosis in co-operation with p53, as described previously. In addition, studies on the physiological outcomes of deregulating the E2F pathway suggest that the unscheduled cell cycle progression induced by E2F-1 itself leads to apoptosis. Therefore, an important aim of this study is to understand the mechanisms through which E2F-1 induces apoptosis.

Different transcription factors activated by diverse signalling pathways may interfere with one another by competing for a limiting common factor, namely p300/CBP. This regulatory mechanism may more often than anticipated, provide an important level of control in transcription. Furthermore, it is also possible that competition for p300/CBP may allow cross-talk between different cell cycle control pathways. Another aspect of this research investigated the role of p300 in p53 and E2F dependent transcriptional activation. It was found that both E2F and p53 utilise p300 as a transcriptional co-activator. Furthermore, the interaction of p300 with either p53 or E2F-1 had a profound impact on early cell cycle progression, possibly through the activation domains of p53 and E2F-1 competing for p300.

Finally, a question of considerable importance relates to the mechanistic and physiological role of p300/CBP in regulating the p53 response. In this respect, I have studied the role of a novel p300 target protein, JMY, which physically and functionally co-operates with p300 in the p53 response. The data suggest that JMY

66

has potent effects on certain p53-dependent genes, such as *bax* and, physiologically, co-operates with p300 in promoting p53-dependent apoptosis.

# Chapter 2. Materials and Methods

#### 2-1. Plasmids

The following plasmids have been previously described; pCMV-pRb wt (Zamanian *et al.*, 1992), pCMV-p107 (Beijersbergen *et al.*, 1994), pCMV-HAp130 (Vairo *et al.*, 1995), pCMV-p300 (Eckner *et al.*, 1996), pCMV-HA-JMY (Shikama *et al.*, 1998), pCMV-E2F-1 (Kaelin *et al.*, 1992), pCMV-E2F-4 (Beijersbergen *et al.*, 1994), pCMV-E2F-5 (Buck *et al.*, 1995), pCMV-p21<sup>Waf1/Cip1</sup> (El-Dciry *et al.*, 1993), pCMV-βgal (Zamanian *et al.*, 1992), and pGal4-p53 (Fields and Jang, 1990). pCDK2-MSPE and pCDK4-MSPE were kindly provided by R. Muller. 1.1124 4 1.111

ショースティーの方法での時代である。

設ていたいという

1

To construct pTG13-GL, first, the Bam HI-Bgl II fragment of the HSV1-tk minimal promoter element (-81 to +52) was inserted to the Bgl II site of pXP2 vector (Nordeen, 1988) resulting in pT-lue. Then, the 13 copies of the consensus p53-binding site from pG13-CAT (Kern *et al.*, 1992) were subcloned into the Hind III and Sma I sites of pT-lue. For the Gal4 reporter construct, the Gal4 DNA binding sites and E1b TATA minimal elements from pG5E1b-CAT (Fields and Jang, 1990) were excised by Xho I and Bam HI digestion, and cloned into the pGL3 (Promega). pDHFR-lue has been described previously (Sørensen *et al.*, 1996), pBax-lue and pMDM2-lue, pWWP-lue, and pGADD45-lue were a gift from M. Oren (Haupt *et al.*, 1955b ; Friedlander *et al.*, 1996), B. Vogelstein (El-Deiry *et al.*, 1993), and C. Prives (Chen *et al.*, 1995) respectively.

To construct pCMV-HA-DP1, three copies of HA1 epitope sequences from pGTEP-1 (a gift from B. Futcher) were amplified by PCR and cloned into the pCDNA3 (Invitrogen) with a consensus Kozak sequence introduced immediately 5' of the initiating ATG codon to create pCMV-HA1. The 5' primer used was (5' to 3') GCTGGAATTCTTTTACCCATACGATGTTC and the 3' primer (5' to 3')
CATGCTCGAGAGCAGCGTAATCTGGAAC. PCR amplication was carried out using PWO polymerase (Boehringer Mannheim) and the manufacturer's incubation buffer for 31 cycles as follows : 5min denaturation at 94°C as first step, followed by 31 cycles of denaturation at 92°C for 1min; annealing at 55°C for 1min; extension at 72°C for 1.5min (last cycle 5min). The DP-1 cDNA sequence (Girling *et al.*, 1993) in frame was introduced into pCMV-HA to generate an expression plasmid encoding an amino-terminal HA-tagged full-length DP-1. pCMV-DP-1/NLS was made by inserting a fragment containing the Bel1 bi-partite nuclear localization signal (amino acid residues 194 to 227) of human foamy virus (Lee *et al.*, 1994) into Kpn I site (residue 327) of the DP-1 in pCMV-DP-1. Street a market and a constrained

Contraction of the second second

のないないないないないないです。

「「「「「「「「」」、 かちっち とんをおとれて

For the mammalian two-hybrid assay, several plasmids were constructed as follows: the PCR fragments of VP16 trans activation domain, amino acid residues 423 to 490, from Gal4-VP16 (Fields and Jang, 1990) were subcloned in-frame to the pCMV-IIA to generate pCMV-VP16. The 5' primer used was (5' to 3') GCTCGGATCCGAGCTCCACTTAGACGGCGA and 3' primer (5' to 3') GCTCCTCGAGCTACCCACCGTACTCGTCAAT. Two p53 PCR fragments encoding amino acids 1 to 393 and 159 to 393 from pCMV-p53, and two E2F-1 PCR fragments encoding amino acids 1 to 437 and 1 to 413 from pCMV-E2F-1 were fused to the VP16 trans activation domain in pCMV-VP16 to generate pCMVp53/VP16, pCMV-p53Δ159/VP16, pCMV-E2F1/VP16, and pCMV-E2F1A413/VP16, respectively. pCMV-GAD was made by the insertion of Hind III and Eco RI fragment encoding Gal4 trans activation domain, amino acid residues 768 to 881, from pACT II (Clontech) into the pCDNA3. The Nde I and Xba I fragments from pCMV-E2F1 were fused in-frame into pCMV-GAD to make the pCMV-GAD/E2F1. To construct pG4-p300611-2284, the Nde I fragments from pCMV-p300 were fused in-frame to the Gal4 DNA-binding domain sequence of pG4m-polyII vector (Bandara et al., 1993). pCMV-E2F-1 $\Delta$ 413 was made by internal deletion from pCMV-E2F1. To construct the Gal4-p300 derivatives, pG4p300611-1257, -p3001302-1572, -p3001572-2284, and -p3001572-1903 were made by

internal detection from pG4-p300<sup>611-2284</sup>, respectively. Also, to generate pCMV-HA-p300<sup>611-1257</sup> and pCMV-HA-p300<sup>1257-2284</sup>, Afl III and Xba I, and Bam HI and Xbo I fragments from pG4-p300<sup>611-2284</sup>, and Sma I and Xba I fragment from pG4-p300<sup>1572-2284</sup>, were inserted into the pCMV-HA1, respectively. pVP16-JMY<sup>469-558</sup> has been described previously (Shikama *et al.*, 1998).

Two E1A expression vectors, pCMV-E1A and pCMV-E1AA2-36 were a gift from J.R. Nevins (Kraus *et al.*, 1992). pCMV-p53 was made by the insertion of p53 cDNA from php53 (Zakut-Houri *et al.*, 1985) into the pCDNA3. pCMV-p53<sup>22/23</sup> was kindly provided by A.J. Levine (Lin *et al.*, 1994). In order to map the region in p53 to which DP-1 binds a panel of p53 mutants (Figure 4-3), GST-p53 1-73, 1-143, 1-235 and WT, were made by PCR using human p53 cDNA as template (php53c-1 ; Zakut-Houri *et al.*, 1985). PCR products were cloned in frame into a pGEX-KG (Pharmacia). The protein expression and stability of each construct was verified by western blotting.

#### 2-2. Transfection

For transfection (including flow cytometry), U2OS and SAOS-2 cells were grown in Dulbecco's modified eagles medium (DMEM) supplemented with 10% foetal calf serum (FCS). Cells were plated out 24h before transfection at 2 x 10<sup>5</sup> cells per 6-cm dish (for luciferase and  $\beta$ -galactosidase assays) or 1 x 10<sup>6</sup> cells per 10-cm dish (for immunoprecipitation and flow cytometric analyses). Three hours prior to the transfection, the medium from the cells was removed and replaced it with the fresh growth medium. The calcium phosphate-DNA precipitates, the indicated amounts of each plasmid DNA and 2M CaCl<sub>2</sub> (for 6-cm dish ; 70µl, for 10-cm dish ; 160µl), dropwise added to 2xHBS solution (50mM Hepes pH7.1, 280mM NaCl, and 1.5mM Na2HPO4). Whenever required, pCDNA3, pCMV-HA1, or pSG5 was used to maintain a constant amount of DNA in each sample. All transfections were included an internal control pCMV-βgal. Cells were harvested 34-40h post transfection.

# 2-3. Luciferase and $\beta$ -galactosidase assays

For luciferase assay, the cell culture supernatant was aspirated, and the cells were rinsed twice with phosphate-buffered saline (PBS). Cell extracts were prepared in reporter lysis buffer (25mM Tris-H3PO4 pH7.8, 2mM 1,2-diaminocyclohexane tetra acetic acid, 2mM DTT, 10% glycerol and 1% Triton X-100). The solubilized cells transferred to a microcentrifuge tube and incubated at room temperature for 15min. After removing cell debris, extracts were assayed for luciferase activity by mixing 300µl luciferase assay reagent (1:4, Promega) with 60µl cell extracts and measuring the activity with a luminometer (Berthold Lumat).

To measure  $\beta$ -galactosidase activity, 60µl cell extracts were mixed in 6µl 100xMg solution (0.1M MgCl2 and 4.5M  $\beta$ -mercaptoethanol), 70µl O-nitrophenyl- $\beta$ -D-galactopyranoside (4mg/ml) and 200µl 0.1M sodium phosphate (pH7.5). The reaction mixtures were incubated at 37°C until a faint yellow color has developed. The reaction was stopped by adding 500µl of 1M Na2CO3 to each sample, and the activity was measured at 420nm.

#### 2-4. Immunofluorescence

Transfected cells were fixed in 4% paraformaldehyde at 4°C for 20min, rinsed and permeabilised in PBS containing 0.2% Triton X-100 at 4°C for 10min. Fixed cells were washed three times with cold-PBS and incubated in primary antibody diluted in Tween buffer (0.5M NaCl, 1% BSA, 5mM Na(PO4) pH6.5 and 0.5% Tween 20) at 4°C for 2hr. Subsequently, cells were washed three times with cold-Triton buffer (0.3% Triton in PBS) and further incubated in secondary antibody, goat anti-mouse or rabbit IgG conjugated to fluorescein isothiocyanate (FITC) or tetramethylrhodamine isothiocyanate (TRITC) (Southern Biotechnology Associates Inc.) for 1h at room temperature. And then, cover slips were washed three times in PBS, mounted, and viewed under the fluorescence microscope (Olympus).

#### 2-5. Flow cytometry

For flow cytometry analysis about 10µg of an expression vector for the cell surface protein CD20 was co-transfected into cells (grown in 10% FCS) together with 15µg of the each expression vector for p53 or p300 (details given in Figure 5-7). Cells were washed and refed after 16h and harvested 40h later by washing in PBS and thereafter treating with cell dissociation medium (Sigma) for 15min. Cells were washed in DMEM by centrifuging at 2000rpm and resuspended in a small volume of DMEM containing the anti-CD20 antibody lcu16 (Becton Dickinson) coupled to fluorescein isothiocyanate (FITC). Cells were incubated upon ice for 45min, further washed twice in PBS and then resuspended in 50% PBS in ethanol at 20°C for 30min. Cells were collected by centrifugation and treated with RNase (125U/ml) for 30min, harvested by centrifugation and suspended in propidium iodide (20µg/ml) in PBS at 4°C for 1h. Flow cytometry was performed on a Becton Dickinson fluorescence activated cell sorter. The intensity of propidium iodine staining was analysed in cell populations that were positive for FITC staining to determine the cell cycle profile of the transfected population using the Consort 30 software. The data presented show a representative example from multiple assays.

# 2-6. Immunoprecipitation

U2OS cells were transfected with plasmids encoding Gal4-p300, HA-DP1, E2F-1 or p53 (as indicated in Figures 5-2 and 5-3) by the calcium phosphate procedure. After 48h, cells were washed twice in PBS and harvested by scraping into cold TNN buffer (50mM Tris-HC1 pH7.4, 120 mM NaCl, 5mM EDTA, 0.5% NP-40, 50mM NaF, 1mM DTT, 1mM PMSF, 0.2mM sodium orthovanedate, leupeptin (0.5µg/ml), protease inhibitor (0.5µg/ml), trypsin inhibitor (1.0µg/ml), aprotinin  $(0.5\mu g/ml)$  and bestatin  $(40\mu g/ml)$  and incubated on ice for 30min. The cell extract was centifuged for 10 min at 12,000g and pre-cleared by incubating with protein-G agarose for 1h at 4°C with constant rotation. The supernatant was harvested and 2µl of anti-mouse Gal4 monoclonal antibody (100µg/ml, Santa-Cruz) added for 1h at 4°C. Protein-A agarose (50% v/v) (Boehringer Mannheim) was added and the incubation continued for another 1h at 4°C. The agarose beads were collected by centrifugation for 30sec at 5,000g, the supernatant was removed and the pellet was washed three times in TNN buffer. 2xSDS loading buffer (250mM Tris-HCl, pH6.8, 20% glycerol (v/v), 4% SDS (w/v), 0.1% bromophenol blue (w/v), 200mM DTT and 5%  $\beta$ -mercaptoethanol) was added to the final pellet, the sample denatured and loaded onto a 8~10% SDS-polyacrylamide gel. Western blotting was subsequently performed with either anti-mouse p53 (421, kindly supplied by Julian Gannon), anti-mouse HA1 (12CA5, Boehringer Mannheim), or anti-mouse E2F-1 (KH95, Santa-Cruz) monoclonal antibody.

A STATE AND A S

いちょうしてき あいないのでのない いきしまたのである

and the second second

and the second se

State Street of

As indicated in Figure 5-2d, SAOS-2 cells were transfected with plasmids encoding p53, pCMV-HA-p $300^{611-1257}$  or pCMV-HA-p $300^{1572-2284}$  by the calcium phosphate procedure. Cells were harvested in TNN buffer and extracts were prepared as described above. The supernatant immunoprecipitated with antimouse p53 (421) which was harvested with protein-A agarose. Western blotting was subsequently performed with anti-mouse HA monoclonal antibody (12CA5).

In Figure 6-2a, U2OS cells were transfected with expression vectors pG4p300<sup>611-2283</sup>, pG4, or pCMV-JMY (containing the HA epitopes). After 48h, cells were harvested in TNN buffer and incubated on ice for 30min. The cell extracts were pre-cleared by incubating with protein-G agarose (Pharmacia) for 30min at 4°C, and the supernatant immunoprecipitated with anti-mouse Gal4 monoclonal antibody (Santa-Cruz) which was harvested with protein-A agarose. The agarose beads were collected and washed three times in the extraction buffer before denaturation and SDS-polyacrylamide (7.5%) gel electrophoresis. Immunoblotting was subsequently performed with an anti-mouse IIA monoclonal antibody or an anti-peptide rabbit antibody against a peptide taken from JMY (kindly supplied by N. Shikama). n,

To immunoprecipitate from non-transfected cells (Figure 6-2b), HeLa cells were harvested in nuclear extraction buffer (20mM Hepes pH7.6, 20% glycerol, 250mM NaCl, 1.5mM MgCl<sub>2</sub>, 1mM EDTA, 0.1% Triton X-100, 1mM DTT, 1mM PMSF, leupeptin (10 $\mu$ g/ml), pepstatin (10 $\mu$ g/ml), aprotinin (10 $\mu$ g/ml) and trypsin inhibitor (10 $\mu$ g/ml)) and immunoprecipitations performed as described above. An anti-p300 monoclonal antibody (Ab-1; Calbiochem) was used in the immunoprecipitation and, after SDS-polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis, immunoblotting was performed with an anti-peptide JMY antibody.

To measure the levels of p53 protein (Figure 6-5), SAOS-2 cells were transfected with the indicated expression vectors and extracts thereafter immunoblotted with the anti-p53 monoclonal antibody DO-1 (Santa-Cruz). The effect of p300 on the level of p53 and E2F-1 was assessed by performing the transfection as indicated and monitoring the level of exogenous protein by immunoblotting with either 421 or KH95.

As a secondary antibodies in immunoblotting, the blots were incubated with alkaline phosphatase-conjugated goat-rabbit or -mouse IgG (1:5,000, Promega), or horseradish peroxidase-conjugated goat anti-rabbit or -mouse IgG (1:4,000) for ECL reagents system (Amersham) as recommended by the manufacturer.

# 2-7. Metabolic in vivo labelling

At 24~30h post-transfection, the tissue culture medium was aspirated, and the cells were washed twice with methionine-free medium, replaced with serum-free and methionine-free medium for 1h. Cells were metabolically labelled with <sup>35</sup>S-methionine (0.2mci for 6-cm dish; 0.5mci for 10-cm dish, Amersham) medium containing 5% dialyzed foetal calf serum for 1hr, washed three times, and chased for 0, 1.5, 3.0, or 4.5hr in normal medium. Cells were harvested in TNN buffer and immunoprecipitated with the 421 monoclonal antibody.

# 2-8. Apoptosis assays

For apoptosis assays, SAOS-2 and U2OS cells were grown in serum starvation conditions on 3cm-diameter dish either with (for TUNEL assay) or without (for cell death detection ELISA) coverslips and transfected with the each expression plasmid as indicated in figure legends. After 16h incubation with the precipitates, the cells were washed twice with DMEM and further incubated for 24h in DMEM supplemented with 0.2% foetal calf serum . For TUNEL (TdT-mediated dUTP nick end labelling) analysis, cells were washed and fixed in 4% paraformaldehyde for 15min at room temperature, rinsed and permeabilized in PBS cantaining 0.1% Triton X-100 and 0.1% sodium citrate for 2min on ice. Subsequently, cells were incubated in a Ca<sup>2+</sup> reaction buffer containing fluoresceindUTP and dNTP, and terminal deoxynucleotidyl transferase (Bochringer Mannheim) at 37°C for 1h in a humid chamber. And then, cells were washed three times in PBS, mounted, and viewed under the fluorescence microscope.

The quantative measurement of mono- and oligo-nucleosomes in the cytoplasm of the apoptotic cells was performed by cell death detection ELISA

(Boehringer Mannheim) using anti-histon-biotin-antibody and anti-DNA-PODantibody as recommended by the manufacturer. a lake ta

こう 御をから ひと

In Figure 6-9, SAOS-2 cells, grown in 10% foetal calf serum, were transfected with pCMV-p53 ( $3\mu g$ ) either alone or together with pCMV-JMY ( $5\mu g$ ), pCMV-p300 ( $5\mu g$ ) or both. After 14h incubation, cells were washed and further incubated for 24h in the presence of 0.2% serum. Cells were fixed in 4% paraformaldehyde at 4°C for 20min, rinsed and permeabilised in PBS containing 0.2% Triton X-100 at 4°C for 10min. Subsequently, cells were treated with the anti-p53 monoclonal antibody 421, washed and further incubated in tetramethylrhodamine-conjugated goat anti-mouse (Southern Biotechnology Associates Inc.) for 2h at room temperature. And then, the TUNEL assay was performed as described above.

# 2-9. Purification of p53 protein from insect cells

Spodoptera frugiperda cells (Sf9 cells) were cultured at 27°C in EX-CELL 400 medium (JRH Biosciences) supplemented with 5% foetal calf serum. Cells were subcultured and infected with recombinant baculovirus pVL1393p53 (kindly provided by C. Midgley and D. Lane). Cells were scraped in PBS after 4 days and collected by centrifugation at 1500rpm. Cell lysis was carried out at 4°C for 30min in lysis buffer (0.15M NaCl, 1% Nonidet P-40, 5mM EDTA, 1mM PMSF, 50mM Tris-HCl pH7.5, 5mM DTT, 10mM NaF and 1mM benzamidine). After centrifugation of the lysate, the supernatant was diluted 3-fold in 15% (v/v) glycerol, 25mM Hepes, 0.1% Triton X-100, 5mM DTT and 1mM PMSF, and p53 protein was purified from the lysate on Hi-Trap heparin sepharose (Pharmacia) in a linear KCl gradient from 0.1 to 0.9M KCl (Hansen *et al.*, 1996).

#### 2-10. Glutathione S-transferase recombinant protein

A 500ml mid-logarithmic culture (the transformed DH5 $\alpha$  in LB-broth) was induced by the addition of 1mM (a final concentration) isopropyl- $\beta$ -Dthiogalactopyranoside (IPTG) and incubated for 6hr at 30°C. Bacterial pellets were resuspended in 10ml PBS containing lysozyme (10mg/ml), 5mM PMSF, 50mM DTT, leupeptin (0.5 $\mu$ g/ml), apotinin (0.5 $\mu$ g/ml), bestatin (40 $\mu$ g/ml) and trypsin inhibitor (1.0 $\mu$ g/ml) while kept cool on ice, and then sonicated briefly (double 5 second burst) on ice. Bacterial debris were pelletted by centrifugation and recentrifugation at 12,000rpm for 20min (at 4°C) each. 300 $\mu$ l of glutathionc-agarose beads (33% v/v) in suspension (0.05% NaN3 in PBS) were added to the supernatant and mixed with constant rotation at 4°C for 1hr. The suspension was placed in a 50ml-Falcon tube and washed once with 50ml PBS containing 0.5% NP-40 (or Igepal) and twice with PBS only, by spinning in a bench-top centrifuge at 5,000rpm for 5min (at 4°C) each time. The washed beads were placed in an eppendorf tube at 4°C. 市場を予想が 大学 いっしょん すぎ 絵句

ĉ

いたい たいたい たいたい たいしょう

#### 2-11. In vitro binding assay

For the *in vitro* binding reaction shown in Figure 4-3, approximately 10µg of GST or GST-fusion protein bound to glutathione-agarose beads were added to 15µl of *in vitro*-translated DP-1 in reaction buffer (50mM Tris-HCl pH 8.0, 150mM NaCl, 0.5% NP-40, 1mM PMSF, 1mM DTT and aprotinin (2µg/ml)). *In vitro*-transcription and translation was carried out in a TNT T7/SP6 coupled reticulocyte lysate system (Promega) as recommended by manufacturer. After incubation for 2.5hr at 4°C, the beads were collected and washed four times in reaction buffer. Proteins were released in SDS-sample buffer, electrophoresed, and immunoblotted

with an anti-DP-1 (A) or an anti-DP-1 (D) polyclonal antibody (Sørensen *et al.*, 1996).

3

ż

Using the baculovirus expressed p53 protein,  $50\mu$ l of protein-A agarose (50% v/v) was incubated either with or without anti-p53 monoclonal antibody 421 in reaction buffer at 4°C for 2hr. This immuno-complex was mixed with *in vitro*-translated / <sup>35</sup>S-methionine labelled DP-1, E2F-1 or luciferase and 100µg of cell extracts derived from NIH3T3 cells for a further 1hr incubation at 4°C with constant rotation. The beads were prepared and electrophoresed on 10% SDS-polyacrylamide gel, and the assay was monitored by autoradiography.

#### 2-12. Histidine tagged protein

His-tagged proteins were purified from the pellet of IPTG-induced 500mlbacterial culture. The bacterial pellets were resuspended in 10ml of denaturing buffer (100mM Sodium phosphate, 10mM Tris base, 6M Guanidine hydrochloride and 30mM imidazole (pH8.0)) and gently stirred for 2hr at room temperature. MgCl2 was added to the final concentration of 5mM, and cellular debris were cleared by repeated centrifugation at 4°C. 400µl of nickel-agarose (solid, Qiagen) was added to the supernatant, which was then rotated for 1hr at room temperature. The resin was washed stepwise with two 50ml volumes each of denaturing buffer (pH8.0), denaturing buffer (pH6.4), and renaturing buffer (25mM Sodium phosphate pH7.0, 300mM NaCl and 10mM β-mercaptoethanol) containing 1M, then 0.1M, and lastly no guanidine hydrochloride. Protein was eluted off the resin by sequential washes with imidazole buffer (150mM Imidazole, 100mM NaCl and 50mM Tris-HCl (pH7.9)).

# 2-13. Gel retardation assays

To supershift the E2F binding activity, the binding sequence for E2F derived from the adenovirus (ad5) E2a promoter from -71 to -50, 5'-GATCTAGTTTTCGCG CTTAAATTTGA-3' and 3'-ATCAAAAGCGCGAATTTAAACTCTAG-5', was radio-labelled with <sup>32</sup>P- $\alpha$ -GTP (Amersham) as described previously (La Thangue *et al.*, 1990). Each gel shift reaction was made up to a final volume of 20µl and reaction mixtures generally contained reaction buffer (4x; 200mM Tris-HCl pH7.9, 24mM MgCl2, 0.8mM EDTA, 4mM DTT and 60% glycerol (v/v)), *in vitro*translated DP and E2F proteins, and additional 2µg of sonicated-salmon sperm DNA (Sigma) to remove the non-specific DNA binding activity. The mixture was incubated for 10min at 30°C, and added with approximately 6ng of <sup>32</sup>P- $\alpha$ -GTPlabelled oligonucleotide probe for a further 10min incubation at 30°C. Reaction mixtures were loaded on to a non-denaturing 4% polyacrylamide Tris-acetate EDTA (TAE) gel at 4°C.

# Chapter 3. Nuclear accumulation is necessary for E2F-dependent apoptosis.

Same an analysis

# 3-1. Introduction.

The function of individual E2F/DP heterodimers is not known. While all E2F/DP complexes stimulate transcription of reporter genes from consensus E2Fbinding sites, different E2F complexes may regulate E2F-dependent cellular promoters through different E2F-binding sites (La Thangue, 1994; Muller, 1995). Functional distinctions between heterodimeric E2F/DP transcription factor complexes include tissue-specific patterns of expression (Bandara *et al.*, 1994; La Thangue, 1994; Wu *et al.*, 1995), differences in the time of expression during the cell cycle (Schwarz *et al.*, 1993; Cobrinik *et al.*, 1993; Hartwell and Kastan, 1994), and preferential association with different members of the pocket proteins or other cell cycle regulators (Chellappan *et al.*, 1991; Cobrinik *et al.*, 1993; Bandara *et al.*, 1994, Lam and La Thangue, 1994; Vairo *et al.*, 1995; Lee *et al.*, 1998). Thus, there are distinct specificities in the activation of genes by individual E2F family members (DeGregori *et al.*, 1997).

Recent studies have shown that the over-expression of E2F-1 can induce apoptosis in co-operation with p53 (Qin *et al.*, 1994; Wu and Levine, 1994; Kowalik *et al.*, 1995). However, studies on the physiological outcomes of deregulating the E2F pathway suggest that the unscheduled cell cycle progression induced by E2F-1 itself leads to apoptosis (Krek et al., 1995; Hass-Kogan et al., 1995; Shan et al., 1996; Berry et al., 1996). Moreover, the observation that  $E2F \cdot I^{-/-}$  mice show an impaired apoptotic function and increased incidence of cancer development (Field et al., 1996; Yamasaki et al., 1996), however, suggests that E2F-1 may play a more direct role as a tumour suppressor, independent of E2F-induced cell proliferation. In this study, I have investigated the nuclear accumulation of E2F family protein, and the mechanisms through which E2F-1 induces apoptosis.

1.100.00

いたないの語を

御門部

#### 3-2. Results.

#### **3-2.1 Intracellular localization of E2F/DP proteins.**

To address the role of intracellular localization in E2F function, hemagglutinin (HA)-tagged E2F-1, -4, -5 and DP-1 were expressed by transient transfection in U2OS cells and their cellular distribution determined by indirect immunofluorescence. In these conditions, E2F-1 was found exclusively in nuclei (Figure 3-1a). In contrast the majority of E2F-4 and -5 were distributed throughout the cytoplasm, whilst a small percentage of cells expressing E2F-4 and -5 exhibited some nuclear staining (Figure 3-1a). Thus, these results imply that protein in the E2F family can be divided into two functional subgroups, as suggested from their primary sequence and functional properties (Buck et al., 1995; de la Luna et al., 1996; Allen et al., 1997). E2F-1 possesses an intrinsic nuclear localization signal (NLS) (Krek et al., 1994) and, consequently, non NLS-containing E2F family members are likely to rely on other proteins to provide NLS activity. Furthermore, immunostaining also showed that the intracellular distribution of the exogenous DP-1 failed to be localized in nucleus (Figure 3-1b). The absence of DP-1 in nuclei was probably due to the lack of a NLS since the exogenous DP-1 could efficiently accumulate in nuclei after attaching a foreign NLS (Figure 3-1b), the bi-partite NLS taken from the Bell protein of human foamy virus (Lee et al., 1994). These data suggest that DP-1 is not actively retained in the cytoplasm but rather its cytoplasmic location is passive.



b)



C)



 $\alpha \, \textbf{HA}$ 



α **E2F-1** 

# Figure 3-1

# The intracellular localization of E2F proteins.

a) Cartoon representation of the HA-tagged E2F family members E2F-1, 4 and 5. DNA binding and dimerization domains are indicated by yellow and blue, respectively. U2OS cells were transfected with  $4\mu g$  of the relevant expression plasmid and the intracellular location of exogenously expressed HA-tagged E2F-1, 4 and 5 was assessed by immunofluorescence with an anti-HA monoclonal antibody.

b) The intracellular distribution of exogenous DP-1 (left panel) or DP-1/NLS (right panel), which DP-1 had been attached a foreign NLS taken from the Bel 1 protein in U2OS cells was assessed by immunofluorescence using anti-HA monoclonal antibody. The position of the NLS is indicated by red.

c) The cellular localization of exogenous E2F-1 and DP-1 in U2OS cells expressing both proteins was assessed by immunofluorescence using either anti-HA monoclonal antibody or the anti-E2F-1 polyclonal antibody. Anti-HA immunoreactivity was visualized with fluorescein-conjugated anti-mouse immunoglobulin (left panel) and anti-E2F-1 immunoreactivity with rhodamineconjugated anti-rabbit immunoglobulin (right panel). Note that co-expression of both E2F-1 and DP-1 within the same cell caused DP-1 to efficiently accumulate in the nucleus.

# 3-2.2. Co-expression of DP-1 with E2F-1 causes DP-1 to efficiently accumulate in nucleus.

6

ģ

It was reasoned that in the absence of an autonomous NLS a possible mechanism to promote the nuclear accumulation of DP-1 may involve an interaction with one of its physiological partners, the E2F-1 protein. To test this idea, I studied the location of the E2F-1 protein in U2OS cells and thereafter the effect of coexpressing E2F-1 and DP-1 in the same cells. A HA-tagged E2F-1 protein visualised by immunostaining with an anti-HA antibody was exclusively nuclear (Figure 3-1a). To assess the influence of E2F-1 on DP-1, both proteins were coexpressed and their intracellular distribution determined by double immunostaining with anti-HA monoclonal antibody for DP-1 and anti-E2F-1 polyclonal antibody for E2F-1 (Figure 3-1c). Neither the fluorescein-conjugated anti-mouse immunoglobulin or rhodamine-conjugated anti-rabbit immunoglobulin cross-reacted with the anti-E2F-1 polyclonal or anti-HA monoclonal antibody (de la Luna et al., 1996). There was a striking difference in the distribution of DP-1 upon coexpression of E2F-1; cells expressing the E2F-1 protein contained nuclear DP-1 (Figure 3-1c), in contrast to its cytoplasmic location in the absence of E2F-1 (Figure 3-1b). These data strongly suggest that upon forming a DP-1/E2F-1 heterodimer, E2F-1 has a dominant influence on recruiting DP-1 to a nuclear location, and nuclear localization may provide an additional level of control over E2F activity.

#### 3-2.3. E2F-1 can induce apoptosis independent of p53.

Although E2F-1 over-expression can induce apoptosis in co-operation with p53 (Qin *et al.*, 1994; Wu and Levine 1994; Kowalik *et al.*, 1995), recent studies have suggested that the growth inhibitory effects of E2F-1 are not entirely dependent on p53 (Mclillo *et al.*, 1994; Qin *et al.*, 1994; Berry *et al.*, 1996) and pRb has been

Same in the build

shown to protect  $p53^{-/-}$  cells from apoptosis in an E2F-1 binding dependent manner (Hass-Kogan *et al.*, 1995). Furthermore, a p53-independent apoptotic activity of E2F is strongly supported by a recent study, showing that deletion of *Rb* in mice and therefore deregulation of E2F result in apoptosis in both *p53* positive and negative embryos (Macleod *et al.*, 1996).

Here, I was interested to understand the role of E2F in apoptosis in  $p53^{-4-}$  cclis. SAOS-2 cells, p53 null ( $p53^{-4-}$ ) human tumour cell line expressing a carboxyterminal truncated pRb that is defective for E2F binding (Hass-Kogan *et al.*, 1995), were transiently transfected with E2F-1 expression plasmid and cultured in serum starvation conditions, conditions favour that apoptosis (White, 1996). The transfected cells were determined by immunoflorescence labelling of the cells expressing exogenous E2F-1 (Figure 3-2a right panel), and the level of apoptosis measured by TdT-mediated dUTP nick end labelling (TUNEL) assay (Figure 3-2a left panel). Over-expression of E2F-1 alone, in the absence of p53, was sufficient to induce apoptosis (Figure 3-2a). There was a three- to five-fold increase in apoptotic cells in E2F-1 transfected SAOS-2 cells compared to cells transfected with a control vector (data from TUNEL assay not shown).

#### 3-2.4. Properties of E2F required for apoptosis.

E2F-1 and DP-1 have been shown to form a tight complex when both genes are over-expressed by co-transfection in the same cells (Bandara *et al.*, 1994), and this heterodimer has been suggested to be the physiologically significant form of E2F activity (Bandara *et al.*, 1994; Wu *et al.*, 1995; Shan *et al.*, 1996).

To investigate the effect of DP-1 expression on E2F-1-induced apoptosis, SAOS-2 cells were co-transfected with DP-1 and E2F-1 expression plasmids. Co-expression of DP-1 and E2F-1 dramatically increased the level of apoptosis compared to E2F-1 alone (Figure 3-2a).



E2F-1

E2F-1 / DP-1

a)



b)

# Figure 3-2

#### E2F-1 induces p53-independent apoptosis in SAOS-2 cells.

a) Cells were transiently transfected with 3µg of each expression plasmid for E2F-1 and DP-1 as indicated, and grown in conditions of serum starvation (0.2% FCS). Cells were fixed and treated with the anti-E2F-1 antibody (right panel) or assayed for the level of apoptosis by TUNEL (left panel).

b) To quantify the apoptotic effect of E2F-1 and/or DP-1, SAOS-2 cells were grown in 3cm-diameter dishes and transfected with  $2\mu g$  of each expression plasmids as indicated. 16h after post-transfection, cells were further incubated for 12h in 0.2% or 10% FCS. Nucleosomes in the cytoplasm of the apoptotic cells were assayed by cell death detection ELISA. The values indicated represent the average of three different readings. Error bars indicate standard deviations of triplicate transfections. To quantify this effect, SAOS-2 cells were transfected as described above. Mono- and oligo-nucleosomes in the cytoplasm of the apoptotic cells were prepared and measured by cell death dection ELISA (see Materials and Methods). As shown previously, E2F-1 alone clearly induced apoptosis, whereas combined expression of DP-1 and E2F-1, in agreement with the morphological data, significantly increased the level of apoptosis (Figure 3-2b). In contrast DP-1 alone did not show any significant apoptosis in the absence of E2F-1 (Figure 3-2b, track 2). Furthermore, to confirm the ability of DP-1 to enhance E2F-1-induced apoptosis, I tested two DP-1 mutants in which the DNA-binding domain (DP-1 dl171) or both the DNA-binding and the E2F-1 dimerization domains (DP-1 dl242) were deleted (Figure 3-3a). As shown in Figure 3-3b, it was clear that two mutants failed to augment the E2F-1induced apoptosis. Therefore, these results may suggest that the increase in apoptosis seen with E2F-1 and DP-1 was occured as the result of an increase in the DNA binding and transcriptional activation ability of E2F-1.

alle the set of the state of the set

¥,

一部のちょうから、大学のないのないとなる

1.111.1

In an attempt to understand the machanism of E2F-1-mediated p53independent apoptosis, I tested the apoptotic function of a panel of E2F-1 mutants, E2F-1(1-413), E2F-1(1-380), E2F-1Y411C, E2F-1 $\Delta$ 24, and E2F-1(152-438) (Figure 3-4a). Because the ability of E2F-1 to drive cells through cycle has been shown to require an intact DNA-binding and *trans* activation domain (Bandara *et al.*, 1993; Helin *et al.*, 1993), it was necessary to determine the importance of E2F-1 *trans* activation activity to the apoptotic function. Using the TUNEL assay, it was clear that the *trans* activation defective mutants, E2F-1(1-413) and E2F-1(1-380), were both competent to induce apoptosis in transfected SAOS-2 cells (Figure 3-4b and 3-4c). Their ability to induce apoptosis was much more than that of the wild-type E2F-1. But, interestingly, the DNA-binding defective mutant, E2F-1(152-438), failed to induce apoptosis. These results indicate that E2F-1-induced apoptosis requires DNA-binding but not *trans* activation, results that are consistent with recently published data from others (Phillips *et al.*, 1997; Hsieh *et al.*, 1997).



- 1997 -

. .

b)



a)

# Figure 3-3

### The dimerization of E2F-1 and DP-1 augments apoptosis.

a) A diagram of DP-1 mutants used in the apoptosis.

b) Quantitative comparison the effect on apoptosis in SAOS-2 cells caused by E2F-1 with DP-1 wild-type or mutants are shown. DP-1 dl171 and dl242 are a carboxy-terminal truncated mutants. DP-1 dl171 lacks the DNA-binding region, and DP-1 dl242 is deleted of both DNA-binding and E2F-1 heterodimerization region. Cells were transiently transfected with  $3\mu g$  of E2F-1 and DP-1 expression plasmid. The percentages of E2F-1 positive cells were determined by polyclonal anti-E2F-1 antibody, and further assayed for the level of apoptosis by TUNEL (tracks 1 to 4). The apoptotic effects by DP-1 wild-type or mutant in the absence of E2F-1 was determined by the comparison of TUNEL-positive population to the number of DAPI-positive cells (tracks 5 to 8). The level of apoptosing cells represents the average of three independent readings.





# Figure 3-4

#### Trans activation is not necessary for E2F-1 induced apoptosis.

a) A diagram of E2F-1 mutants used in the apoptosis and the transcriptional activation assays. E2F-1(1-413) is a carboxy-terminal truncated E2F-1 mutant. It lacks the p300-binding domain and part of the *trans* activation domain. E2F-1(1-380) is a *trans* activation domain truncated mutant, and is competent for DNA-binding. E2F-1Y411C is a point mutant of E2F-1 that is defective for pRb binding. E2F-1Δ24 is an internal deletion mutant which deleted of cyclinA-binding site. E2F-1(152-438) is an amino-terminal truncated mutant that is defective for DNA-binding.

b) 3μg of each expression vector for E2F-1 wild-type or mutant was introduced in SAOS-2 cells as indicated. Cells were fixed and treated with the anti-E2F-1 polyclonal antibody and assayed for the absolute percentage level of apoptosis by TUNEL assay.

c) The E2F reporter pDHFR-luc (1µg) together with expression vectors for wild-type or mutant E2F-1 (1µg) were transfected into SAOS-2 cells as indicated. The value shown are the average of duplicate readings and represent the relative level of luciferase to the  $\beta$ -galactosidase activity from the internal control.

Moreover, as expected, the E2F-1Y411C, which is defective for pRb binding, also retained the ability to induce apoptosis (Figure 3-4b).

Previous studies have shown that loss of negative regulation of E2F-1 DNA binding activity by cyclinA-associated kinase results in the inability of cells to leave S-phase and eventual apoptosis (Krek *et al.*, 1995). Conversely, the analysis of an E2F-1 mutant deleted of the cyclin A-binding site (E2F-1 $\Delta$ 24) was indistinguishable from the activity of the wild-type E2F-1 protein in the apoptosis assay (Figure 3-4b), suggesting that cyclinA-binding is not necessary for this function.

Because it was shown that E2F-1-induced apoptosis required DNA-binding but not trans activation (Figure 3-4), it is unlikely that the inhibition of E2F-1induced apoptosis by pRb occurs through its suppression of E2F-1 trans activation. Nevertheless, existing data imply that pRb appears to be involved in apoptotic function (Clarke et al., 1992; Jacks et al., 1992; Morgenbesser et al., 1994; Haupt et al., 1995a; Shan et al., 1996; Macleod et al., 1996). For instance, p53-mediated apoptosis could be overcome by excess pRb, whereas co-expression of p53 appeared to enhance the ability of E2F-1 to induce apoptosis (Qin et al., 1994; Haupt et al., 1995a). Moreover, the loss of pRb function and over-expression of E2F are known to disrupt the G1 arrest and favour apoptosis (Shan et al., 1996; Macleod et al., 1996). Additional studies have provided convincing evidence that SAOS-2 derivatives expressing wild-type pRb exhibited increased viability and decreased apoptosis following treatment at a variety of radiation doses (Hass-Kogan et al., 1995). Therefore, the effect of pRb on E2F-1 was investigated using TUNEL and luciferase assays. As shown in Figure 3-5, pRb significantly inhibited E2F-1induced apoptosis (compare tracks 1 and 3) in consistent with the ability of pRb to repress E2F-1-mediated transcriptional activation (compare tracks 7 and 9).

In contrast, p300 functions as a transcriptional co-activator for the E2F/DP heterodimer (in this thesis and Lee *et al.*, 1998). Thus, it is possible that cells expressing p300 can promote E2F-1-induced apoptosis, as it has been shown to



「ない」はあたいです。「「ない」」という。

and the second se

ş

#### Figure 3-5

# p300 and pRb have different effects on E2F-1 mediated apoptosis.

a)  $2\mu g$  of E2F-1 expression plasmid together with  $4\mu g$  of pRb or p300 expression plasmid were transfected into SAOS-2 cells. Cells were fixed and treated with the anti-E2F-1 polyclonal antibody and further assayed for the absolute percentage level of apoptosis by TUNEL assay (tracks 1 to 3). The apoptotic effects by p300 or pRb in the absence of E2F-1 was determined by the comparison of TUNEL-positive population to the number of DAPI-positive cells (tracks 4 and 5) 3

Same Science State

こうじん ひとうやく たいき 彼らり

b) The E2F reporter pDHFR-luc (1µg) together with expression vectors for E2F-1 (0.1µg) and DP-1 (1µg) either alone or together with p300 (6µg) or pRb (6µg) were transfected into SAOS-2 cells as indicated. The value shown are the average of duplicate readings and represent the relative level of luciferase to the  $\beta$ -galactosidase activity from the internal control.

stimulate the *trans* activation of E2F-1 (figures 3-5b and 5-3). When p300 was coexpressed with E2F-1 there was a significant increase in the proportion of apoptotic cells, compared to E2F-1 alone (Figure 3-5, compare tracks 1 and 2), in contrast to the effect of pRb on E2F-1. Not the second s

-

1.4 - 12

一時日本部分的一部計算目的在 天天翻 中一般展示大法

.

and the second second and an experimentary and a second second second second second second second second second

# 3-3. Conclusion.

E2F DNA-binding activity arises when a member of two families of proteins, E2F and DP, form heterodimeric complexes, an interaction which results in cooperative transcriptional and DNA-binding activity (La Thangue, 1994). From the data presented here, I conclude that the activity of E2F is mediated at the level of intracellular location through a dependence on heterodimer formation for nuclear translocation. Therefore, these data define a new level of control in the E2F transcription factor whereby interplay between E2F heterodimers dictates the levels of nuclear DNA-binding activity.

In addition, I demonstrated that E2F-1 can induce apoptosis in p53-/- turnour cells and that DP-1 is able to augment the E2F-1-induced apoptosis, yet by itself it has no ability to induce apoptosis, consistent with the ability of DP-1 to enhance E2F-1-mediated transcriptional activation, while inducing little *trans* activation by itself. Although it was clear that the apoptotic function of E2F-1 requires DNA-binding but not *trans* activation, the over-expression of p300 dramatically enhanced the E2F-1-induced apoptotic activity, in contrast to pRb which suppressed the E2F-1-induced apoptosis. These results suggest that E2F-1-induced apoptosis is not simply the consequence of apoptotic gene activation by E2F-1, but is regulated by several pathways. However, it clearly appears that E2F-1 provides an apoptosis-promoting signal independent of p53.

# Chapter 4. Functional relationship between p53 and E2F-1/DP-1.

ŝ

#### 4-1. Introduction.

The cellular transcription factors E2F/DP and the tumour suppressor protein p53 play important roles in controlling early cell cycle events (Nevins, 1992; La Thangue, 1994; Weinberg, 1995). E2F/DP are believed to co-ordinate and integrate the transcription of cell cycle regulating genes, for example, those involved in DNA synthesis (La Thangue, 1994; Muller, 1995). In contrast, p53 is thought to monitor the integrity of chromosomal DNA and when appropriate interfere with cell cycle progression, for example, in response to DNA damage (Ko and Prives, 1996). However, little is known about the function of the p53 in the control of normal cell cycle progression, although transcription of the p53 target gene, encoding the CDKinhibitor p21<sup>Waf1/Cip1</sup>, correlates with p53-mediated cell cycle arrest (Sherr, 1993; Dulic et al., 1994; Koh et al., 1995; Lukas et al., 1995; Weinberg, 1995). Nevertheless, p53 has been shown to be able to repress the transcriptional activity of the promoters of thymidine kinase, c-myc and DNA polymerase  $\alpha$ (Lin *et al.*, 1992; Moberg et al., 1992; Yuan et al., 1993). Interestingly, these are also the genes which can be trans activated by E2F. This suggests that p53 may be able to interfere with E2F function in the normal cell cycle. Thus, I have the possibility that p53 can suppress E2F transcriptional activity, and further that E2F can associate with p53.

#### 4-2. Results.

#### 4-2.1. DP-1 associates with p53.

Cell extracts were prepared from SAOS-2 cells expressing wild-type p53 and the HA-tagged DP-1, and immunoprecipated with the anti-p53 monoclonal antibody 421 followed by immunoblotting with the anti-HA antibody (Figure 4-1). DP-1 was specifically detected in the p53 immunocomplex (Figure 4-1, compare tracks 1 and 2). Furthermore, immunoblotting analysis from the same cell extract, was performed with the anti-HA antibody to confirm the HA-DP-1 expression level. The level of HA-DP-1 was constant in these experimental condition (Figure 4-1, compare tracks 3 to 4 and 5). Further evidence was obtained by using F9EC cell extracts which were incubated with the anti-p53 antibody, and where DP-1 was also present in this immunoprecipitates (Sørensen *et al.*, 1996). However, the data do not address whether the interaction is direct or indirect but, nevertheless, do indicate that the association occurs in physiological conditions. 

#### 4-2.2 An immunochemically distinct form of DP-1 associates with p53.

The minimal region in DP-1 capable of effciently binding to p53 occurs within residues 171 to 331 (Sørensen *et al.*, 1996). This region of DP-1 contains several domains which are conserved between other members of the DP family, and a critical region involved in heterodimerization between DP-1 and E2F family members (Figure 1-4).

Similarly, to define the region in p53 required for the association with DP-1, an *in vitro* binding assay was developed in which the ability of p53 to interact with *in vitro* translated DP-1 was monitored. Sørensen *et al.* (1996) characterized the two forms of DP-1 polypeptides, referred to as p55L (lower) and p55U (upper), from



#### Figure 4-1

#### p53 associates with DP-1.

The expression vectors encoding p53 and HA-tagged DP-1 were transfected into SAOS-2 cells and after 36hr immunoprecipitation performed with the anti-p53 monoclonal antibody 421 (tracks 1 and 2) followed by gel electrophoresis. Immunoblotting was performed with the anti-HA monoclonal antibody 12CA5; cell extracts alone shown in tracks 3, 4 and 5. Note that the common band present across tracks 3, 4 and 5 results from non-specific activity with 12CA5. The HA-tagged DP-1 polypeptides are indicated. extracts of asynchronous cultured 3T3 and F9EC cells. In that study, it was shown that polyclonal anti-DP-1 (D) recognises p55L, in contrast to anti-DP-1 (A) which revealed both forms of p55. Specifically, p55L appeared towards the end of G1 as cells begin to enter S phase, and evidence was presented that p55L is a significant component of E2F DNA-binding activity and that p55U is a form of DP-1 which binds less efficiently to E2F site (Bandara *et al.*, 1994; Sørensen *et al.*, 1996).

The results shown in Figure 4-2a confirm these conclusions as p55U is a form of DP-1 recognised by anti-DP-1 (A) but not anti-DP-1 (D). In a similar fashion, two immunochemically distinct forms of DP-1 could be defined after *in vitro* translation using same two antisera. Specifically, in the absence of translated exogeneous DP-1, anti-DP-1 (A), but not anti-DP-1 (D), recognised the endogenous DP-1 protein (Figure 4-2a, compare tracks 4 and 3 respectively; indicated by  $\Box$ ). After translation, both antisera recognised the *in vitro* translated DP-1 protein, the exogeneous polypeptide being resolved with marginally faster mobility (Figure 4-2a, tracks 1 and 2; indicated by arrow head).

Evidence that at least two immunochemically distinct forms of DP-1 were present after *in vitro* translation was obtained upon studying the interaction with p53. When p53 was added to the *in vitro* translate, the DP-1 form recognised by anti-DP-1 (A), but not anti-DP-1 (D), was retained by p53 (Figure 4-2b, compare tracks 3 and 4) although DP-1 immunoreactive with both antisera was present in the input translate (Figure 4-2b, compare tracks 5 and 6); the GST portion failed to interact with DP-1 (Figure 4-2b, compare tracks 1 and 2). These data indicate that two distinct forms of DP-1 are present after *in vitro* translation and further that p53 preferentially interacts with the form defined by anti-DP-1 (A). Importantly, this result reflects tha data derived by immunoprecipitation from mammalian cell extracts where p53 co-immunoprecipitated with p55U, a form of DP-1 recognised by anti-DP-1 (A) but not anti-DP-1 (D) (Sørensen *et al.*, 1996). The specificity of p53 for DP-1 in the *in vitro* binding assay therefore possesses some similarity





b)

a)
### Figure 4-2

### p53 binds to an immunochemically distinct form of DP-1.

a) Reticulocyte lysate programmed either with (tracks 1 and 2) or without (tracks 3 and 4) DP-1 was probed with and anti-DP-1 ( $\alpha$ DP-1) antibody, either anti-DP-1(D) (D; tracks 1 and 3) or anti-DP-1(A) (A; tracks 2 and 4). The *in vitro* translated (IVT) DP-1 polypeptide is indicated by the arrowhead; note that the antisera were affinity purified. The polypeptide indicated by the box and recognized by anti-DP-1(A) in track 4 is probably endogenous DP-1; the asterisk indicates a non-specific polypeptide. Lane M contains molecular weight markers, the positions of which (in thousands) are indicated on the right.

and a starting of a strategy for

والمنافق والمنافقة والمنافق والمنافع والمنافع والمنافعة والمنافعة والمنافع والمنافع والمنافعة والمنافع و

11 - 22 - 54

Section 14

b) Either GST-p53 (tracks 3 and 4) or GST alone (tracks 1 and 2) was incubated with *in vitro* translated wild-type DP-1, and the bound DP-1 was assessed by immunoblotting with either anti-DP-1(A) (tracks 1 and 3) or anti-DP-1(D) (tracks 2 and 4). Each track was cut in half along the middle, probed with either antiserum, and realigned. In tracks 5 and 6, the input (In) reticulocyte containing *in vitro* translated DP-1 was probed with anti-DP-1(A) and anti-DP-1(D), respectively; DP-1 is indicated by the arrowhead. Note that GST-p53 binds a form of DP-1 recognized by anti-DP-1(A) but not anti-DP-1(D).

<u>()</u> دونور

with the interaction in mammalian cells, and supports the conclusion that p53 interacts with an immunochemically distinct form of DP-1.

### 4-2.3 An amino-terminal region in p53 is required for binding to DP-1.

I used GST-pull down assays to define the domain in p53 required for the association with DP-1. As much as 250 amino acid residues could be deleted from carboxy-terminus of p53 without any detrimental effect on the interaction with DP-1 (Figure 4-3b, compare tracks 3, 4 and 5). A further deletion from residues 143 to 73 abolished the interaction (Figure 4-3a and b, compare tracks 2 and 3), thus defining a region in p53 required to bind DP-1. Since the amino-terminal region of p53 contains the MDM2 binding domain (Momand *et al.*, 1992; Oliner *et al.*, 1993; Chen *et al.*, 1994), a domain in p53 necessary for the interaction with DP-1 can therefore be distinguished from that required for MDM2 binding.

### 4-2.4. p53 can modulate E2F site-dependent transcription.

As DP-1 is a frequent component of E2F (Girling *et al.*, 1993; La Thangue, 1994), I assessed the functional consequence of the interaction of p53 with DP-1 by studying the effects on E2F site-dependent transcription driven by DP-1 and E2F-1, a situation in which it is known that both proteins co-operate in transcriptional activation as a DNA binding heterodimer (Figure 4-4, compare lanes 1 to 6 and 11). In these assay conditions DP-1 alone possesses insignificant transcriptional activity (Figure 4-4, compare lanes 1 to 16). When a wild-type p53 expression vector was co-transfected into SAOS-2 cells the level of *trans* activation mediated by either E2F-1 alone, or DP-1 together with E2F-1, was compromised in a p53 concentration-dependent fashion (Figure 4-4, compare lanes 6 through 10 and 11

GST-p53



b)



a)

### Figure 4-3

### Domains in p53 required for the interaction with DP-1.

a) A panel of GST-p53 fusion proteins were used in an *in vitro* binding assay with DP-1.

b) The indicated p53 fusion proteins (tracks 2 to 5) or control GST (track 1) was incubated with *in vitro* translated wild-type DP-1 (track 6), and the bound DP-1 was assessed by immunoblotting with anti-DP-1(A). Lane M contains molecular weight markers ( $x10^{-3}$ ) the positions of which are indicated on the left. In, input



,如果就是一些,如果是不是是这些人的,我们就是这些人的,就是这个人。""你说,这个人,我们这个人,我们就是<mark>这些人的,我们就是这些人,也能</mark>是这些人的,你们也能是有<mark>这个人的</mark>

Sales and

### Figure 4-4

### p53 modulates E2F binding site-depedent transcription.

SAOS-2 cells were transfected with expression vectors encoding E2F-1 (bars 6 to 15; 0.2µg) and DP-1 (bars 11 to 20; 2.0µg), together with an increasing amount of the p53 expression vector (bars 2, 7, 12, and 17, 0.5µg; bars 3, 8, 13, and 18, 1.25µg; bars 4, 9, 14, and 19, 3.75µg; bars 5, 10, 15, and 20, 7.5µg). The reporter constructs were pDHFR-luciferase, containing positions -270 to +20 from the *DHFR* promoter, or p3xMT-GL, and pCMV- $\beta$ gal was included in each transfection as an internal control; in values shown are based on the activity of pDHFR-luc or p3xMT-GL (luciferase) relative to that of pCMV- $\beta$ gal ( $\beta$ -galactosidase). The p53 expression vector suppressed the activity of pCMV- $\beta$ gal, which was taken into consideration in determining the effect of p53 on DP-1 and E2F-1. The values shown represent the means of two readings.

ž

through 15). The activity of a comparable promoter construct deriven by mutant E2F binding sites, p3xMT-GL, was not significantly affected by p53 (Figure 4-4, compare lanes 21 through 25). Furthermore, since this inactivating effect of p53 is calculated as a ratio of the reporter to the transcriptional activity of an internal control (pCMV- $\beta$ gal) within the same transfection treatment, it is a specific effect of transcriptional activation through the E2F site.

一日日日日日の一日の一日日日日日日日日 一日日日日 あいます しょうちょう しょうしょう しんしょう しんしょう しんしょう

😽 dela de la construcción de la construcción de la constru

### 4-2.5. Regulation of p53-dependent transcription by E2F and pRb.

To address the interplay between E2F and p53, it was considered that insight may be gained into the mechanisms involved by evaluating the effects of E2F on p53-dependent transcription. Thus, I introduced wild-type p53 into the SAOS-2 cells, and thereafter monitored the activity of a p53 reporter which was dependent upon p53 for transcriptional activity. The reporter of choice, pTG13-GL, contains p53 binding sites immediately upstream of the herpes virus minimal thymidine kinase (tk) promoter together with the SV40 enhancer driving the *luciferase*, and in SAOS-2 possessed minimal activity in the absence of p53 but responded favourably to exogenous wild-type p53 (for example Figure 4-5a, compare tracks 1 and 2); similar data were obtained from transfection studies in U2OS cells.

To establish the influence of the E2F pathway on p53, I introduced increasing levels of E2F-1 or pRb and thereafter assayed p53 activity. Increased levels of E2F-1 caused a concomitant decline in the transcriptional activity of p53 (Figure 4-5a, compare track 2 to 3, 4 and 5) whereas, in contrast, increased levels of pRb stimulated p53-dependent transcription (Figure 4-5a, compare track 2 to 6, 7 and 8). Further support for this idea was provided by co-expressing E2F-1 in the presence of pRb. In these conditions, pRb antagonised the effects of E2F-1 so that a reduction in p53-dependent transcription was no longer apparent (Figure 4-5a, compare track 3 to 9, 10 and 11).



pTG13-GL

b)



ġ,

### Figure 4-5

### **Regulation of p53-dependent transcription by E2F-1 and pRb.**

a) The p53 reporter pTG13-GL (containing 13 copies of a synthetic p53 consensus binding sites derived from the promoter of Waf1/Cip1) was introduced into SAOS-2 cells together with expression vectors encoding p53 (1 µg; tracks 2 to 17), in the presence of E2F-1 (0.5µg in tracks 3, 9, 10 and 11; 1.0 µg in tracks 4, 12, 13 and 14 or 2.0 µg in tracks 5, 15, 16 and 17), and/or pRb (1.0µg in tracks 6, 9, 12 and 15, 6µg in tracks 7, 10, 13 and 16, and 12µg in tracks 8, 11, 14 and 17). The data presented reflect averages from two sets of values. Throughout pCMV-βgal was included in each transfection as an internal control. The relative activity of luciferase to β-galactosidase is presented.

b) The influence of E2F-1 on p53 protein level was assessed in SAOS-2 cells transfected with expression vectors encoding p53 ( $3\mu g$ ; tracks 1 to 8), E2F-1 ( $3\mu g$ ; tracks 1 to 4), or the control vector HA1 ( $3\mu g$ ; tracks 5 to 8), metabolically labelled with <sup>35</sup>S-methionine as described and thereafter chased for the indicated times. The levels of p53 were resolved by immunoprecipitation. A non-transfected treatment is shown in track 9.

At the same time, the stimulation of p53 activity by pRb was less when co-expressed with E2F-1 (Figure 4-5a, compare tracks 6, 7 and 8 to 9, 10 and 11), and a titration of E2F-1 levels in the presence of pRb provided additional evidence for this view, since upon increased levels of E2F-1 there was a proportional decline in the transcriptional activity of p53 (Figure 4-5a, compare tracks 9, 10 and 11 to 12, 13 and 14, and 15, 16 and 17). Thus, the transcriptional activity of p53 is influenced by the levels of E2F-1 and, moreover, the presence of pRb overcomes this effect, suggesting that the p53 and pRb/E2F pathways of growth control are functionally integrated.

Certain control treatments were performed to establish the specificity of E2F-1 on p53. For example, the effects on p53 transcriptional activity were dependent upon exogenous p53 since without p53 no changes in activity on the pTG13-GL reporter in the presence of E2F-1 or pRb were apparent. The half life of exogenous p53 protein was not affected by co-expression of E2F-1 (Figure 4-5b, compare tracks 1 to 4 with 5 to 8) and, further, each transfection treatment was internally controlled with pCMV- $\beta$ gal to rule out general effects of p53, E2F-1 or pRb on the transcription apparatus. Having established the specificity of the E2F-1 effect upon p53-dependent transcription, I went on to investigate the mechanism involved.

# 4-2.6. The regulation of p53 activity requires the E2F-1 and p53 *trans* activation domains.

An outcome of the interaction between pRb and E2F-1 is the inactivation of the carboxy-terminal transcription activating domain, which is integrated with the domain recognised by pRb (Flemington *et al.*, 1993; Helin *et al.*, 1993; Kaelin *et al.*, 1992). Since the regulation of p53 activity by E2F-1 was overcome by pRb (Figure 4-5a), we reasoned that the E2F-1 activation domain may be influential in regulating p53 activity. To assess this possibility, a mutant E2F-1 protein which lacks the

1. 2016년 - 1431년 - 1441년 - 1441

carboxy-terminal activation domain, due to truncation up to amino acid residue 413 (E2F-1 $\Delta$ 413), was studied. As expected E2F-1 $\Delta$ 413 had greatly reduced ability to stimulate the transcription of the E2F-responsive *DHFR* promoter in the absence or presence of DP-1 (Figure 4-6a, compare tracks 1 through 5). When assessed for its effect upon p53 activity, and in contrast to wild-type E2F-1, E2F-1 $\Delta$ 413 failed to cause a reduction but rather increased p53-dependent transcription (Figure 4-6b, compare tracks 3 and 4 with 5 and 6). Thus, the integrity of the transcriptional activation domain is necessary for the reduction in p53 activity by E2F-1.

×.

20

÷

Since the regulation of p53 required the E2F-1 transcriptional activation domain, it was possible that the activation domain in p53 may be involved. Therefore, I tested whether a fusion protein containing the amino-terminal transcription activation domain (amino acid residues 1 to 73) of p53 was sensitive to the effects of E2F-1. In a similar fashion to wild-type p53, the activity of Gal4-p53 was reduced by E2F-1 (Figure 4-6c, compare tracks 2 and 3).

It was important to determine the specificity of the effect of E2F-1 on p53. To this end, I studied whether E2F-1 caused a reduction in the activity of other transcription activation domains. A variety of activation domains were assessed as Gal4 fusion proteins including, of which the p53 activation domain was by far the most sensitive. Further, the inactivation of p53 was not caused through general effects, such as protein stability, because a hybrid protein in which the VP16 activation domain was fused to the wild-type p53 protein became far less sensitive to the effects of E2F-1 (Figure 4-6c, compare tracks 5 and 6 with 8 and 9).

### 4-3. Conclusion.

These data allow a number of important conclusions to be made. Thus, DP-1 can complex with p53 both *in vitro* and *in vivo*, and because both proteins are key regulators of cell cycle progression, these functional interactions are of potential



1

and the second of the second

. Sy

### Figure 4-6

### Regulation of p53 activity requires the E2F-1 and p53 activation domains.

なながらないがい、 うけいたい ひかいさい 小田田 さいか あんがい かかたいたい かたい

1.1.1.1.1.1

ころう こうにはない ちょうちょう あたい とうまん

a) The E2F reporter pDIIFR-luc was introduced into SAOS-2 cells together with expression vectors encoding E2F-1 (0.2  $\mu$ g; tracks 2 and 3) or E2F-1 $\Delta$ 413 (0.2  $\mu$ g; tracks 4 and 5) together with DP-1 (2  $\mu$ g; tracks 3 and 5). The data presented reflect averages from two sets of values. Throughout pCMV- $\beta$ gal was included in each transfection as an internal control, the relative activity of luciferase to  $\beta$ -galactosidase being presented.

b) The p53 reporter pTG13-GL was introduced into SAOS-2 cells together with expression vectors encoding E2F-1 (1  $\mu$ g in track 3, and 3  $\mu$ g in 4 and 7 ) or E2F-1  $\Delta$ 413 (1  $\mu$ g in tracks 5, and 3  $\mu$ g in tracks 4, 6 and 8 ). Values were calculated as described in (a).

c) Either the Gal4 reporter pG5-luc (1  $\mu$ g; tracks 1 to 3) or pTG13-GL (1  $\mu$ g; tracks 4 to 9) was introduced into SAOS-2 cells together with expression vectors encoding Gal4-p53 (1  $\mu$ g; tracks 2 and 3), p53 (1  $\mu$ g; tracks 5 and 6) or p53-VP16 (1  $\mu$ g; tracks 8 and 9) in the presence of E2F-1 (2  $\mu$ g; tracks 3, 6, and 9). The data presented reflect averages from two sets of values. pCMV- $\beta$ gal was included in each transfection as an internal control, and the relative activity of luciferase to  $\beta$ -galactosidase activity is presented.

importance in the overall control of the cell cycle. Furthermore, p53 interacts with and immunochemically distinct form of DP-1 and, further, this form of DP-1 is an infrequent component of E2F DNA-binding activity (Bandara *et al.*, 1994; Sørensen *et al.*, 1996), suggesting that p53 competes with E2F-1 for DP-1 with a consequent reduction in DNA-binding activity. These results suggest that p53 plays a regulatory role in the normal cell cycle by limiting E2F/DP transcriptional activity, possibly through pRb-dependent and -independent pathways. Conversely, p53-dependent transcriptional activity is also inhibited by the expression of E2F-1 and, moreover, the presence of pRb overcomes this effect. Interestingly, the regulation of p53 activity requires the E2F-1 and p53 *trans* activation domains. In normal cells, the transcriptional activity of p53 is believed to be regulated mainly at the protein level through its short half life. However, these results, combined with the evidence that the *trans* activation domains of E2F-1 and p53 were involved, imply that other cellular factors might be also involved in the regulation of p53 activity by competing with E2F-1 for a rate limiting transcription target.

「いたいたい

## Chapter 5. Cell cycle regulation and apoptosis by p53 and E2F-1/DP-1 through coactivator p300

### 5-1. Introduction.

A number of different lines of evidence indicated that the p300/CBP family of proteins function as pleiotrophic co-activators that facilitate activation by a wide variety of sequence-specific transcription factors that are involved in the cell cycle, differentiation, and signal transduction (Eckner *et al.*, 1994; Arany *et al.*, 1995; Lundblad *et al.*, 1995; Shikama *et al.*, 1997). Recent studies have shown that p300 is phosphorylated in a cell cycle dependent manner and is a substrate for cyclin dependent kinase (Yacink *et al.*, 1991; Wang *et al.*, 1993; Perkins *et al.*, 1997), suggesting that p300 is critical regulator of cell cycle control. In addition, it is known that p300/CBP proteins are targets for the adenovirus E1A and SV40 large T antigen oncoproteins (Eckner *et al.*, 1994; Arany *et al.*, 1995; Avantaggiati *et al.*, 1996). Interestingly, a common region of the T antigen is critical for binding both p300/CBP and p53 (Lill *et al.*, 1997), suggesting a link between the functions of p53 and p300.

计有关的 化解放试验剂 建生气的 化合成化合合物 化化合物

The results presented in chapter 4 raise the possibility that competition for a shared transcription target is responsible for the effect of E2F-1 on p53-dependent transcription. The potential identity of such a molecule was addressed by determining which proteins, when co-expressed with E2F-1 and p53, relieved the repression of p53 activity. Therefore, I focused on the understanding of functional interplay between p53 and E2F/DP through p300.

### 5-2. Results.

### 5-2.1. p300 relieves the inactivation of p53 by E2F-1.

Expression of the co-activator p300 (Shikama *et al.*, 1997), a molecule previously implicated in E2F-1 mediated transcriptional activation (Trouche *et al.*, 1996), effectively relieved the repression of p53 (Figure 5-1a, compare tracks 3, 4 and 5) and enhanced in p53-dependent transcription in the absence of E2F-1 (Figure 5-1a, compare tracks 3, 4, 5, 6 and 7). These data argue that p300 functions as a transcriptional co-activator for p53 and, further, suggest that a limiting level of p300 is in part responsible for the inactivating effect of E2F-1 on p53.

and the second second

To confirm that p300 can provide a co-activator function for E2F-1, the effect of p300 on E2F-1-dependent activity of *DHFR* promoter was assessed. As expected, co-expression of p300 enhanced transcriptional activity in an E2F-1-dependent fashion (Figure 5-1b, compare tracks 2 through 6). Thus, the combined conclusion from these studies suggested that p300 is a shared co-activator utilised by p53 and E2F-1 and therefore a likely target involved in mediating the effect on p53 by E2F-1. That co-expression of pRb relieved the effect of E2F-1 on p53 (Figure 4-5a) is consistent with this result since pRb inactivates the transcriptional activity of E2F-1 (Flemington *et al.*, 1993; Helin *et al.*, 1993), presumably causing the release of p300.

### 5-2.2. p300 physically associates with p53 and E2F-1.

Having established a functional relationship between p53 and p300, and E2F-1 and p300, I wished to determine if this was due to the physical interaction between each pair of proteins. To test this possibility, I used a p300 derivative,  $pG4-p300^{611-2284}$ , in which the region between amino acid residue 611 and 2284 is



----

。" "如果是一些是一些人的,我就是是不是是我们的,我们就是我们的,我们就是我们就是我们的。" "你们,你们们们的,你们,你们们,你们们,你们就是你们,你们们们,你

### Figure 5-1

# p300 rescues E2F-1 inactivated p53 and enhances the transcriptional activity of p53 and E2F-1.

్రామానికి సంస్థులు గారితాలు నీరితాలు ఆ కాత్రాయాలికు కారితో తారియో గారితాలు. గారి

に語る としょう きゅうがい たいがみ

a) The p53 reporter pTG13-GL was introduced into SAOS-2 cells together with expression vectors encoding p53 (1  $\mu$ g; tracks 2 to 9) in the presence of E2F-1 (2  $\mu$ g; tracks 3, 4 and 5) with p300 (2, 8 and 16  $\mu$ g in tracks 4, 5 and 6, and 7, 8 and 9 respectively). The data presented reflect averages from two sets of values. Throughout pCMV- $\beta$ gal was included within each transfection as an internal control, and the relative activity of luciferase to  $\beta$ -galactosidase presented.

b) The E2F reporter pDHFR-luc was introduced into SAOS-2 cells together with expression vectors encoding E2F-1 (0.2  $\mu$ g; tracks 2, 3 and 4) together with p300 (2 and 10  $\mu$ g in tracks 3 and 4, and 5 and 6 respectively). Values were calculated as described in (a).

fused to the Gal4 DNA-binding domain. I chose pG4-p $300^{611-2284}$  for these studies because it is efficiently expressed in a variety of mammalian cells. Extracts were prepared from U2OS cells expressing pG4-p $300^{611-2284}$  and the interaction between p53 and pG4-p $300^{611-2284}$  assessed using a binding assay where *in vitro* translated and radiolabelled p53 or the control luciferase was added to the U2OS cell extract and the association with p300 determined by immunoprecipitation using an anti-Gal4 antiserum (Figure 5-2a, compare tracks 5 and 6). An interaction between p53 and pG4-p $300^{611-2284}$  was detected but not between luciferase (Figure 5-2a, compare tracks 3 and 4), suggesting a specific association between p53 and p300. The detection of p53 in the immunoprecipitate was dependent upon immunoprecipitation since in the absence of the anti-Gal4 antiserum p53 was no longer apparent (Figure 5-2a, compare tracks 2 and 4).

To confirm that p300 and p53 can physically associate *in vivo*, I coexpressed G4-p $300^{611-2284}$  and p53 in U2OS cells, immunoprecipitated with anti-Gal4 followed by immunoblotting with anti-p53 monoclonal antibody 421. Again, p53 was specifically detected in the p300 immunocomplex (Figure 5-2b, compare tracks 2, 3 and 4) establishing that p300 and p53 can physically associate in mammalian cells. Furthermore, the immunoprecipitation was confirmed with antip53 antibody using the SAOS-2 cell extracts expressing wild-type p53 and either HA-tagged p $300^{611-1572}$  or HA-tagged p $300^{1572-2284}$  (Figure 5-2c). 2

Further evidence was obtained by taking a two-hybrid approach in U2OS cells in which G4-p $300^{611-2284}$ , which is transcriptionally inactive in these conditions, in contrast to full-length p300 as a Gal4 hybrid which is a very potent transcriptional activator, was used as the "bait" (Figure 5-2d, compare track 2 to 7). For the "prey", I fused wild-type p53 to VP16 which, when expressed with the p300 hybrid, caused a significant increase in the transcriptional activity of the reporter pG5-luc (Figure 5-2d, compare track 7 to 9). Transcription was dependent upon the hybrid p53-VP16 protein since neither p53 nor VP16 caused a similar increase (Figure 5-2d, compare tracks 8, 9 and 10).



c)





:

d)

### Figure 5-2

### p300 physically associates with p53.

a) The expression vector encoding G4-p $300^{611-2284}$  was introduced into U2OS cells and after 48h harvested as described. Either *in vitro* translated <sup>35</sup>S methionine-labelled luciferase (tracks 1 and 3) or p53 (tracks 2 and 4) was added to the extract, thereafter immunoprecipitated with the anti-Gal4 antiserum and further resolved by gcl electrophoresis. Tracks 5 and 6 show the input *in vitro* translates for luciferase (track 5) or p53 (track 6).

b) The expression vector encoding G4-p300<sup>611-2284</sup> (tracks 2, 3 and 4) together with either p53 (track 3) or p53-VP16 (track 4) was introduced into U2OS cells and after 48h immunoprecipitation performed with the anti-Gal4 antiserum (tracks 2, 3 and 4) followed by gel electrophoresis. Immunoblotting was performed with the p53 monoclonal antibody 421. Note that the common band present across tracks 2, 3 and 4 results from non-specific activity for the immunoglobulin used in the first immunoprecipitation which obscures the wild-type p53 polypeptide in track 3. Track 1 shows the standard molecular weight polypeptides. The p53-VP16 polypeptide is indicated.

c) The wild-type p53 expression vector together with either HA-tagged  $p300^{611-1572}$  or HA-tagged  $p300^{1572-2284}$ , designated as HA-p300 N or HA-p300 C respectively, was transfected into SAOS-2 cells and after 40h immunoprecipation performed with the antibody 421 followed by gel electrophoresis. Immunoblotting was performed with the anti-HA monoclonal antibody. Furthermore, immunoblotting analysis from same cell extracts, which were used in immunoprecipitation, was performed with either the anti-HA antibody or the antibody 421 to confirm the expression levels of each transfected plasmid.

d) Two-hybrid assay in U2OS cells where the Gal4 reporter pG5-luc was introduced together with expression vectors pG4 encoding either the Gal4 DNA binding domain (1 $\mu$ g; tracks 2, 3, 4 and 5) or pG4-p300<sup>611-2284</sup> (1 $\mu$ g; tracks 7, 8, 9 and 10) together with either wild-type p53 (5 $\mu$ g; tracks 3 and 8), p53-VP16 (5 $\mu$ g;

126

tracks 4 and 9) or VP16 (5µg; tracks 5 and 10). The data presented reflect averages from two sets of values. Throughout pCMV- $\beta$ gal was included within each transfection as an internal control, and the relative activity of luciferase to  $\beta$ -galactosidase presented.

Importantly, the effect of p53-VP16 required p300 protein sequence as there was no apparent effect on the Gal4 DNA-binding domain alone (Figure 5-2d, compare tracks 2 to 5). Similar data from the two-hybrid assay were observed in SAOS-2 cells.

An immunoprecipitation strategy was used to determine if E2F-1 and DP-1 associate with p300. After immunoprecipitating G4-p $300^{611-2284}$ , immunoblotting was performed with antisera against either E2F-1 or the haemagglutin (HA) epitope to detect the DP-1 protein. Both E2F-1 and DP-1 could associate with p300 since either protein co-immunoprecipitated with G4-p $300^{611-2284}$  (Figure 5-3a, compare tracks 1 through 3 and 5 through 7).

I confirmed the interaction by taking the two-hybrid approach in which G4p300<sup>611-2284</sup> was assessed for an interaction with GAD-E2F-1, a construct in which the Gal4 *trans* activation domain was fused to E2F-1. There was a significant increase in activity when pG4-p300<sup>611-2284</sup> and GAD-E2F-1 were expressed together (Figure 5-3b, compare tracks 6 and 8). The enhanced transcription was specific for the p300 (Figure 24b, compare tracks 4 and 8) and E2F-1 (Figure 5-3b, compare tracks 8 and 9) sequence in each hybrid protein. The overall conclusion from the biochemical and two-hybrid based assays strongly suggests that p53 and E2F-1 can form a stable physical complex with p300.

To confirm the interpretation from the earlier experiments, namely, that the *trans* activation domain of p53 and E2F-1 is a target for p300, I studied in the twohybrid assay the interaction between a mutant p53 protein which lacked the aminoterminal *trans* activation domain, p53 $\Delta$ 159-VP16, and a mutant E2F-1 protein which lacked the carboxy-terminal *trans* activation domain, E2F-1 $\Delta$ 413-VP16. Neither of the mutant hybrid proteins were capable of interacting with pG4-p300<sup>611-2284</sup> compared to the wild-type hybrid protein (Figure 5-3c, compare tracks 3 and 4, and 5 and 6); similar two-hybrid assay results were obtained from SAOS-2 cells. Thus, I conclude that the interaction of p300 with either p53 or E2F-1 is mediated through binding to the *trans* activation domain.



### Figure 5-3

### p300 physically associates with E2F-1 and DP-1.

a) The expression vector encoding G4-p $300^{611-2284}$  (20 µg; tracks 1, 2, 3, 5, 6 and 7) together with either E2F-1 (20 µg; tracks 1 and 5) or HA-DP-1 (20 µg; tracks 2 and 6) were introduced into U2OS cells and after 48h immunoprecipitation performed with the anti-Gal4 antiserum followed by gel electrophoresis. Immunoblotting was performed with either anti-E2F-1 (tracks 1 through 4) or anti-HA (tracks 5 through 8) as described in Materials and Methods. Note that the common band present across tracks 1 to 3, and 5 to 7, results for non specific activity for the immunoglobulin used in the immunoprecipitation. 144

ايل الجنيعين

b) Two-hybrid assay in U2OS cells where the Gal4 reporter pG5-luc was introduced together with expression vectors pG4 (1  $\mu$ g; tracks 2, 3,4 and 5) or pG4p300<sup>611-2284</sup> (1  $\mu$ g; tracks 6, 7, 8 and 9) together with either wild-type E2F-1 (5  $\mu$ g; tracks 3 and 7), pGAD-E2F-1 (5  $\mu$ g; tracks 4 and 8) or GAD (5  $\mu$ g; tracks 5 and 9). The data presented reflect averages from two sets of values. Throughout pCMV- $\beta$ gał was included within each transfection as an internal control, and the relative activity of luciferase to  $\beta$ -galactosidase presented.

c) Two-hybrid assay in U2OS cells where the reporter pG5-luc was introduced together with expression vectors for pG4-p300<sup>611-2284</sup> (1µg; tracks 2 through 6), p53-VP16 (5µg; track 3), p53 $\Delta$ 159-VP16 (5µg; track 4), E2F-1-VP16 (5µg; track 5) or E2F-1 $\Delta$ 413-VP16 (5µg; track 6). The data presented reflect averages from two sets of values, and throughout pCMV- $\beta$ gal was included as an internal control.

# 5-2.3. p21<sup>Waf1/Cip1</sup> enhances p53-dependent transcription by the regulating the p53/p300 interaction.

いたので、「ないないない」では、このでは、このでは、このでは、このではない。

8

The *Waf1/Cip1* gene is transcriptionally activated by p53, containing functional p53 binding sites within its transcriptional control region (El-Deiry *et al.*, 1993; Macleod *et al.*, 1995). It was of interest to test the idea that  $p21^{Waf1/Cip1}$  may act in an autoregulatory fashion upon the p53/p300 interaction and thereby stimulate transcription. To assess this possibility, I used the two-hybrid assay between G4-p300<sup>611-2284</sup> and p53-VP16 (Figure 5-4a). Under conditions in which there was a clear interaction between G4-p300<sup>611-2284</sup> and p53-VP16 (Figure 5-4a). Under conditions in which there was a clear interaction between G4-p300<sup>611-2284</sup> and p53-VP16 (Figure 5-4a, compare tracks 2 and 3), the levels of  $p21^{Waf1/Cip1}$  were titrated and effects on transcription measured. As the level of  $p21^{Waf1/Cip1}$  increased, there was a concomitant increase in the transcriptional activity of the pG5-reporter (Figure 5-4a, compare tracks 3, 4, 5 and 6). The effect of  $p21^{Waf1/Cip1}$  was dependent upon the co-expression of p300 and p53 because there was only a marginal effect on G4-p300<sup>611-2284</sup> by  $p21^{Waf1/Cip1}$  (Figure 5-4a, compare track 2 with 7, 8 and 9). These data indicate that co-expression of  $p21^{Waf1/Cip1}$  enhances the activity of the p53/p300 interaction.

The conclusion that  $p21^{Wafl/Cip1}$  enhances the interaction between p53 and p300 rests on the results from the two-hybrid assay. Therefore, it was necessary to demonstrate the effect of  $p21^{Wafl/Cip1}$  on the activity of transcriptionally active wild-type p53. Increasing levels of  $p21^{Wafl/Cip1}$  were introduced together with wild-type p53 and p53-dependent transcription assayed. In the presence of  $p21^{Wafl/Cip1}$  there was a marked stimulation of p53 transcriptional activity (Figure 5-4b, compare tracks 2, 3, 4 and 5), an effect dependent upon the presence of wild-type p53 (Figure 5-4b, compare tracks 1 with 6, 7 and 8). I conclude that the expression of  $p21^{Wafl/Cip1}$  causes an increase in the transcriptional activity of wild-type p53, and that a likely mechanism based on the earlier results is through potentiating the activity of the p53/p300 co-activator complex.



b)

「キャーの変換の「ほん」になったない。 しいがく ちゅうしゅう

# a)

### Figure 5-4

# p21<sup>WafI/Cip1</sup> enhances the activity of the p53/p300 complex and p53-dependent transcription.

16.8

たい さいれい 二寸 アン

ł

1

a) Two-hybrid assay in SAOS-2 cells where the Gal4 reporter pG5-luc was introduced together with pG4-p300<sup>611-2284</sup> (1 µg; tracks 2 through 9) and p53-VP16 (5 µg; tracks 3 through 6) in the presence and increasing levels of p21<sup>*Waf1/Cip1*</sup> (1 µg in tracks 4 and 7, 5 µg in tracks 5 and 8 and 10 µg in tracks 6 and 9. The data presented reflect averages from two sets of values. Throughout pCMV- $\beta$ gal was included within each transfection as the internal control, and the relative activity of luciferase to  $\beta$ -galactosidase presented.

b) The p53 reporter pTG13-GL was introduced into SAOS-2 cells together with expression vectors encoding p53 (1  $\mu$ g; tracks 2 to 5) in the presence of increasing levels of p21<sup>*Waf1/Cip1*</sup> (1  $\mu$ g in tracks 3 and 6, 5 mg in tracks 4 and 7 and 10  $\mu$ g in tracks 5 and 8). Values were calculated as described in a).

### 5-2.4. CH3 domain in p300 interact with p53.

To identify the region in p300 that physically interacts with p53, a panel of hybrid proteins were prepared in which different domains of p300 were fused to the Gal4 DNA-binding domain and co-expressed with the hybrid protein p53-VP16 (Figure 5-5a). The p53 interaction domain mapped to the carboxy-terminal region of p300, specifically within the sequence from residue 1572 to 1903, since co-expression of pG4-p300<sup>1572-1903</sup> with p53-VP16 caused a 6-fold induction of transcription (Figure 5-5a). A similar level of induction was apparent with pG4-p300<sup>1572-2284</sup> but not for pG4-p300<sup>611-1257</sup> or pG4-p300<sup>1302-1572</sup> (Figure 5-5a). Furthermore, in these conditions, all Gal4-p300 hybrid proteins expressed at similar level (Figure 5-5b). Thus, p300 contains a carboxy-terminal domain which is dedicated to a functional interaction with p53. Significantly, this region in p300 is known to bind to the E1A protein (Eckner *et al.*, 1996), suggesting that a competitive mechanisms may account for the inactivation of p53-dependent transcription by E1A through the sequestration of p300.

96j 11

大学 にんていたい いたおく ちゃいかい

### 5-2.5. p300 is required for the activation of Waf1/Cip1.

To investigate the role of p300 in the regulation of cellular genes, 1 used the p53-responsive promoter taken from Waf1/Cip1 (El-Deiry *et al.*, 1993). The expression of the adenovirus E1A protein in U2OS cells expressing endogenous p53 and p300 caused a significant reduction in the transcriptional activity of p53 (Figure 5-6a, compare tracks 1 and 2), consistent with the ability of E1A to sequester the endogenous of p300 (Arany *et al.*, 1995). In contrast, a mutant E1A protein that lacks the amino-terminal p300 binding domain (Stein *et al.*, 1990; Arany *et al.*, 1995) failed to reduce the transcriptional activity of Waf1/Cip1 (Figure 5-6a, compare tracks 1 and 3), consistent with a role for p300 in regulating the



a)



q

### Figure 5-5

# Region of p300 required for the interaction with the *trans* activation domain of p53.

Sec. Sec. Prov.

್ರಾಂಗ್ ಕೆಚ್ಚಾನಿ ಎಂ. ಇಂತರ ಸೇವಿ ಸೇವಿಗಳು

行きたいのいでん

a) Diagrammatic representation of the functional region of p300 is shown in left side. The three cysteine/histidine-rich domain (CH1, CH2 and CH3) were indicated as shaded box. Each Gal4-p300 fusion plasmid (1µg) was transfected with or without p53-VP16 (4µg) into SAOS-2 cells. pCMV- $\beta$ gal (2µg) was included in each transfection as an internal control. Cells were assayed for luciferase and  $\beta$ -gal activity 32~36h after transfection. The experiment were performed twice, and the results shown represent the average from two sets of value.

b) The expression of Gal4-p300 protein in transiently transfected SAOS-2 cells was determined by immunoblotting with anti-Gal4 monoclonal antibody. The arrows indicate Gal4-p300 hybrid proteins.







# ション・ション・ションは、我にはたいでは、ないないないないないであるよう、 いい、 いいへいい Ì

### Figure 5-6

p300 is required for the activation of p53 target genes.

a) Effect of endogenous p300 on p53 transcriptional activity by adenovirus E1A.  $2\mu$ g of each reporter plasmid, pWWP-luc or pTG13-luc, was transfected together with either pCMV-E1A wild-type or pCMV-E1A  $\Delta$ 2-36 (0.5µg) into U2OS cells expressing endogenous p53 and p300. pCMV-βgal (1.5µg) was included in each transfection as an internal control. Cells were assayed for luciferase and β-gal activity 36~40h after transfection. The experiments were performed at least three times, and the results shown represent the average from two sets of value.

b) Inhibition of p53 transcription by the dominant negative mutant of p300. Expression plasmid encoding  $p300^{1572-1903}$  with increasing amounts (2µg in tracks 2 and 6, 6µg in tracks 3 and 7, and 12µg in tracks 4 and 8) was transfected with either 2µg of pTG13-luc or pT-luc (the backbone reporter plasmid of pTG13-luc) into U2OS cells.

transcription of *Waf1/Cip1*. This result was confirmed with pTG13-GL containing the 13 copies of synthetic p53 binding site originally taken from  $p21^{Waf1/Cip1}$ promoter in same experiment condition (Figure 5-6a, compare tracks 4, 5 and 6), suggesting that p300 plays a significant role in regulating the transcriptional activity of *Waf1/Cip1*. ar and the state of the

To gain more information on the co-activator properties of p300 for p53dependent transcription, I used p300<sup>1572-1903</sup> which contains the minimal regions of p53 binding and behaves in a fashion expected for a dominant-negative version of p300 (Figure 5-5b). This molecule might prevent the activation of p53-regulated promoters by interfering with complex formation between endogenous p53 and p300. The over-expression of p300<sup>1572-1903</sup> clearly inhibited the transcriptional activity of p53 in U2OS cells (Figure 5-6b, compare tracks 1 through 4), since this effect was no longer apparent with pT-luc, which was used as a control reporter containing only a minimal *tk* promoter placed upstream of the *luciferase* (Figure 5-6b, compare tracks 5 through 8). These results suggest that p300<sup>1572-1903</sup> likely acts by competing with endogenous p300 for p53, and further that p300 is a crucial component of the p53 response.

### 5-2.6. Physiological consequences of p300 interacting with p53 and E2F.

The induction of transcription of the gene encoding  $p21^{Waf1/Cip1}$  by p53 correlates with cell cycle arrest by p53 (Chen *et al.*, 1996; El-Deiry *et al.*, 1993; Macleod *et al.*, 1995) and the expression of  $p21^{Waf1/Cip1}$  is sufficient to prevent cell cycle progression (Dulic *et al.*, 1994; Waldman *et al.*, 1995). It was reasoned that the ability of p300 to interact with and enhance the transcriptional activity of p53 may facilitate cell cycle arrest.

To test this idea, I introduced p53 into asynchronous cultures of SAOS-2 cells and monitored the proportion of transfected cells in G1, S and G2/M, both in
the presence and absence of co-expressed p300 (Figure 5-7a). Transfected cells were identified by the expression of the cell surface protein CD20 and subsequent staining with an anti-CD20 monoclonal antibody, and the percentage of cells in each phase of the cell cycle was measured after treatment with propidium iodide.

「「「「「「「」」」」をなるないで、「「」」」をいったので、「「」」」をいった。

的题

I performed the flow cytometry experiments in SAOS-2 where the introduction of p53 caused an accummulation of cells in G1, usually resulting in a significant increase in G1 population (Figure 5-7a); similar results were obtained in U2OS and 3T3 cells. Under these conditions p300 was expressed either alone or together with p53. When p300 was co-expressed with p53 there was a marked increase in the proportion of cells in G1, compared to p53 alone (Figure 5-7a and summarised in Table 5-1); p300 had little effect in the absence of p53. I conclude that p300 can facilitate cell cycle arrest by p53, and that a possible mechanism involves increased transcription of p53 target genes, such as the Wafl/Cip1 gene, as a result of p300 enhancing the transcriptional activity of p53.

Next, the role of p300 in apoptosis was explored. For this, I used SAOS-2 or U2OS cells that had been cultured in serum starvation conditions, conditions that favour apoptosis (White, 1996). The data presented were derived from SAOS-2 cells, although very similar results were obtained from U2OS cells. Two assays were used to measure the level of apoptotic cells, namely TUNEL and flow cytometry (cells with sub-genomic levels of DNA). Data derived from TUNEL assays are shown (Figure 5-7b and summarised in Table 5-2), similar conclusions being made from the other assay (Figure 5-7a). In SAOS-2 cells, the introduction of wild-type p53 caused a significant level of apoptosis (Figure 5-7b and Table 5-2) consistant with previous reports (Chen *et al.*, 1996; Rowan et al., 1996). When p300 was assessed in the same cells, little difference was apparent from the untreated cells. Unexpectedly, the introduction of p53 together with p300 failed to increase the proportion of apoptosing cells but reduced this effect (Table 5-2). Thus, the binding of p300 to p53 in these experimental conditions appears to favour p53-mediated G1 arrest rather than apoptosis.

a)



10% serum

0.2% serum



q

# ,如此是是一个人的,我们也能是一个人的。""你们,我们就是一个人,我们不会有什么?""你们,你们就是一个人,你们的你?""你说,你们不是一个,你们就是你的,你们就

### Figure 5-7

### Effect of p300 on cell cycle arrest and apoptosis.

a) Flow cytometry was performed on asynchronous cultures of SAOS-2 cells transfected with the CD20 expression vector (10  $\mu$ g) together with p53 alone or p53 and p300 together. 15  $\mu$ g of each expression vector was introduced, the total amount of DNA for each treatment being equivalent and made up with empty vector (pcDNA3). Transfected cells were grown in either 10% (left panels) or 0.2% (right panels) foetal bovine serum and identified by staining with anti-CD20 and the cell cycle profile was assessed by staining with propidium iodide. The level of cell cycle arrest for each treatment is summarised in Table 5-1.

b) The effect of p300 on p53-dependent and independent apoptosis was assessed in both SAOS-2 and U2OS cells transfected in conditions of serum starvation (see Materials and Methods) as indicated with  $4\mu g$  of p53 and/or E2F-1 expression vector in the absence or presence of the p300 expression vector, the total amount being made up with empty vector. Results for SAOS-2 cells are shown when assayed by TUNEL (left hand side of each treatment) and, for comparison, a DAPI stain of the same field of cells. The level of apoptosis for each treatment is summarised in Table 5-2.

		% change *	
Treatment	G1	S	G2/M
p300	-2.9±0.2	7.3±2.7	4.1±1.1
p53	19.0±3.0	-47.7±2.0	-18.6±1.7
р53 + р300	38.1±4.5	-62.3±5.4	-50.4±7.6

Table 5-1. Effect of p300 on p53-mediated cell cycle arrest.

A summary of the level of growth arrest caused by each treatment in SAOS-2 cells. The data shown represent the average of three different readings from the same treatment.

\* The percentage change compared to the control treatment (CD 20 expression vector alone) is shown.

Treatment	Perc (	ent apoptotic cells FUNEL/DAPI)	
	Exp 1	Exp 2	Exp 3
-	1.6(%)	<b>2.8</b> (%)	2.0(%)
p300	2.2	2.9	2.5
p53	17.1	18.5	11.8
p53/p300	11.8	16.6	10.1
E2F-1	7.5	-	6.8
E2F-1/p300	19.6	n.	14.2
p53/E2F-1	29.2	-	21.2
p53/E2F-1/p300	23.6	-	-

Table 5-2. Effect of p300 on apoptosis.

A summary of the level of apoptosis caused by each treatment in SAOS-2 cells. The percentage of apoptotic cells was determined by counting the number of TUNEL positive cells compared to the total cells examined from DAPI staining. The values indicated represent the average of readings made on three separate coverslips from the same treatment in which about 10 different fields for each coverslip were assessed. The expression of transfected plasmids was confirmed and the transfection efficiency established by indirect immunofluorescence. I went on to study the effect of E2F-1 in SAOS-2 cells. As it was shown previously (Hass-Kogan *et al.*, 1995; Krek *et al.*, 1995; Shan *et al.*, 1996), E2F-1 when expressed alone caused significant levels of apoptosis (Figures 3-2 and 5-7b and Table 5-2) indicating that the apoptotic activity of E2F-1 is independent of p53. In these conditions, the apoptotic activity of E2F-1 was enhanced by p300 (Figure 5-7b and Table 5-2), in contrast to the effect of p300 on p53 where it increased the efficiency of p53-dependent cell cycle arrest. Further, a clear stimulation in the proportion of apoptotic cells was apparent when E2F-1 and p53 were expressed together (Figure 5-7b and Table 5-2), a result which corroborates earlier reports (Qin *et al.*, 1994; Wu and Levine , 1994). That limiting levels of p300 may inpart be responsible for this enhanced apoptosis was suggested from introducing p300 into cells undergoing E2F-1/p53-dependent apoptosis, upon which the level of apoptosis was significantly reduced (Figure 5-7b and Table 5-2). Interestingly, this observation indicates that the binding of p300 to p53 favours p53-mediated cell cycle arrest whilst the binding of p300 to E2F-1 favours apoptosis. the second state of the second se

A Press of the second of the

1.00

### 5-3. Conclusion.

The p300 protein, which possesses the properties of a transcriptional coactivator and is involved in regulating the activity of a variety of sequence specific transcription factors (Shikama *et al.*, 1997), overcame the down-regulation of p53 and, moreover, enhanced the activity of both E2F-1 and p53-dependent transcription, an effect dependent on a physical association between the *trans* activation domain of each protein and p300. Furthermore, I showed that the cdkinhibitor  $p21^{Waf1/Cip1}$  autoregulates in a positive fashion transcription through modulating the activity of the p53/p300 complex, whilst negatively regulating the activity of E2F by preventing cdk-dependent phosphorylation of pRb. My conclusions relating to the biological significance of the interaction between p53 and p300 suggested that p300 augments the ability of p53 to cause G1 arrest in consistent with a role for p300 as a p53 co-activator in the transcription of *Waf1/Cip1*. In addition, I also demonstrated that p300, which also functions as a co-activator for E2F/DP heterodimer, enhances the E2F-1-induced apoptotic activity. Thus, a functional interaction between p300 either p53 or E2F-1 has a profound impact on early cell cycle progression, specifically in regulating the contrasting outcomes of cell cycle arrest and apoptosis. These results suggest a critical role for p300 in integrating and co-ordinating the functional interplay between the pathways of growth control mediated by E2F and p53.

# JMY, a new co-activator for p300, regulates the p53 response.

And the second second

1日の意味を見ているのでのないのでの

a service and a service of

### 6-1. Introduction.

To elucidate the mechanisms of transcriptional activation by p300/CBP, it is possible that additional control may be exerted through proteins that physically interact with and regulate the activity of p300/CBP. Using yeast two-hybrid with pLexA-p300<sup>611-2284</sup>, Shikama *et al.* (1998) screened and identified a new p300 binding protein, called JMY (junction-mediating and regulatory protein). The sequence of JMY possesses a number of interesting features, such as a cluster of potential phosphorylation sites for S/T-P directed kinases including three consensus sites for cyclin-dependent kinases in the amino-terminal region, a central region which contains a motif that resembles conserved region 2 (CR2) in the adenovirus E1A protein, and a carboxy-terminal domain rich in proline residues (Figure 6-1). In this study, I explored several aspects of JMY biochemistry and function.

### 6-2. Results.

### 6-2.1. JMY forms a physical complex with p300.

To determine whether p300 and JMY can interact in mammalian cclls, I cotransfected expression plasmids encoding pG-p300<sup>611-2284</sup> and HA-JMY in U2OS cells, immunoprecipitation with anti-Gal4 monoclonal antibody followed by immunoblotting with anti-HA monoclonal antibody (Figure 6-2a).



### Diagrammatic summary of functional domains in JMY

The primary amino acid sequence of JMY (983 amino acid residues). The S/T-P motifs in the amino-terminal region are underlined and the central p300 binding domain in JMY (from residue 469 to 558) is highlighted in small box. The hydrophobic residues that conform to a heptad leucine-rich repeat and the adenovirus E1A CR2-like motif, EVQFEILKCEE, are indicated in central region (residues in bold being conserved in E1A CR2). The proline-rich region is highlighted in carboxy-terminal.

The 110kDa JMY polypeptide was detected in the p300 immunoprecipitation but not in the control treatment (Figure 6-2a, compare tracks 1 and 2), confirming that the interaction between the two proteins can occur in mammalian cells.

As the previous experiments were performed with cells expressing exogenous protein, I assessed whether endogenous JMY and p300 could associate in physiological conditions. For this, I used HeLa cells, which contain significant levels of the JMY polypeptide (Figure 6-2b), and determined whether JMY coimmunoprecipitated with p300. The endogenous JMY polypeptide could be detected in immunoprecipitates with endogenous p300 (Figure 6-2b), supporting the view that JMY and p300 associate in physiological conditions. Thus, JMY and p300 exist as a complex in mammalian cells.

### 6-2.2. Two domains in p300 interact with JMY.

The region in p300 that is responsible for the interaction with JMY was determined using a mammalian two-hybrid assay and a panel of p300 deletion mutants fused to the Gal4 DNA binding domain (Figure 6-3). The interaction between JMY and p300 occurred with two regions in p300, one encompassed within residues 611 to 1257, and the other within 1572 to 2284, because when JMY-VP16 was co-expressed with either G4-p300<sup>611-1257</sup> or G4-p300<sup>1572-2284</sup> the transcriptional activity of the reporter pG5-luc was far more efficient than that observed in the presence of the bait alone (Figure 6-3). Notably, although the intrinsic activity of G4-p300<sup>1572-2284</sup> was considerably greater than G4-p300<sup>611-1257</sup>, the induction of activity by JMY-VP16 was similar, about 6-fold for either p300 derivative (Figure 6-3). Other regions of p300, such as residues 1302 to 1572, failed to interact with JMY-VP16 (Figure 6-3).



(10) (10)

b)

İ



a)

### JMY interacts with p300.

a) Co-immunoprecipitation of JMY and p300 from U2OS cells transfected with pG4 (30 $\mu$ g; track 1) or pG4-p300<sup>611-2284</sup> (30 $\mu$ g; track 2) together with pCMV-HA-JMY (30 $\mu$ g; tracks 1 and 2) as described. After extraction, immunoprecipitation was performed with anti-Gal4 monoclonal antibody followed by immunoblotting with anti-HA monoclonal antibody; the cell extract alone is shown in track 3. In tracks 4 and 5, the cell extract was immunoblotted with an anti-peptide JMY antibody in the absence (track 4) or presence (track 5) of competing homologous peptide. The JMY 110kDa polypeptide is indicated.

b) Immunoprecipitation of JMY with p300 was performed from HeLa cell extracts with the control anti-IIA monoclonal antibody 12CA5 (track 1) or the antip300 monoclonal antibody Ab-1 (track 2) and thereafter immunoblotted with an anti-peptide JMY antiserum. Track 3 indicates the JMY polypeptide in the HeLa cell nuclear extract.



### JMY interacts with two domains in p300.

Two-hybrid assay in mammalian cells: the indicated pG4-p300 expression vectors (1µg) were introduced into U2OS cells either alone or together with pVP16-JMY<sup>469-558</sup> (5µg) and the reporter pG5-luc. The data shown represent the relative activity of luciferase to  $\beta$ -galactosidase and are the average of two treatments. Note that the activity of both pG4-p300<sup>611-1257</sup> and pG4-p300<sup>1572-2284</sup> undergoes a 6-fold increase in the presence of pVP16-JMY<sup>469-558</sup>.

12

ţ

Sec. No. 4

ان 1997 1992

### 6-2.3. JMX possesses the properties of a transcriptional co-activator.

A STATE OF S

stration and survey

1. 1. P. N.

والمناقبة والمناقبة

二、後期一部一部一部一部一部一部一部一部一部一部一部

Not a subserve and strate and stra

Next, the possibility that JMY possesses the properties of a transcriptional regulator was examined by studying the effect of JMY on p53, a transcription factor which is a known target for p300/CBP proteins (Lill *et al.*, 1997; Gu *et al.*, 1997; Avantaggiati *et al.*, 1997; Lee *et al.*, 1998). The transcriptional activity of p53 was assayed on the promoter taken from *bax* which encodes a protein that facilitates apoptosis and responds to p53 (Miyashita and Reed, 1995; Friedlander *et al.*, 1996). The *bax* promoter was efficiently induced in the presence of exogenous p53 in SAOS-2 cells (Figure 6-4a). p53-dependent transcription was increased by the co-expression of JMY, and a further enhancement occurred when p300 was co-expressed with JMY (Figure 6-4a). The stimulation of transcription by JMY and p300 was dependent upon the integrity of the amino terminal *trans* activation domain, as a p53 derivative containing an inactive *trans* activation domain, p53<sup>22/23</sup> (Lin *et al.*, 1994), was unresponsive to p300 and JMY (Figure 6-4a).

I obtained additional information on the co-activator properties of JMY by studying the effects of a truncated p300 molecule, namely  $p300^{1572-1903}$ , which behaves in a fashion expected for a dominant-negative effect (Figures 5-5, 5-6b and 6-4b). To study the influence of  $p300^{1572-1903}$  on JMY, I employed the *bax* promoter where  $p300^{1572-1903}$  caused a significant reduction in activity (Figure 6-4b, compare tracks 2 to 6 and 7). In conditions where JMY stimulated p53-dependent transcription the introduction of  $p300^{1572-1903}$  caused a significant reduction in p53-dependent transcription (Figure 6-4b), thus supporting a requirement for p300 in transcriptional activation for JMY.

The data shown in Figure 6-4a support the idea that p300 and JMY increase the transcriptional activity of p53. However, it was possible that this occurred through altered protein levels. To assess this possibility, I measured p53, p300 and JMY in conditions where all three proteins were co-expressed.

157



Section Section 1971年1月1日の日本の日本の日本の日本

# . 1 ÷ いっちょうき けい ほしゅうこ ł ...

### Figure 6-4

### JMY possesses the properties of a co-activator for p53.

a) The p53 reporter pBax-luc (0.5µg) together with expression vectors for wildtype p53 (0.05µg) or p53<sup>22/23</sup> (0.05µg), together with JMY (5µg) or p300 (2.5µg) were transfected into SAOS-2 cells as indicated. The values shown are the average of duplicate readings and represent the relative level of luciferase to the  $\beta$ -galactosidase activity from the internal control.

b) The p53 reporter pBax-luc (1µg) together with expression vectors for wildtype p53 (0.1µg), JMY (6µg) or p300<sup>1572-1903</sup> (2 or 6µg) were transfected into SAOS-2 cells as indicated. The values shown represent the average of duplicate readings and represent the relative level of luciferase to the  $\beta$ -galactosidase activity from the internal control. Significantly, co-expression of either p300 or JMY failed to affect the level of p53 protein since by immunoblotting p53 was constant in conditions of increasing JMY or p300 concentration (Figure 6-5). A similar analysis on the levels of both p300 and JMY proteins indicated that, like p53, p300 and JMY levels were not affected by the co-expression of each other or p53 (Figure 6-6). These data therefore indicate that JMY possesses the properties of a co-activator and suggest that it acts together with p300/CBP proteins in facilitating transcriptional activation by p53.

こうとうと、「ないない」を、「ない」をなるのできるときで、「なっていた」というという。 いいしい

ţ,

- 57

1. 13 V.

- 一方方は「大学が信仰」を引起するとなるのでは、「読ん」です。 ないたいでん アイド・ディー・デ

and the second 
Since in the conditions of the assay co-expression of p300 and JMY efficiently stimulated the activity of *bax* promoter, I tried to detect the levels of endogenous Bax protein. Importantly, the expression of JMY and p300 was sufficient to increase the activity of endogenous genes as co-expression of JMY and p300 with p53 in SAOS-2 cells caused an increase in the level of the Bax protein (Figure 6-7), which was not apparent when p300 was expressed alone.

The co-activator properties of JMY were assessed on other p53-responsive promoters, namely those taken from the *gadd45* (Kastan *et al.*, 1992; Chen *et al.*, 1995), *mdm2* (Momand *et al.*, 1992; Juven *et al.*, 1993) and *Waf1/Cip1* genes (El-Deiry *et al.*, 1993). In SAOS-2 cells, co-expression of JMY and p300 increased the activity of the *gadd45* and *Waf1/Cip1* promoters, in a similar fashion to JMY and p300 on the *bax* promoter, the effect being greater when they were expressed together (Figure 6-8). In contrast, neither exogenous JMY nor p300 could augment the activity of the *mdm2* promoter (Figure 6-8). These results strengthen the conclusion that JMY possesses the properties of a co-activator and, furthermore, imply that JMY preferentially activates some p53 target genes.

### 6-2.4. JMY regulates p53-dependent apoptosis.

To explore the biological consequence of co-activation by JMY, I evaluated the effect of JMY on wild-type p53 activity which, when induced by genotoxic



### The protein expression level of p53 by p300 or JMY.

To assess the level of p53, expression vectors for wild-type p53 ( $0.3\mu g$ ), JMY (1, 3 or  $6\mu g$ ) or p300 (1, 6 or  $12\mu g$ ) were transfected either alone or together as indicated into SAOS-2 cells. Extracts from control or transfected cells were prepared and immunoblotted for p53 as described. The p53 polypeptide is indicated.



C)



### Levels of p300 and JMY

To assess the levels of p300 and JMY, expression vectors encoding p53 (0.3 $\mu$ g), JMY (1, 3 and 6 $\mu$ g in a), or 1 and 3 $\mu$ g in b)) or Gal4-p300 (1, 6 and 12 $\mu$ g in a), or 1 and 6 $\mu$ g in b)) were transfected into SAOS-2 cells as described. Extracts were prepared and in a) inumunoblotted with an anti-Gal4 monoclonal antibody. In b), extracts were firstly immunoprecipitated with the anti-Gal4 monoclonal antibody and thereafter immunoblotted with anti-p300. The vector encoding Gal4-p300 contains the complete p300 protein. In c), expression vectors encoding p53 (0.3 $\mu$ g), JMY (1, 3 and 6 $\mu$ g) or p300 (1, 6 and 12 $\mu$ g) were transfected into SAOS-2 cells as described. Extracts as described. Extracts were prepared and immunoblotted with an anti-Gal4 monoclonal antibody and thereafter immunoblotted with anti-p300. The vector encoding Gal4-p300 contains the complete p300 protein. In c), expression vectors encoding p53 (0.3 $\mu$ g), JMY (1, 3 and 6 $\mu$ g) or p300 (1, 6 and 12 $\mu$ g) were transfected into SAOS-2 cells as described. Extracts were prepared and immunoblotted with an anti-JMY peptide antiserum.



### Induction of Bax protein by p300/JMY.

To assess the induction of endogenous Bax protein, expression vectors for wild-type p53 (10 $\mu$ g) with or without JMY (40 $\mu$ g) and p300 (40 $\mu$ g) were transfected as indicated into SAOS-2 cells. Extracts from transfected cells were prepared and immunoblotted for Bax and p53 as described. The Bax (upper panel) and p53 (lower panel) polypeptides are indicated.

stress can, in some circumstances, cause apoptosis (Crook *et al.*, 1994; Miyashita and Reed, 1995; Sabbatini *et al.*, 1995; Ko and Prives, 1996). For this analysis I used SAOS-2 cells which become sensitive to apoptosis upon the introduction of wild-type p53 (Chen *et al.*, 1996; Lee *et al.*, 1998). Although apoptosis was evident with p53 alone, co-expression of JMY with p53 significantly enhanced the level of cell death which was not apparent in the absence of p53, indicating that the process is dependent upon p53 (Figures 6-9a and 6-9b and Table 6-1). In contrast, however, in the same conditions p300 failed to affect the apoptotic activity of p53, although the level of apoptosis was significantly greater when JMY and p300 were co-expressed (Figure 6-9b and Table 6-1). Thus, in a similar fashion to its effects on transcription, JMY can augment p53-dependent apoptosis, and the induction of p53-dependent apoptosis caused by JMY can be enhanced by p300.

一時四日子,就是是福行之前已,就在了一年日

÷,

and the state of the second

### 6-3. Conclusion.

p300/CBP transcriptional co-activators have been demonstrated to interact with a variety of sequence-specific transcription factors (Shikama *et al.*, 1997), and in many cases act to nucleate the assembly of a multi-component co-activator complex that co-ordinates and integrates diverse signals with gene expression (Korzus *et al.*, 1998; Kurokawa *et al.*, 1998). From the data presented here, I conclude that JMY, a newly identified 110kDa polypeptides, forms a physical complex with p300 *in vivo*. By analysing the effects of JMY and p300 on p53, I have obtained data to support the conclusion that p300 and JMY together can effect the transcriptional activation of known target genes, such as *bax*. Moreover, the data also showed that JMY and p300 functionally co-operate promoting p53-dependent apoptosis, a result consistent with a contribution by the p53 *trans* activation domain to apoptosis (Sabbatini *et al.*, 1995; Friedlander *et al.*, 1996; Ko and Prives, 1996)



### JMY has selective effects on p53-target genes.

The p53 reporters pBax-luc, pGADD45-luc, pMDM2-luc or pWWP-luc  $(1.0\mu g)$  together with expression vectors for wild-type p53  $(0.05\mu g)$ , p300  $(2.5\mu g)$  or JMY  $(5\mu g)$  were transfected into SAOS-2 cells as indicated. The values shown represent the average of duplicate readings and represent the relative level of luciferase to the  $\beta$ -galactosidase activity from the internal control.



+p53

p53+JMY:

# ġ 4 e.

### Figure 6-9

### JMY augments p53-dependent apoptosis.

a) Expression vectors for p53 either alone (i and ii) or together with JMY (iii and iv) were introduced into SAOS-2 cells as described. Cells were fixed and treated with the anti-p53 monoclonal antibody 421 (i and iii) or assayed for the level of apoptosis by TUNEL (ii and iv); i and ii, and iii and iv, show respectively the same field of cells assayed for p53 and by TUNEL.

b) Quantitative comparison of the effect on apoptosis in SAOS-2 cells caused by JMY, p300 or both in the presence or absence of p53. On the left side, the percentage of p53-positive (determined by monoclonal antibody 421) cells that were TUNEL-positive was derived, and compared to values obtained in the presence of JMY, p300, or both together. In the data, both the absolute percentage level of apoptosis together with the percentage stimulation in apoptosis relative to p53 alone is presented. The level of apoptosing cells represent, the average of three independent readings. The TUNEL-positive population compared to the number of DAPI-positive cells in the absence of p53 was used to assess the level of apoptosis in the presence of JMY and p300, and the values shown were obtained from two separate assays.

Table 6-1 Effect of JMY in apoptosis.

			Apopt	tasis (%)	
p53	Co-activator	Exp 1 • (TUNEL/DAPI)	Exp 2 (TUNEL/αp53)	EXP 3 (TUNEL/¤p53)	Exp 4 (TUNEL/αp53)
÷	ı	12.4	32.2	17.7	52.5
÷	JMY	18.6 (50.0)*	40.5 (25.8)*	23.1 (30.5)*	70.7 (34.7)*
4-	p300	13.0 (4.8)*	31.9 (-0.9)*	16.9 (-4.5)*	
÷	00Eq/YML	25.3 (104.1)*	53.5 (66.2)*	30.2 (70.6)*	ŗ
	YML	2.1	ı	2.2 •	
	p300	2.4	ı	2.9	•
	ı	2.1		2.4	ŀ

TUNEL/DAPI

\* numbers in parenthesis indicate % stimulation in apoptosis relative to wild-type p53

(The values indicated represent the average of readings made on three separate coverslips from the same treatment in which about 10 different fields for each coverslip were assessed, totalling at least 1,000 cells ) and thus with other studies implicating a role for p300/CBP in apoptosis (Muraoka *et al.*, 1996; Shikama *et al.*, 1997; Giles *et al.*, 1998). Given the fact that JMY significantly activated p53-responsive genes and induced p53-dependent apoptosis, it is therefore possible that JMY may be a direct target for p53 transcription. Thus, I have pursued the issue of whether JMY can interact directly with p53. However, I have not been successful in showing a direct interaction between JMY and p53 using mammalian two-hybrid assays and co-immunoprecipitations. Therefore, the data support the notion that JMY through its interaction with p300 is an important effector molecule in directing the cellular response to p53.

中学的 医基丁基乙酮

36

1000日本の100日本

. تىر

# Chapter 7. **Discussion**

# 7-1. E2F family members exhibit distinct cellular distributions and functional properties.

It is known that individual E2F activities display distinct effects on cell proliferation and survival, coincident with their differential abilities to activate a large array of endogenous genes that encode proteins important for DNA replication and cell cycle progression (Nevins, 1992; La Thangue, 1994; Muller, 1995). In particular, E2F-1, -2, and -3 can efficiently activite DNA synthesis in quiescent fibroblasts, E2F-4 does so only poorly and E2F-5 has little or no activity in S phase induction (Lukas *et al.*, 1996; DeGregori *et al.*, 1997). The distinct roles for E2F family members, separating E2F-1, -2 and -3 from E2F-4 and -5, are reflected in various properties of the E2F proteins including their different cellular distributions (de la Luna *et al.*, 1996; Allen *et al.*, 1997; DeGregori *et al.*, 1997).

By studying their intracellular distribution, it was possible to divide the E2F family into two distinct categories according to their ability to accumulate in nuclei. The first group, examplified by E2F-1, underwent efficient nuclear accumulation whereas the second, which includes E2F-4 and -5, failed to do so and remained, for the most part, in the cytoplasm. E2F-4 and -5 are likely to rely on other proteins to be localized in nucleus, whereas E2F-1, -2 and -3 possess an intrinsic NLS (Krek *et al.*, 1994; Magae *et al.*, 1996; Allen *et al.*, 1997). In addition, the presence of DP-1 in nuclei, which lacks an intrinsic NLS, is likely therefore to be dependent upon an interaction with the appropriate E2F heterodimeric partner which subsequently causes the efficient nuclear accumulation of the heterodimers (this thesis and de la Luna *et al.*, 1996). Interestingly, Allen *et al.* (1997) reported that upon forming a heterodimer with either DP-3 $\alpha$  or -3 $\delta$  (de la Luna *et al.*, 1996), E2F-4 or -5 could

undergo nuclear accumulation, indicating that in context of the E2F heterodimer, the NLS can be also provided by the DP partner. Furthermore, p107 and p130 could stimulate nuclear localization of E2F-4 and -5, either alone or in combination with DP-1 (Magae *et al.*, 1996; Allen *et al.*, 1997). Although the reason for this effect is not known, it is possible that p107 and p130 stabilize interactions of E2F-4 and -5 with endogenous DP proteins, or facilitate the retention of E2F-4 and -5 within the nucleus (Magae *et al.*, 1996; Allen *et al.*, 1997). Overall, the combined conclusion from these data defines two distinct mechanisms which regulate the levels of nuclear E2F, one in which the NLS is provided by the DP partner and the other where the NLS is supplied by the physical association of a pocket protein.

「ふるいという」のこれます。大田、三部、後の三十二部三十

A MARINE AND

and the second second

States and a set

### 7-2. An ability of E2F-1 to induce apoptosis.

It is apparent that the primary function of E2F-1 is to promote cell cycle progression from G1 to S phase through the transcriptional activation of genes required for DNA synthesis (Nevins, 1992; La Thangue, 1994; Lam and La Thangue, 1994). Nevertheless,  $E2F-1^{-/-}$  mice display a defect in thymocyte apoptosis (Field *et al.*, 1996). In addition, these mice also develop a broad spectrum of tumours including reproductive tract sarcoma, lung adenocarcinoma, and lymphomas (Yamasaki *et al.*, 1996), suggesting E2F-1 endowed with tumour suppressor activity. These results indicate that the induction of apoptosis may be one of the mechanisms through which E2F-1 functions as a tumour suppressor.

Previous studies suggest that E2F-1 and p53 co-operate to mediate apoptosis (Qin *et al.*, 1994; Wu and Levine, 1994; Kowalik *et al.*, 1995; Shan *et al.*, 1996; Lee *et al.*, 1998). However, E2F-1 over-expression in SAOS-2 (p53-/-) cells can induce apoptosis and therefore this apoptotic activity is not dependent upon p53 (this study and Hsieh *et al.*, 1997; Phillips *et al.*, 1997; DeGregori *et al.*, 1997; Lee *et al.*, 1998). At present, I do not have candidates for the mediators of this E2F-1-induced p53-

175

independent form of apoptosis. However, the expression of several cellular genes has been shown to be repressed through E2F-binding sites (Muller, 1995; Zwicker and Muller, 1997). For example, among these are the B-myb, cdc25C and cdc2, genes which are also involved in E2F-mediated *trans* activation during the certain stages of the cell cycle (Zwicker and Muller, 1997). Therefore, the importance of DNA-binding to the E2F-1-induced apoptosis described in this thesis suggests that this apoptotic activity may reflect the alleviation of E2F mediated transcriptional repression, rather than the activation of E2F-responsive genes. ちょうちょう のいま ちょうちょう ないちょうがく たいない しょうちょう ちょうちょう

and the second

۰<u>۸</u>

Anterton

18. 18 B. 1.

こうというたいの湯

I have described that the over-expression of p300 as a co-activator for E2F-1/DP-1 heterodimer dramatically enhanced the E2F-1-induced apoptosis, in contrast to pRb suppressed the E2F-1-induced apoptosis. These results suggest that E2F-1 may directly activaties the expression of some components of the cell death machinery or the genes important for cell survival. Alternatively, inappropriate S phase entry may indirectly trigger cell death, or perhaps increased proliferation may lead to the exhaustion of exogenous factors required for cell survival (Figure 7-1). Similarly, it has been shown that the E2F-1-induced apoptosis is observed following withdrawal of survival factors, and increasing levels of E2F overrides the ability of survival factors to suppress cell death (Hiebert *et al.*, 1995). There is no evidence that E2F-1 regulates the expression of genes involved in apoptosis. However, it has recently been shown that F2F over-expression in *Drosophila* imaginal discs leads to ectopic proliferation, apoptosis and the induction of *reaper*, a known cell death regulator in the fly (Asano *et al.*, 1996).

Interestingly, like p53, E2F-1 has been reported to bind MDM2 (Martin *et al.*, 1995). Thus, E2F-1 could induce cell death by titrating MDM2 away from p53 and stimulating *trans* activation of p53 target genes involved in apoptosis. Although most of apoptosis studies were carried out in  $p53^{-/-}$  human cell line, this hypothesis still could be supported by the other observation that p73, a human p53-related protein, can also trigger apoptosis, and its amino-terminal *trans* activation domain


Figure 7-1

The dual functions of E2F/DP on cell cycle control.

Activation of E2F/DP elicits either a proliferative response

(left) or an apoptotic response (right). (See text for details)

includes the potential MDM2 binding site (Kaghad *et al.*, 1997; Jost *et al.*, 1997). Therefore, E2F-1 may also compete with MDM2 for p73 to stabilize p73 protein, and thus E2F-1 and p73 co-operate to mediate apoptosis.

Studies of E2F-1 expression have shown recently that E2F-1 can undergo ubiquitination and that the carboxy-terminal region of E2F-1 confer protein instability, and deletion of this region or binding of pRb to this region stabilizes the protein (Hateboer *et al.*, 1996; Hoffmann *et al.*, 1996). Results reported in this study indicated that both E2F-1(1-413) and E2F-1(1-380) induced apoptosis much more strongly than that of the wild-type E2F-1. Therefore, increased stability of E2F-1 caused by the carboxy-terminal truncation of E2F-1 may be responsible for the increased cell death. Deregulated expression of mutant forms of E2F-1 which are defective for pRb binding significantly increased cell death, as shown by the carlier presence and increased absolute number of dead cells observed compared with cells expressing wild-type E2F-1 under identical conditions (in this thesis). These observations are consistent with those of others which indicate that apoptosis induced by E2F-1 can be partially blocked by pRb (Shan *et al.*, 1996; Hsieh *et al.*, 1997).

#### 7-3. pRb and p300 have different effects on E2F-1-mediated apoptosis.

Interestingly, recent studies of  $pRb^{-/-}$  mice in  $p53^{-/-}$  or  $p53^{+/+}$  backgrounds have clearly demonstrated p53-independent apoptosis mediated by loss of pRb (Macleod *et al.*, 1996), implying that this may occur from the E2F-1 deregulation mechanism. As this thesis shows that the *trans* activation and the apoptotic functions of E2F-1 are separable, the inhibition of E2F-1-induced apoptosis by pRb cannot be mediated by the suppression of the E2F-1 *trans* activation function. However, it has recently been shown that, when pRb and E2F-1 complex together, the pRb-E2F-1 complex can act as an active repressor to inhibit transcription of reporters containing E2F-binding sites (Weintraub *et al.*, 1995; Luo *et al.*, 1998). Therefore, the repression function of the pRb-E2F-1 complex may be the mechanism through which pRb inhibits E2F-1-induced apoptosis. This hyphothesis suggests an active role for pRb in E2F-1-induced apoptosis, as well as the necessity for physical interaction between pRb and E2F-1. Nevertheless, it should be pointed out that most of these results were produced in SAOS-2 cells, which fail to express wild-type pRb. In these circumstances, repression of apoptotic target genes may also be carried out by E2F complexes containing other pocket proteins such as p107 and p130.

a service a service of the second 
j,

and the second second second

A Charles Service

2

S.

Even though it was clear that the apoptotic function of E2F-1 requires DNA binding but not *trans* activation, the co-expression of E2F-1 and its transcriptional co-activator, p300, dramatically enhanced the E2F-1 apoptotic activity, consistant with the idea that p300 enhances the transcriptional activity of E2F-1 (this thesis and Lee *et al.*, 1998). Moreover, the interaction of p300 with E2F-1 is mediated through binding to the *trans* activation domain (this thesis and Lee *et al.*, 1998). These results imply that E2F-1-mediated apoptosis can be also augmented by its transcriptional activation pathway. Similarly, it is known that the transcriptional activity of E2F-1 is stimulated through heterodimerization with its partner DP-1, and that this heterodimerization dramatically increased E2F-1-induced apoptosis.

Interestingly, the interacting sites for proteins such as MDM2, p300, and pRb have been mapped to within the last 60 amino acids of the E2F-1 *trans* activation domain (Helin *et al.*, 1992; Hagemeier *et al.*, 1993; Martin *et al.*, 1995; Lee *et al.*, 1998) (Figure 7-2). It is not known whether these three proteins can bind to the *trans* activation domain of E2F-1 simultaneously. However, it is possible that E2F-1 as a common cellular target involved in three distinct pathways of growth control mediated through the binding of the MDM2, pRb or p300 (Chellappan *et al.*, 1991; Helin *et al.*, 1993; Flemington *et al.*, 1993; Martin *et al.*, 1995; Shan *et al.*, 1996; Trouche *et al.*, 1996; Hsieh *et al.*, 1997; Kowalik *et al.*, 1998; Lee *et al.*, 1998).



# Figure 7-2

# The E2F-1 trans activation domain contains three distinct protein-binding sites.

:.

Ċ,

的现在分词 医外的变体

An enlarged bars indicate the regions of E2F-1 required to bind MDM2 (Martin *et al.*, 1995), pRb (Helin *et al.*, 1992; Hagemeier *et al.*, 1993) and p300 (Trouche *et al.*, 1996; Lee *et al.*, 1998). The binding of MDM2, pRb or p300 to the E2F-1 *trans* activation domain (TAD) provides three distinct pathways through which E2F-1 could influence growth control.

Therefore, it is also possible that the competition between these proteins for E2F-1may be involved in the regulation of E2F-1-induced apoptosis. The functional distinctions between pRb, MDM2 and p300 were exemplified in studies with knockout mice.  $pRb^{+/-}$  mice develop tumours of the pituitary and thyroid, and  $pRb^{-/-}$  embryos die between 13 and 15 days of gestation, exhibiting defective erythropoiesis as well as excessive proliferation and cell death in the liver, lens and nervous system (Jacks et al., 1992; Clarke et al., 1992; Lee et al., 1994). mdm2-/mice result in an early embryonic lethality, however, this lethality can be rescued in the absence of p53 (Jones et al., 1995; Montes de Oca Luna et al., 1995). These results suggest that the primary role of MDM2 during the development is to negatively regulate p53, with p53 and MDM2 acting in concert to regulate the cell cycle during early development. However, Lundgren et al. (1997) reported that over-production of MDM2 during pregnancy and lactation results in defective development of the mammary gland in both the  $p53^{+/+}$  and  $p53^{-/-}$  backgrounds, demonstrating a role for MDM2 that is independent of p53 function.  $p300^{-/-}$  mice die around mid-gestation despite the presence of normal quantities of highly homologous CBP (Yao et al., 1998). Interestingly, fibroblasts derived from p300<sup>-/-</sup> embryos display specific transcriptional defects and poor proliferation, implying that p300 is essential for cell proliferation and development. Moreover,  $p300^{+/-} / CBP^{+/-}$ mice invariably die in utero (Yao et al., 1998), demonstrating an absolute requirement for a certain combined level of these two closely related proteins for normal animal development.

.

# 7-4. The p53 and pRb/E2F pathways of growth control arc functionally integrated.

Previous studies with p53 have shown that protein levels can be of critical importance in determining whether a cell undergoes cell cycle arrest or apoptosis

have a work of the state of a state of the s া বিশিক্ষর জনেও এ ইংকাজে বিধান হাজি হয়। এই বাবেরা বিশেষ বিশেষ বিশেষ বিশিধ বিশেষ বিধান বিধিনার বাবেরা ব উটিয়া ব 

(Chen *et al.*, 1996; Połyak *et al.*, 1996; Macleod *et al.*, 1995). Therefore, it would be interesting to know whether the ability of E2F-1 to promote cell cycle progression or apoptosis also depends on its protein level.

The DNA tumour viruses SV40, adenovirus, and HPV all encode a series of oncogene products that bind to the pRb protein and liberate an active E2F transcription factor (Nevins, 1992; Lam and La Thangue, 1994; Vousden, 1995). As a result, these viral oncogene products signal the cell to enter the replication phase of the cell cycle (Weinberg, 1995; Whyte, 1995; Vousden, 1995; La Thangue, 1994). In addition, each of these viruses encodes a protein which has been shown to bind to the p53 protein (Moran, 1993; Vousden, 1996) and inactivate its function as a transcription factor (Ko and Prives, 1996; Levine, 1997). It was thought that this function may inhibit the tumour-suppressor properties of p53 and facilitate viral transformation. Since activated E2F-1 and p53 co-operate to mediate apoptosis, it could well be that the important function of binding to the p53 protein by viral oncogene products is to block p53-mediated apoptosis as shown with the adenovirus E1A gene product (Debbas and White, 1993; Somasundaram and El-Deiry, 1997).

Several previous studies have shown that E2F-1 over-expression can induce DNA synthesis in otherwise quiescent cells (Kowalik *et al.*, 1995; Almasan *et al.*, 1995). In contrast, the induction of p53 halts the cell cycle which then is believed to allow the cell to repair its DNA or to await more favourable growth conditions (El-Deiry *et al.*, 1993; Dulic *et al.*, 1994; Harper *et al.*, 1993; Waldman *et al.*, 1995; Chen *et al.*, 1996). In addition, a considerable body of research evidence also suggests that the pathways regulated by E2F and p53 are integrated in a way that allows p53 to sense aberrant control of E2F activity. A particularly clear example of this phenomenon relates to the induction of p53-dependent apoptosis in conditions where E2F-1 is expressed at high levels in tissue culture cells (Qin *et al.*, 1994; Wu and Levine, 1994). Other studies, including those where the expression of viral oncoproteins which inactivate pRb occurs in defined cells, such as lens fibre cells (Pan and Greip, 1994), and the targeted disruption of Rb where the apoptosis is dependent upon p53 (Morgenbesser *et al.*, 1994), support this general idea.

The E2F-1 and p53 proteins are key regulators of cell cycle progression. Therefore, the balance between the activities of E2F-1 and p53 is likely to be crucial to ensure the progression of the cell cycle. In normal cells, the transcriptional activity of p53 and E2F-1 are believed to be regulated mainly at the protein level. Thus, the functional cross-talk between these proteins is very likely to be of great importance in the overall control of the cell cycle. 。 1997、1993年1月1日,1997年1月1日,1997年1月1日,1997年1月1日,1997年1月1日,1997年1月1日,1997年1月1日,1997年1月1日,1997年1月1日,1997年1月1日,1997年1

ৰ মান মান প্ৰায় প্ৰায় কৰি প্ৰায় মান কৰি বিশ্ব কৰা বিশ্ব কৰা বিশ্ব প্ৰায় প্ৰায় প্ৰায় কৰা বিশ্বমান বিশ্বমান বিশ্

## 7-5. p53 physically and functionally associates with DP-1.

In this thesis, I have described the association between DP-1 and p53 *in vitro* and *in vivo*. The region in p53 required for the interaction with DP-1 exists within the amino-terminal 143 amino acid residues. The first 73 residues, which contains the MDM2 binding domain (Momand *et al.*, 1992; Lin *et al.*, 1994; Chen *et al.*, 1994), are not sufficient for the interaction. Although previous studies have suggested that MDM2 can interact with E2F-1 (Martin *et al.*, 1995), our results imply that this interaction is unlikely to be responsible for the association of DP-1 with p53. Interestingly, the region between residues 73 and 143 which is necessary for p53 to bind DP-1 contains residues frequently altered in human tumour cells carrying mutant p53 alleles, such as Lys120, Lys132 and Cys135 mutations (Malkin, 1993; Greenblatt *et al.*, 1994; Ko and Prives, 1996). Based on the results presented here, a potential biological rationale for these mutations could be envisaged whereby they prevent p53 from interacting with DP-1 and thus relieve the negative regulation imposed by p53 on the formation of functional E2F heterodimers and hence cell cycle progression.

Although p53 can associated with DP-1, it was not possible to detect p53 in physiological E2F DNA-binding complexes (Sørensen *et al.*, unpublished

observation). This is consistent with the interaction of p53 with p55U, but not p55L, since p55U is a rare component of physiological E2F DNA-binding activity. The results derived from the *in vitro* assay in which p53 specifically binds to DP-1 support these observations, since they also indicate that p53 binds to an immunochemically distinct form of DP-1. Overall, these data suggest that p53 targets a sub-population of DP-1 and, further, that this form of DP-1 is an infrequent component of E2F DNA-binding complexes. Since it is known that DP-1 undergoes regulated phosphorylation (Bandara *et al.*, 1994; Krek *et al.*, 1994), it is possible that p53 targets a particular post-translationally modified form of DP-1, although further studies are required to clarify this possibility.

たいた

 $\hat{g}^{\ast}$ 

į,

ð.

Co-expression of p53 specifically inactivated transcription driven by the E2F-1/DP-1 heterodimer. A potential model to explain these results would be that p53 holds DP-1 in a state which prevents it interacting with an E2F family member to form E2F-1/DP-1 heterodimer. Indeed, the region in DP-1 required to interact with p53 is necessary to form a E2F-1/DP-1 heterodimer (Sørensen *et al.*, 1996), and thus binding of p53 to DP-1 could be mutually exclusive with the interaction of DP-1 with E2F family members. Evidence for such a possibility was obtained by demonstrating that p53 and E2F-1 can compete for DP-1 binding and, consequently, that p53 reduces the level of E2F-1/DP-1 DNA-binding activity (Sørensen *et al.*, 1996). These data are compatible with a model in which p53 targets an immunochemically distinct form of DP-1, regulating the formation of E2F-1/DP-1 heterodimers and hence the level of E2F DNA-binding activity (Figure 7-3).

Although p53 is believed to possess the properties of a transcription factor and to *trans* activate of target genes such as *gadd45* and *Waf1/Cip1* (El-Deiry *et al.*, 1993; Kastan *et al.*, 1992; Ko and Prives, 1996) thought to be important in p53-mediated growth arrest, the interaction of p53 with DP-1 provides another potential pathway through which p53 may influence cell cycle progression (Figure 7-3). Thus, since many of the genes regulated by E2F encode proteins required for

185



# Figure 7-3

# Repression of E2F/DP transcriptional activity by p53 may occur via two pathways.

p53 regulates the E2F/DP transcriptional activity by pRb-dependent (a) and -independent (b) pathways. (a) Upregulation of  $p21^{WafI/Cip1}$  expression by p53 can inhibit cdk activities. As result of this inhibition, hypophosphorylated pRb accumulates, and a G1 arrest is induced by the consequent repression of E2F responsive genes. (b) p53, which interacts with a distinct form of DP-1 (p55U), competes with E2F-1 for DP-1 leading to a reduction in the level of E2F-1/DP-1 heterodimer transcriptional activity.

cell cycle progression, their transcriptional down-regulation through the interaction of p53 with DP-1 may impede cell cycle progression.

Moreover, the interaction of DP-1 and p53 may help explain the mechanism through which DP-1 exerts high levels of proto-oncogenic activity, a property which is shared by other members of the DP family, and one manifest in the absence of a co-transfected E2F family member (Jooss *et al.*, 1995). It is possible the increased level of DP-1 sequesters p53, titrating out its activity, and thus overriding the growth-regulating effects of p53. In these conditions, DP-1 may act in an analogous fashion to certain viral oncoproteins, such as the adenovirus E1B and papilloma virus E6 proteins, since their ability to inactivate p53 also correlates with oncogenic activity (Moran, 1993; Vousden, 1996).

## 7-6. Functional cross-talk between p53 and E2F-1 through co-activator p300.

In this thesis, I have also demonstrated a mechanism which can explain the functional interplay between E2F and p53 and which may, in part, influence the physiological outcome of aberrant levels of E2F. A mechanism was suggested when I observed that co-expression of E2F-1 caused a concomitant reduction in p53-dependent transcription, an effect which was overridden by co-expression of pRb. This, combined with the evidence that the *trans* activation domains of E2F-1 and p53 were involved, raised the possibility that competition for a rate limiting transcription target may be responsible for the down-regulation of p53. The p300 protein, which possesses the properties of a transcriptional co-activator and is involved in regulating the activity of a variety of sequence specific transcription factors (Shikama *et al*., 1997), overcame the down-regulation of p53 and, moreover, enhanced the activity of both E2F-1 and p53-dependent transcription, an effect dependent on a physical association between the *trans* activation domain of each protein and p300. Thus, the data presented here strongly suggest that the reduced

level of p53 transcriptional activity in the presence of E2F-1 is exerted through each *trans* activation domain competing for the p300 co-activator. That co-expression of pRb neutralized the effect of E2F-1 on p53 makes good sense in the light of the regulation of the E2F-1 *trans* activation domain by pRb (Flemington *et al.*, 1993; Helin *et al.*, 1992).

ģ

ģ.

1

а ж,

and the state of the

37

4

Ć

The data clearly indicated that p300 acts co-operatively with p53 to stimulate transcription in a p53-dependent manner. The dominant-negative mutant of p300 (p300<sup>1572-1903</sup>) containing the region required for the interaction with p53 prevents the activation of a p53-regulated promoter, implying that p300 is a crucial component of p53-directed transcription. In addition, p300 binds to the E2F-1 *trans* activation domain and stimulates the transcriptional activity of E2F-1. The identification of p300 as a component of p53- and E2F-1-mediated transcription, together with the notion that the concentration of p300 is rate limiting in cells (Kamei *et al.*, 1996; Avantaggiati *et al.*, 1997), implies that the functional cross-talk between p53 and E2F-1 through p300 is an important regulatory pathway in cell cycle control. In keeping with my models, recent studies have suggested that a 25% drop in combined p300/CBP levels through the loss of one *p300* or *CBP* allele is enough to interfere seriously with embryonic development, while a 50% drop results invariably in cmbryonic death (Yao *et al.*, 1998).

Cell cycle arrest mediated by p53 is thought to rely on the ability of p53 to directly activate the transcription of target genes, such as  $p21^{Waf1/Cip1}$ , which functions as an inhibitor of cyclin-dependent kinases (Chen *et al.*, 1996; El-Deiry *et al.*, 1993; Harper *et al.*, 1993; Macleod *et al.*, 1995) and thus likely occurs through the inactivation of G1 CDK activity and the maintenance of pRb and related proteins in a hypophosphorylated state. In this study, the results define a further level of control in the regulation of  $p21^{Waf1/Cip1}$ , exerted through a positive autoregulatory feedback mechanism whereby  $p21^{Waf1/Cip1}$  enhances the transcriptional activity of the p53/p300 co-activator complex. Although the precise mechanism of action remains to be determined, this effect of  $p21^{Waf1/Cip1}$  suggests that the activity of the

p53/p300 co-activator complex is influenced in a negative fashion by CDK phosphorylation. The recent demonstration that p300 associates with cyclin E/CDK2 (Perkins *et al.*, 1997) is consistent with this idea.

A recurring theme in the control of the cell cycle is that of positive autoregulation, which is believed to provide a mechanism for enabling the rapid accummulation of regulatory proteins involved in mediating cell cycle transitions. Numerous examples are known, such as in *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*, where a positive autoregulatory feedback control on transcription by the G1 cyclins favours the rapid induction of CDK activity and thus progression into S phase (Johnston, 1992). Similarly, the mammalian *E2F-1* gene is autoregulated by E2F activity (Johnson *et al.*, 1994) and the product of the *cyclinE* gene, which is regulated by E2F, may positively regulate transcription of its own gene by antagonising the repressive effects of pRb and related proteins (Botz *et al.*, 1996). The autoregulation of p53/p300 activity by  $p21^{Waf1/Cip1}$  provides another interesting example of such a mechanism which likely assists the rapid accummulation of  $p21^{Waf1/Cip1}$ , thus augmenting cell cycle arrest (Figure 7-4). Since it is widely believed that p53 responds to environmental stress, a rapid cell cycle arrest clearly is a desirable response.

and the second of the second 
SUPPORT OF ALLER A

「「「「「「「」」」」 ないできる ほうかいがく

an an airte airte an an

EFFERSien marine

# 7-7. A central role for p300 in cell cycle control and apoptosis.

That p300 functions as a co-activator involved with E2F-1- and p53dependent transcription and can influence the physiological consequence of p53 induction suggests that p300 plays a central role in co-ordinating early cell cycle events. The results presented in this study demonstrated that p300 could enhance the ability of p53 to cause G1 arrest and, moreover, failed to induce p53-dependent apoptosis. These observations are consistent with a role for p300 as a p53 coactivator in the transcription of  $p21^{Waf1/Cip1}$ , and in turn suggest that p53 induction under conditions of limiting levels of p300 may be a signal which causes cells to enter apoptosis. It is known that transcriptionally inactive p53 proteins can induce apoptosis (Caelles *et al.*, 1994; Chen *et al.*, 1996; Haupt *et al.*, 1995b) whereas transcriptional activity correlates with cell cycle arrest (Crook *et al.*, 1994). Further evidence suggests that the level of p53 may dictate the cellular response, with low levels of p53 causing cell cycle arrest and high levels apoptosis (Chen *et al.*, 1996; Polyak *et al.*, 1996; Macleod *et al.*, 1995). Given the data presented in this study, it is possible that at high levels of p53, p300 levels become limiting which, suggested by the data presented here, provides an apoptotic signal. s,

いたい 法国家 とう 読ん いうぶん アクロ

k

Of course, some studies have suggested that transcription-dependent mechanisms are involved in p53-dependent apoptosis, and by no means is this study incompatible with this view. For example, the bax gene has been implicated as a direct target for p53 (Miyashita and Reed, 1995). However, although  $bax^{/-}$ thymocytes fail to respond to certain apoptotic stimuli, they are not deficient in p53dependent DNA damage induced apoptosis (Knudson et al., 1995). It is likely therefore that p53 can influence apoptosis through different mechanisms. The model proposed in this study suggesting that apoptosis occurs in conditions of p53 induction with limiting levels of p300 may account for one such mechanism. However, other recent studies have suggested that p300 plays a positive role in regulating p53-dependent apoptosis (Avantaggiati et al., 1997; Lill et al., 1997; Somasundaram et al., 1997). Nevertheless, it is possible that the activation and expression of p21<sup>WafI/Cip1</sup> and Bax may have not occurred at the same time. Interestingly, my recent unpublished observations are consistent with this speculation, as I found that the accumulation of p21<sup>Waf1/Cip1</sup> by actinomycin D in SAOS-2 and U2OS cells only occurred at low concentration (1nM) of treatment, whereas cell death was brought about at high concentrations (10nM to  $1\mu$ M) (data not shown). This is consistent with other similar studies where it was noted that the low levels of p53 was dominant over the growth arrest pathway (Macleod et al., 1995; Chen et al., 1996; Polyak et al., 1996). Therefore, it is possible that the experimental conditions in this thesis in which cells underwent  $p21^{Waf1/Cip1}$  mediated cell cycle arrest may reflect insufficient levels of p53 to activate apoptotic genes such as *bax*. Thus, even though further experiments are required to clarify these issues, it is clear that the dependence of p53 activity on p53 concentration may be a contributory factor.

1.

April 1 Studie Bar

and a strategy of the second and the second s

Although apoptosis is enhanced when p53 and E2F-1 are expressed together, E2F-1 alone was capable of inducing apoptosis in  $p53^{-/-}$  tumour cells, suggesting that p53-dependent and -independent mechanisms contribute towards E2F-1 induced apoptosis (this thesis and Hsieh et al., 1997; Phillips at al., 1997). In p53-/- cells, the co-expression of E2F-1 and p300 enhanced apoptosis, in contrast to the effect of p300 in cells expressing p53 and E2F-1 when there was a significant decrease in the proportion of apoptotic cells, suggesting that limiting levels of p300 favour p53independent apoptosis. Moreover, it is interesting that the partial rescue of apoptosis by p300 is compatible with earlier reports indicating that p53-mediated apoptosis can be overcome by pRb (Haupt et al., 1995a) since, as explained, the presence of p300 will directly favour the maintenance of hypophosphorylated pRb. Interestingly, it is consistent with my models that Thomas and White (1998) have recently reported that rate limiting p300 is required specifically for trans activation of the mdm2 gene by p53 and for regulating p53-mediated apoptosis. In addition, cells expressing E1A were unable to up-regulate MDM2, causing stabilization of high level of p53 that resulted in p53-dependent apoptosis. Furthermore, expressing of anti-apoptotic E1B 19K and Bel-2 could bypass E1A inhibition of p300 function and restored *mdm2 trans* activation, thereby inhibited p53-dependent apoptosis (Thomas and White, 1998).

The results presented in this study, together with the documented role of p53dependent transcription in cell cycle arrest, are consistent with a model in which the productive interaction between p53 and p300 and consequent activation of target genes like  $p21^{Waf1/Cip1}$  is important in controlling cell cycle arrest. However, it should be noted that a  $p21^{Waf1/Cip1}$  deficiency does not completely abbrogate G1 arrest due, for example, to irradiation (Brugarolas *et al.*, 1995; Deng *et al.*, 1993) whereas in  $p53^{-/-}$  mice G1 arrest is completely absent (Donehower *et al.*, 1992). Thus, p53 likely has other targets in addition to p21<sup>Waf1/Cip1</sup> which confer cell cycle arrest, or other factors may involve in the regulation of *Waf1/Cip1* gene. Recently, a new p53-related protein, namely p73, has been identified that has the potential to activate p53 target genes (Kaghad *et al.*, 1997; Jost *et al.*, 1997). Interestingly, over-expression of p73 in SAOS-2 and U2OS cells showed elevated levels of p21<sup>Waf1/Cip1</sup> and GADD45 proteins (Lee and La Thangue, unpublished observation). Moreover, I assessed whether p73 also could utilise p300 as a transcriptional co-activator. The results from mammalian two-hybrid and immunoprecipitation assays have revealed that the amino-terminal *trans* activation domain of p73 directly interacts with the CH3 region of p300 (Lee and La Thangue, unpublished observation), suggesting that p300 is a *bonafide* component of p53 family-mediated transcription in a network of cell cycle arrest and apoptosis.

When the induction of p53 causes cell cycle arrest, for example, in response to genotoxic stress, the data suggests that p53 activates transcription in concert with p300. Further evidence presented here showed that the over-expression of p21Waf1/Cip1 enhances the transcriptional activity of the p53/p300 co-activator complex. At the same time, the inhibition of CDK activity by the induction of p21Waf1/Cip1 will retain pRb and related proteins in a hypophosphorylated state and thus, by virtue of excluding the E2F-1 *trans* activation domain, enhance the levels of p300 available for p53 (Figure 7-4b). Previous studies suggest that the cellular level of p53 protein is crucial for determining whether cells arrest or apoptose (Macleod *et al.*, 1995; Chen *et al.*, 1996; Polyak *et al.*, 1996). The apoptotic conditions were also caused by high levels of E2F-1 in conditions which are inappropriate for cell cycle progression or increased level of p53 (Figure 7-4c). However, I would like to emphasise that the data do not rule out the possibility that there are p53 target genes which need to be activated, perhaps through other co-activators, in order to achieve apoptosis.



# Figure 7-4

## Model for cell cycle control by p300.

It is envisaged that during normal cell cycle progression (a) p53 remains in a latent state and that p300 functions as a co-activator for transcription factors such as E2F-1. Upon activation and cell cycle arrest by p53 (b), p300 functions as a co-activator for p53-dependent transcription, such as in the activation of the *Waf1/Cip1* gene. The activity of the p53/p300 co-activator complex is enhanced by  $p21^{Waf1/Cip1}$  through a positive autoregulatory feedback loop whilst the activity of E2F declines due to the presence of hypophosphorylated pRb. For (c), in conditions which are inappropriate for cell cycle progression aberrantly high levels of E2F compete for p300, resulting in the increased apoptosis. It is envisaged that the high levels of p53, together with E2F, provides a signal for apoptosis.

With respect to this idea, it has been shown that p53 utilizes other co-activator molecules in transcriptional activation (Lu and Levine, 1995; Thut *et al.*, 1995) and thus it is possible that the regulation of p53 activity by p300 relates to a specific group of target genes.

It is noteworthy that the ability of E2F-1 to influence the physiological outcome of p53 activation may bear on the phenotype of the  $E2F \cdot I^{-/-}$  mice which suffer thymic hyperplasia due to reduced levels of apoptosis during thymocyte ontogeny, together with an increased incidence of tumours in older animals (Field *et al.*, 1996; Yamasaki *et al.*, 1996). Based on the studies presented here, one scenario which may contribute to this phenotype in the absence of E2F-1 would be that a signal (provided by E2F-1) is lost which drives p53-dependent apoptosis, subverting the normal apoptotic process in thymocytes and thus giving rise to hyperplasia. Similarly, the loss of an apoptotic signal will encourage tumour progression, in a similar fashion to the phenotype observed in the  $p53^{-/-}$  mice (Donehower *et al.*, 1992).

# 7-8. E1A deregulates p53 and E2F-1 activity through its co-activator p300.

p300 was defined by studies on the mechanisms through which the oncogenic products of DNA tumour viruses subvert normal cellular growth control (Arany *et al.*, 1995). p300 interacts with a domain within the adenovirus E1A protein which is essential for the protein to exert a range of biological effects on cells such as the induction of DNA synthesis and apoptosis (Moran, 1993). Furthermore, the transcriptional activation by p300/CBP could be abolished directly and specifically by binding to E1A (Arany *et al.*, 1995; Yang *et al.*, 1996; Crook *et al.*, 1996). E1A mutants which lack the p300 binding site lose the properties of E1A-driven cell cycle progression and cellular transformation (Moran, 1993).

Taken together, therefore, these results indicate that p300/CBP are key regulators of cell cycle progression and cellular differentiation.

An important and highly interesting feature of p300/CBP is that germline inactivation of one allele or somatic translocation of the gene has been implicated as the cause of many diseases and cancers (Sakai *et al.*, 1992; Eckner *et al.*, 1994; Giles *et al.*, 1995; Petrij *et al.*, 1995; Muraoka *et al.*, 1996; Ida *et al.*, 1997). Thus, it is argued that the level of p300/CBP is physiologically crucial and rate limiting in cells, in consistent with recent studies that the decreased p300 or CBP protein level in  $p300^{+/-}$  or  $CBP^{+/-}$  mice significantly reduced viability and seriously interefered embryonic development (Yao *et al.*, 1998). Whereas it plays a positive role in cellular differentiation, p53-mediated DNA repair/apoptosis, and E2F-1-mediated apoptosis, it is a negative regulator of cellular growth.

E1A is known to inhibit p53 transcriptional activation function, and binds to the CH3 domain of p300/CBP (Chiou and White, 1997; Somasundaram and EJ-Deiry, 1997). In this study, it was shown that wild-type E1A specifically inhibited p53-mediated activation, possibly through the interaction of p300/CBP, since the E1A mutant (E1A $\Delta$ 2-36) failed to repress p53-dependent transcription. Again, the result indicates that E1A inhibition of p53-mediated transcriptional activation correlated with its ability to bind p300/CBP. Indeed, the data make good sense in the understanding of tumourigenesis. The stimulation and activation of p53 by cellular stress causes cell cycle arrest or apoptosis to allow DNA repair or to prevent tumourigenesis. But, the DNA viruses such as adenovirus deregulate p53 activity through its co-activator p300 so as to allow quiescent cells to undergo DNA replication, thereby providing an environment permissive for viral replication.

At the same time, it is known that oncoproteins encoded by these DNA tumour viruses contain a region which mediates binding to the pRb family of proteins to sequester this region from the E2F family, resulting in deregulated cell cycle progression (Weinberg, 1992; Lam and La Thangue, 1994; Vousden, 1995; Wang, 1997). Thus, inappropriate cell cycle entry and deregulated E2F/DP activity

trigger apoptosis (Qin et al., 1994; Wu and Levine, 1994; Shan et al., 1996; DeGregori et al., 1997; Hsieh et al., 1997; Phillips et al., 1997).

In this thesis, it was also demonstrated that E2F-1/DP-1 utilizes p300 as a coactivator through binding to its transcriptional activation domain, resulting in the significant increase of E2F-1-mediated apoptosis. However, the fact that E1A represses E2F-1-mediated transcriptional activation by binding p300 (Trouche and Kouzarides, 1996) may leads to the loss of E2F-1-induced apoptosis, and in turn implies that these cellular conditions may facilitate viral transformation. Moreover, in some environmental circumstances, it is possible that the competition between p300 and pRb for the E2F-1 *trans* activation domain may result in distinct physiological outcomes.

#### 7-9. A novel transcriptional co-activator, JMY, that interacts with p300.

p300/CBP likely plays a series of key regulatory roles in animal cells as described previously, given that binding of p300 by E1A leads to perturbation of the cell cycle, blockade of multiple differentiation processes, failure to suppress transformation, and loss of elements of transcriptional control (Shikama *et al.*, 1997). The biological activity of p300 family members may depend, at least in part, upon their ability to function as co-activators with transcriptional factors such as CREB, c-fos, c-Jun, MyoD, and E2F-1/DP-1 (Arias *et al.*, 1994; Chrivia *et al.*, 1993; Eckner *et al.*, 1996; Torchia *et al.*, 1997; Perkin *et al.*, 1997; Shikama *et al.*, 1997; Lee *et al.*, 1998). Especially, I and others have demonstrated that p300/CBP also acts as a co-activator for p53 and potentiates its transcriptional activity *in vivo* (this study and Lill *et al.*, 1997; Gu *et al.*, 1997; Avantaggiati *et al.*, 1997; Lee *et al.*, 1998). Given this critical and highly specific interaction with this co-activator, it is possible that p300/CBP nucleates different factors so they may functionally interact either negatively or positively. p300/CBP have been shown to have histone acetyltransferase activity, which can modify chromatin structure and enhance gene expression (Bannister and Kouzarides, 1996; Ogryzko *et al.*, 1996). Recently, p300 also has been shown to acetylate p53 itself (Gu and Roeder, 1997). The acetylation of p53 increases the binding of p53 to specific consensus sequences *in vivo*, this activity may be required for facilitating p53 tetramer interactions with the DNA template, thereby promoting p53-inducible genes transcriptional activation. However, acetylation of p53 by p300 may not be the only regulatory mechanism to control *trans* activation of p53inducible genes. Interestingly, it has been known that p/CAF, P/CIP, SRC and ACTR interact with p300/CBP and regulate the p300/CBP activity (Kamei *et al.*, 1996; Yang *et al.*, 1996; Chen *et al.*, 1997; Li *et al.*, 1997; Torchia *et al.*, 1997). Therefore, it is possible that different levels of regulation through other factors may play a role in transcriptional activation of p53-inducible genes. 4

Ś

j.

記録を入

Recently, Shikama *et al.* (1998) have focussed on the identification of additional molecules that functionally interact with p300 that may influence its effects on target transcription factors. In this thesis, it was shown that a novel co-activator, JMY, physically and functionally interacts with p300 in transcriptional activation by p53.

#### 7-10. JMY enhances p53-dependent transcription through co-activator p300.

To investigate the functional properties of JMY, it was considered that JMY together with p300 may modulate the activity of p53. An analysis of the role of p300 and JMY in regulating the *bax* promoter, a gene that responds to p53 (Miyashita and Reed 1995), suggested that p300 and JMY co-operate in activating the transcription of the *bax* gene. In contrast, the effect of JMY on other p53 target genes was less striking and, in the case of *mdm2*, increased levels of JMY failed to significantly affect promoter activity. Thus, although this study has focused on a

limited spectrum of p53-responsive genes, nevertheless the data do support the idea that the co-activator effects of JMY are more pronounced on certain p53 target genes, exemplified by the effect of JMY on *bax*. Overall, therefore, the results suggest a model in which JMY plays a preferential role in mediating the transcriptional activation of a selective group of target genes. However, it should be considered that the activation and accumulation of MDM2 by p53-dependent transcription through its co-activators may lead to negative-regulatory feedback competition between MDM2 and p300 for binding to the p53 *trans* activation domain. Thus, although neither exogenous JMY nor p300 could augment the activity of the *mdm2* promoter, it is highly possible that both p300 and JMY are key integrators of all transcriptional responses of p53.

ļ

4

-

-

1. 1. 1. 1. 1.

ģ

Recent studies demonstrate that E1A specifically inhibits *mdm2 trans* activation and not other p53-inducible genes such as *bax* and *Waf1/Cip1* (Thomas and White, 1998). Therefore, these results suggest that p300 binding to p53 alone may not regulate the specificity of p53 *trans* activation for *bax* and *Waf1/Cip1*. As numerous protein interactions with p300 occur, JMY may determine the specificity of *trans* activation, accounting for differential regulation of p53-inducible genes by p300.

## 7-11. JMY augments p53-dependent apoptosis.

Most previous studies support a correlation between transcriptional activation by p53 and the induction of cell cycle arrest, but the dependence of the apoptotic function of p53 on transcriptional activity is more complex. Some studies have found that apoptosis can occur when the p53 *trans* activation domain is compromised whereas other reports support a role for transcriptional activation (Caelles *et al.*, 1994; Crook *et al.*, 1994; Chen *et al.*, 1996; Haupt *et al.*, 1995). The correlation between transcriptional activation of the *bax* promoter and induction of

apoptosis suggests that the *bax*-encoded protein may play a role in p53-mediated apoptosis. This suggestion is consistent with earlier reports (Miyashita and Reed, 1995; Zhan *et al.*, 1994) and with the documented apoptotic effect of Bax overexpression (Oltavi *et al.*, 1993). For example, the *bax* gene is transcriptionally activated by p53 and p53-dependent apoptosis, in some conditions, is compromised by experimental strategies that subvert and inactivate p300/CBP (Lill *et al.* 1997; Avantaggiati *et al.* 1997). It has been reported that expression of Bax can efficiently induce apoptosis in SAOS-2 cells (Ludwig *et al.*, 1996). In this thesis, it was shown that JMY can augment the level of p53-dependent apoptosis in SAOS-2 cells. In sharp contrast, when the effect of exogenous p300 was measured in similar assay conditions, little effect was apparent on apoptosis, suggesting that increasing the level of p300 is not sufficient to promote apoptosis. Rather, the results are consistent with the idea that p300 and JMY act together in the p53 response.

With regard to apoptosis, the need for *trans* activation by p53 appears to depend on cell type. More likely, cell type specific apoptosis may be related with the presence of sufficient amounts of downstream effector molecules of p53-mediated apoptosis, or any additional factors required to activate or modify the death gene products such as Bax. Although the role of p53 in the apoptotic mechanism remains to be elucidated, the data presented in this thesis suggests that both p300 and JMY are potential mediators for p53-induced apoptosis.

Interestingly, I have found that the physiological consequences of p300 and JMY on p53 transcriptional activity can be distinguished from each other. Thus, combined with other results on the requirement for p300 in regulating p53 activity (Lill *et al.*, 1997; Gu *et al.*, 1997; Avantaggiati *et al.*, 1997; Lee *et al.*, 1998), I suggest a general model in which p300 and JMY function together in p53-dependent transcription and that p300 is necessary, but not sufficient, to augment apoptosis. Further, since JMY could augment apoptosis without additional p300, in turn the data suggest that in the conditions of the apoptosis assay JMY, rather than p300, is limiting.

The mechanism of action through which JMY and p300 co-operate in the transcriptional activation of p53 target genes, and the basis of the different effects on promoters, have yet to be elucidated. Nevertheless, the results do point towards a level of control that is likely to be important in the regulation of p53 activity and, specifically, indicate that there are additional co-activator molecules, like JMY, that through an interaction with p300 have a significant impact on the transcriptional activity of target genes and thus physiological outcome.

/ -.

I do not have any evidence to suggest that JMY is involved in the formation of basal transcriptional complex. However, it is possible that JMY may integrate p300/CBP proteins with components of the basal transcription apparatus, and thereby effect transcriptional activation perhaps through directly modulating basal transcription factor activity.

#### 7-12. Overall conclusion.

In conclusion, I have defined a central role for the p300 co-activator in coordinating the interplay between the pathways of control mediated by E2F-1/DP-1 and p53. The data strongly support the idea that p300 functions as a negative regulator of cell cycle progression and that the competition between E2F-1/DP-1 and p53 for p300 is instrumental in influencing whether cell cycle progression, G1 arrest or apoptosis occurs (Figure 7-5). The recent identification of tumour suppressor-like mutations in p300 genes in human tumour cells provides support for such an idea (Muraoka *et al.*, 1996; Sakai *et al.*, 1992; Giles *et al.*, 1995; Ida *et al.*, 1997).

Finally, a question of central importance relates to the mechanistic and physiological role of p300/CBP in regulating the p53 response. In this thesis, it was demonstrated that JMY, a novel p300 target protein, physically and functionally co-operates with p300 in transcriptional activation by p53 (Figure 7-5). Thus, the data support the notion that JMY is an important effector molecule in directing the

cellular response to p53 and suggest that JMY behaves as a significant determinant in influencing the biological outcome of transcriptional activation by p53.



# Figure 7-5

Regulation of cell cycle and apoptosis by p53 and E2F-1/DP-1 through coactivators p300 and JMY.

E2F/DP may be directly inducing death genes in the absence of pRb and the presence of co-activators. Alternatively, the transcriptional activation of E2F/DP through co-activators may be an indirect trigger for cell death by over-profiferation and exhaustion of survival factors. Activation of p53 transcription through co-activators p300 and JMY can directly induce genes involving in cell cycle arrest and apoptosis. (See text for further details)

# References

Alevizopoulos, K., J. Vlach, S. Hennecke, and B. Amati. 1997. Cyclin E and c-Myc promote cell proliferation in the presence of p16<sup>INK4a</sup> and of hyphophosphorylated retinoblastoma family proteins. *EMBO J.* **16**:5322-5333.

Allday, M.J., G.J. Inman, D.H. Crawford, and P.J. Farrell. 1995. DNA damage in human B cells can induce apoptosis, proceeding from G1/S when p53 is transactivation competent and G2/M when it is transactivation defective. *EMBO J.* 14:4994-5005.

Allen, K.E., S. de la Luna, R.M. Kerkhoven, R. Bernards, and N.B. La Thangue. 1997. Distinct mechanisms of nuclear accumulation regulate the functional consequence of E2F transcription factors. *J. Cell Sci.* **110**:2819-2831.

Almasan, A., Y. Yin, R.E. Kelly, E.Y.H. Lee, A. Bradley, W. Li, J.R. Bertino, and G.M. Wahl. 1995. Deficiency of retinoblastoma protein leads to inappropriate S-phase entry, activation of E2F-responsive genes, and apoptosis. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* **92**:5436-5440.

Arany, Z., D. Newsome, E. Oldread, D.M. Livingston, and R. Eckner. 1995. A family of transcriptional adaptor proteins targeted by the E1A oncoprotein. *Nature* **374:**81-84.

「「「「「「「「「「」」」」」」 2.2. Second states , 1994. -「日本市街」第二人間では日本市であって 2a20 2 - 2 のたいのようなな 「おおからかえてい いい 生活 手握 きんてき (加)

Arias, J., A.S. Alberts, P. Brindle, F.X. Claret, T. Smeal, M. Karin, J. Feramisco, and M. Montminy. 1994. Activation of cAMP and mitogen responsive genes relies on a common nuclear factor. *Nature* **370**:226-229.

Asano, M., J.R. Nevins, and R.P. Wharton. 1996. Ectopic E2F expression induces S phase and apoptosis in *Drosophila* imaginal discs. *Genes & Dev.* **10**:1422-1432.

Attardi, L.D., S.W. Lowe, J. Brugarolos, and T. Jacks. 1996. Transcriptional activation by p53, but not induction of the p21 gene, is essential for oncogene-mediated apoptosis. *EMBO J.* 15:3693-3701.

Avantaggiati, M.L., Carbone, C., Graessmann, A., Nakatani, Y., Howard, B. and Levine, A.S. 1996. The SV40 large T antigen and adenovirus E1A oncoproteins interact with distinct isoforms of the transcriptional co-activator p300. *EMBO J.* **15**:2236-2248.

Bandara, L.R., V.M. Buck, M. Zamanian, L.H. Johnston, and N.B. La Thangue. 1993. Functional synergy between DP-1 and E2F-1 in the cell cycle-regulating transcription factor DRTF1/E2F. *EMBO J.* **12:**4317-4324.

Bandara, L.R. and N.B. La Thangue. 1991. Adenovirus E1A prevents the retinoblastoma gene product from complexing with a cellular transcription factor. *Nature* **351**:494-497.

Bandara, L.R., J.P. Adamczewski, T. Hunt, and N.B. La Thangue. 1991. Cyclin A and the retinoblastoma gene product complex with a common transcription factor. *Nature* **352**:249-251. Bandara, L.R., E.W.-F. Lam, T.S. Sorensen, M. Zamanian, R. Girling, and N.B. La Thangue. 1994. DP-1; a cell cycle-regulated and phosphorylated component of transcription factor DRTF/E2F which is functionally important for recognition by pRb and the adenovirus E4 orf 6/7 protein. *EMBO J.* **13**:3104-3114.

Bannister, A.J. and Kouzarides, T. 1996. The CBP co-activator is a histone acetyltransferase. *Nature* **384**:641-643.

Bates, B. and K.H. Vousden. 1996. p53 in signalling checkpoint arrest or apoptosis. *Curr. Opi. Genet. Dev.* 6:12-19.

للمالية والمعارجة والمعارجة

Beijersbergen, R.L., R.M. Kerkhoven, L. Zhu, L. Carlee, P.M. Voorhoeve, and R. Bernards. 1994. E2F-4, a new member of the E2F gene family, has oncogenic activity and associates with p107 *in vivo*. *Genes & Dev.* **8**:2680-2690.

Berry, D.E., Y. Lu, B. Schmidt, P.G. Fallon, C. O'Connell, S.-X. Hu, H.-J. Xu, and G. Blanck. 1996. Retinoblastoma protein inhibits INF-γ induced apoptosis. *Oncogene* **12**:1809-1819.

Bhattacharya, S., R. Eckner, S. Grossman, E. Oldread, Z. Arany, A.D. Andrea, and D.M. Livingston. 1996. Cooperation of Stat 2 and p300/CBP in signalling induced by interferon-α. *Nature* **383**:344-347.

Bing, A. and Q.P. Dou. 1996. Cleavage of retinoblastoma protein during apoptosis : an interleukin 1  $\beta$ -converting enzyme-like protease as candidate. *Cancer Res.* **56**:438-442.

Borrow, J., V.P. Stanton Jr., J.M. Andresen, R. Becher, F.G. Behm, R.S.K. Chaganti, C.I. Civin, C. Disteche, I. Dube, A.M. Frischauf, D. Horsman, F. Mitelman, S. Volinia, A.E. Watmore, and D.E. Housman. 1996. The translocation t(8;16)(p11;p13) of acute mycloid leukennia fuses a putative acetyltransferase to the CREB-binding protein. *Nature Genetics* 14:33-41.

Bossy-Wetzel, E., L. Bakiri, and M. Yaniv. 1997. Induction of apoptosis by the transcription factor c-Jun. *EMBO J.* 16:1695-1709.

Botz, J., K. Zerfass-Thome, D. Spitkovsky, H. Delius, B. Vogt, M. Eilers, A. Hatzigeorgiou, and P. Jansen-Dürr. 1996. Cell cycle regulation of the murine cyclin E gene depends on an E2F binding site in the promoter. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* **16**:3401-3409.

Bowman, T., H. Symonds, L. Gu, C. Yin, M. Oren, and T. Van Dyke. 1996. Tissue-specific inactivation of p53 tumor suppression in the mouse. *Genes* & Dev. 10:826-835.

Braun, T., E. Borrelli, and H.H. Arnold. 1992. Inhibition of muscle differentiation by the adenovirus E1A protein repression of the transcriptional activiting function of the HLH protein Myf-5. *Genes & Dev.* **6**:888-902.

Brugarolas, J., C. Chandrasekaran, J.I. Gordon, D. Beach, T. Jacks, and G.J. Hannon. 1995. Radiation-induced cell cycle arrest compromised by p21 deficiency. *Nature* **377**:552-557.

Buck, V., K.F. Allen, T.S. Sørensen, A. Bybee, E.M. Hijmans, P.M. Voorhoeve, R. Bernards, and N.B. La Thangue. 1995. Molecular and

functional characterisation of E2F-5, a new member of the E2F family. Oncogene 11:31-38.

Buckbinder, L., R. Talbott, S. Valesco-Miguel, I. Takenaka, B. Faha, B.R.Seizinger, and N. Kley. 1995. Induction of the growth inbibitor IGFbinding protein 3 by p53. *Nature* **377:**646-649.

Caelles, C., A. Helmberg, and M. Karin. 1994. p53-dependent apoptosis in the absence of transcriptional activation of p53-target genes. *Nature* **370**:220-223.

Canman, C., E.T.M. Gilmer, S.B. Coutts, and M.B. Kastan. 1995. Growth factor modulation of p53-mediated growth arrest verses apoptosis. *Genes & Dev.* **9:**600-611.

Chakravarti, D., V.J. LaMorte, M.C. Nelson, T. Nakajima, I.G. Schulman, H. Juguilon, M. Montminy, and R.M. Evans. 1996. Role of CBP/p300 in nuclear receptor signalling. *Nature* **383**:99-103.

Chellappan, S.P., S. Hiebert, M. Mudryj, J.M. Horowitz, and J.R. Nevins. 1991. The E2F transcription factor is a cellular target for the RB protein. *Cell* **65**:1053-1061.

Chellappan, S.P., V. Kraus, B. Kroger, K. Munger, P. Howley, W. Phelps, and J.R. Nevins. 1992. Adenovirus E1A, simian virus 40 tumor antigen, and human papillomavirus E7 protein share the capacity to disrupt the interaction between transcription factor E2F and the retinoblastoma gene product. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* **89**:4549-4553.

Chen, C.Y., J.D. Oliner, Q. Zhan, A.J. Fornace, B. Vogelstein, and M.B. Kastan. 1994. Interaction between p53 and MDM2 in a mammalian cell cycle checkpoint pahtway. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* **91**:2684-2688.

Chen, H., R.J. Lin, R.L. Schiltz, D. Chakravarti, A. Nash, L. Nagy, M.L. Privalsky, Y. Nakatani, and R.M. Evans. 1997. Nuclear receptor coactivator ACTR is a novel histone acetyltransferase and forms a multimeric activation complex with P/CAF and CBP/p300. *Cell* **90**:569-580. Association

...

а 2

And a set

S

Chen, X., L.J. Ko, L. Jayaraman, and C. Prives. 1996. p53 levels, functional domains, and DNA damage determine the extent of the apoptotic response of tumor cells. *Genes & Dev.* **10**:2438-2451.

Chen, X., G. Farmer, H. Zhu, R. Prywes, and C. Prives. 1993. Cooperative DNA binding of p53 with TFIID (TBP) : a possible mechanism for transcriptional activation. *Genes & Dev.* **7**:1837-1849.

Chen, X., J. Bargonetti, and C. Prives. 1995. p53, through p21(Waf1/Cip1), induces cyclin D1 synthesis. *Cancer Res.* **55:**4257-4263.

Chiou, S.-K., L. Rao, and E. White. 1994. Bcl-2 blocks p53-dependent apoptosis. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 14:2556-2563.

Chiou, S.-K. and E. White. 1997. p300 binding by E1A cosegregates with p53 induction but is dispensable for apoptosis. *J. Virol.* **71**:3515-3525.

Cho, Y.S., P.D. Gorina, and N.P. Pavletich. 1994. Crystal structure of a p53 tumor suppressor-DNA complex: understanding tumorigenic mutations. *Science* **265**:346-355.

Chow, K.N.B. and D.C. Dean. 1996. Domains A and B in the Rb pocket interact to form a transcriptional repressor motif. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 16:4862-4868.

Chrivia, J.C., R.P. Kwok, N. Lamb, M. Hagiwara, M.R. Montminy, and R.H. Goodman. 1993. Phosphorylated CREB binds specifically to the nuclear protein CBP. *Nature* **365**:855-859.

Clarke, A.R., E.R. Mazndag, M. Van Roon, N.M.T. Van der Lugt, M. Van der Valk, M.J. Hooper, A. Berns, and H. Te Riele. 1992. Requirement for a functional *Rb-1* gene in murine development. *Nature* **359**:328-330.

Clarke, A.R., C.A. Purdie, D.J. Harrison, R.G. Morris, C.C. Bird, M.L. Hooper and A.H. Wyllie. 1993. Thymocyte apoptosis induced by p53-dependent and independent pathways. *Nature* **359**:849-852.

Cobrinik, D., M.H. Lee, G. Hannon, G. Mulligan, R.T. Bronson, N. Dyson, E. Harlow, D. Beach, R.A. Weinberg, and T. Jacks. 1996. Shared role of the pRb-related p130 and p107 proteins in limb development. *Genes & Dev.* **10**:1633-1644.

Cox, L.S. and D.P. Lane. 1995. Tumor suppressors, kinases and clamps: how p53 regulates the cell cycle in response to DNA damage. *BioEssays* 17:501-508.

Crook, T., N.J. Marston, E.A. Sara, and K.H. Vousden. 1994. Transcriptional activation by p53 correlates with suppression of growth but not transformation. *Cell* **79**:817-827.

212
Dai, P., H. Akimaru, Y. Tanaka, D.-X. Hou, T. Yasukawa, C. Kanei-Ishii, T. Takahashi, and S. Ishii. 1996. CBP as a transcriptional coactivator of c-Myb. *Genes & Dev.* 10:528-540.

Darnell, J.E., I.M. Kerr, and G.R. Stark. 1994. JAK-STAT pathways and transcriptional activation in response to IFNs and other extracellular signalling proteins. *Science* **264**:1415-1421.

Datto, M.B., P.P.-C. Hu, T.F. Kowalik, J. Yingling, and X.-F. Wang. 1997. The viral oncoprotein E1A blocks transforming growth factor  $\beta$ -mediated induction of p21/Waf1/Cip1 and p15/INK4B. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* **17**:2030-2037.

de la Luna, S., J. Morwenna, C.-W. Lee, and N.B. La Thangue. 1996. Nuclear accumulation of the E2F heterodimer regulated by subunit composition and alternative splicing of a nuclear localization signal. *J. Cell Sci.* **109**:2443-2452.

Debbas, M. and E. White. 1993. Wild-type p53 mediates apoptosis by E1A. which is inhibited by E1B. *Genes & Dev.* 7:546-554.

DeGregori, J., G. Leone, A. Miron, L. Jakoi, and J.R. Nevins. 1997. Distinct roles for E2F proteins in cell growth control and apoptosis. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* **94**:7245-7250.

Demers, G.W., C.L. Halbert, and D.A. Galloway. 1994. Elevated wild-type p53 protein levels in human epithelial cell lines immotalized by human papillomavirus type 16 E7 gene. *Virology* **198**:169-174.

A the strong that will be Weight A 11.31.4 State of the state of the state e Kan 「「「」というというが、 

.

Deng, C., P. Zhang, J.W. Harper, S. Elledge, and P. Leder. 1995. Mice lacking p21<sup>Cip1/Waf1</sup> undergo normal development, but are defective in G1 checkpoint control. *Cell* **82:**675-684.

Donchower, L.A., M. Harvey, B.L. Slagle, M.J. McArthur, C.A. Montgomery, J.S. Butel, and A. Bradley. 1992. Mice deficient for p53 are developmentally normal but susceptible to spontaneous tumours. *Nature* **356**: 215-221.

Dowdy, S.F., P.W. Hinds, K. Louie, S.J. Reed, A. Arnold, and R.A. Weinberg. 1993. Physical interaction of the retinoblastoma protein with human cyclins. *Cell* **73**:449-511.

Dulic, V., W.K. Kaufmann, S.J. Wilson, T.D. Tlsty, E. Lees, J.W. Harper, S.J. Elledge, and S.I. Reed. 1994. p53-dependent inhibition of cyclindependent kinase activities in human fibroblasts during radiation-induced G1 arrest. *Cell* **76**:1013-1023.

Dynlacht, B.D., O. Flores, J.A. Lees, and E. Harlow. 1994. Differential regulation of E2F transcription by cyclin/cdk complexes. *Genes & Dev.* 8:1772-1786.

Dynlacht, B.D. 1997. Regulation of transcription by proteins that control the cell cycle. *Nature* **389**:149-152.

Eckner, R., M.E. McEwan, D. Newsome, M. Gerdes, J.A. DeCaprio, J.B. Lawrence, and D.M. Livingston. 1994. Molecular cloning and functional

3

analysis of the E1A-associated 300Kd protein (p300) reveals a protein with properties of a transcriptional adaptor. *Genes & Dev.* **8**:869-884.

Eckner, R., T.-P.Yao, E. Oldread, and D.M. Livingston. 1996. Interaction and functional collaboration of p300/CBP and bHLH proteins in muscle and B-cell differentiation. *Genes & Dev.* **10**:2478-2490.

El-Deiry, W.S., T. Tokino, V.E. Velculescu, D.B. Levy, R. Parsons, J.M. Trent, D. Lin, W.E. Mercer, K. Kinzler, and B. Vogelstein. 1993. Waf1, a potential mediator of p53 tumour suppression. *Cell* **75:**817-825.

Ewen, M.E., Y. Xing, J. B. Lawrence, and D.M. Livingston. 1991. Molecular cloning, chromosomal mapping, and expression of the cDNA for p107, a retinoblastoma gene product-related protein. *Cell* **66**:1155-1164.

Ewen, M.E., H.K. Sluss, C.J. Sheer, H. Matsushime, J.Y. Kato, and D.M. Livingston. 1993. Functional interactions of the retinoblastoma protein with mammalian D-type cyclins. *Cell* **73**:487-497.

Fanidi, A., E.A. Harrington, and G.I. Evan. 1992. Cooperative interaction between c-myc and bcl-2 protooncogenes. *Nature* **359**:554-556.

Field, S.J., F.-Y. Tsai, F. Kuo, A.M. Zubiaga, W.G. Kaelin Jr., D.M. Livingston, S.H. Orkin, and M.E. Greenberg. 1996. E2F-1 functions in mice to promote apoptosis and suppress proliferation cell. *Cell* **85:5**49-561.

Fields, S. and S.K. Jang. 1990. Presence of a potent transcription activating sequence in the p53 protein. *Science* **249**:1046-1049.

Fisher, D.E. 1994. Apoptosis in cancer therapy crossing the threshold. *Cell* **78**:539-542.

Flemington, E.K., S.H. Speck, and W.G. Kaelin Jr. 1993. E2F-1 mediated transactivation is inhibited by complex formation with the retinoblastoma suseptibility gene product. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* **90**:6914-6918.

Friedlander, P., Y. Haupt, and M. Oren. 1996. A mutant p53 that discriminates between p53-responsive genes cannot induce apoptosis. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 16: 4961-4971.

Ganzalez, G.A. and M.R. Montminy. 1989. Cyclic AMP stimulates somatostatin gene transcription by phosphorylation of CREB at serine 133. *Cell* **59**:675-680.

Giles, R.H., F. Petrij, J.G. Dauwerse, B.A. van der Reijden, G.C. Beverstock,
A. Hagemeijer, and M.H. Breuning. 1995. The translocation T(8-16) in
ANLL M4/M5 disrupts the CBP gene on chromosome-16. Blood 86:128.

Giles, R.H., F. Petrij, J.G. Dauwerse, A.I. den Hollander, T. Lushnikova, G.J.B. van Ommen, R.H. Goodman, L.L. Deaven, N.A. Doggett, D.J.M. Peters, and M.H. Breuning. 1997. Construction of a 1.2-Mb contig surrounding, and molecular analysis of, the human CREB-binding protein (CBP/CREBBP) gene on chromosome. *Genomics* **42**:96-114.

Giles, R.H., D.J.M. Peters, and M.H. Breuning. 1998. Conjuction dysfunction: CBP/p300 in human disease. *Trends Genetics* 14:178-183.

£, 

Ginsberg, D., G. Vairo, T. Chittendon, Z.-X. Xiao, G. Xu, K.K. Wydner, J.A. DeCaprio, J.B. Lawrence, and D.M. Livingston. 1994. E2F-4, a new E2F transcription factor family member, interacts with p107 and has transforming potential. *Genes & Dev.* **8**:2939-2952.

Girling, R., J.F. Partridge, L.R. Bandara, N. Burden, N.F. Totty, J.J. Hsuan, and N.B. La Thangue. 1993. A new component of the transcription factor DRTF1/E2F. *Nature* 362:83-87.

Goga, A., X. Liu, T.M. Hambuch, K. Senechal, E. Major, A.J. Berk, O.N. Witte, and C.L. Sawyers. 1995. p53-dependent growth suppression by the c-Abl nuclear tyrosine kinase. *Oncogene* **11**:791-799.

Gottlieb, E., R. Haffner, T. von Ruden, E.F. Wagner, and M. Oren. 1994. Down-regulation of wild-type p53 activity interferes with apoptosis of IL-3 dependent hematopoetic cells following IL-3 withdrawl. *EMBO J.* **13**:1368-1374.

Gottlieb, E., R. Haffner, A. King, G. Asher, P. Lonai, and M. Oren. 1997. Transgenic mouse model for studying the transcriptional activity of the p53 protein: age- and tissue-dependent changes in radiation-induced activation during embryogenesis. *EMBO J.* 16:1381-1390.

Greenblatt, M.S., W.P. Bennett, M. Hollstein, and C.C. Harris. 1994. Mutations in p53 tumor suppressor gene: clues to cancer etiology and molecular pathogenesis. *Cancer Res.* **54**:4855-4878.

Gu, W., Shi, X-L. and Roeder, R.G. 1997a. Synergistic activation of transcription by CBP and p53. *Nature* **387**:819-822.

「「「「「「「「「」」」」」 Arrest 5122 いいをいたいとうというという 

Gu, W. and Roeder, R.G. 1997b. Activation of p53 sequence-specific DNA binding by acetylation of the p53 C-terminal domain. *Cell* **90**:595-606.

Gulbis, J.M., Z. Kelman, J. Hurwitz, M. O'Donnell, and J. Kuriyan. 1996. Structure of the C-terminal region of p21<sup>Waf1/Cip1</sup> complexed with human PCNA. *Cell* **87**: 297-306.

Haas-Kogan, D.A., S.C. Kogan, D. Levi, P. Dazin, A. Tang, Y.K.T. Fung, and M.A. Israel. 1995. Inhibition of apoptosis by the retinoblastoma gene product. *EMBO J.* 14:461-472.

Hagemeier, C., A. Cook, and T. Kouzarides. 1993. The retinoblastoma protein binds E2F residues required for activation *in vivo* and TBP binding *in vitro*. *Nucleic Acids Res.* **21**:4998-5004.

Hall, P.A., D. Meek, and D.P. Lane. 1996. p53-integrating the complexity. J. Path. 180:1-5.

Han, J., P. Sabbatini, D. Perez, L. Rao, D. Modha, and E. White. 1996. The E1B 19K protein blocks apoptosis by interacting with and inhibiting the p53-inducible and death-promoting Bax protein. *Genes & Dev.* **10**:461-477.

Hannon, G.J. and D. Beach. 1994. p15<sup>*INK4B*</sup> is a potential effector cell cycle arrest mediated by TGFb. *Nature* **371**:257-260.

Hansen, R. and M. Oren. 1997. p53; from inductive signal to cellular effect. *Curr. Opi. Genet. Dev.* **7:**46-51.

Hansen. S., T.R. Hupp, and D.P. Lane. 1996. Allosteric regulation of the thermostability and DNA binding activity of human p53 by specific interacting proteins. *J. Biol. Chem.* **271**:3917-3924.

-

े

A Press and a second

Harper, J.W., G.R. Adami, N. Wei, K. Keyomarsi, and S.J. Elledge. 1993. The p21 Cdk-interacting protein CIP1 is a potent inhibitor of G1 cyclindependent kinases. *Cell* **75:**805-816.

Harter, L.H. and M.B. Kastan. 1994. Cell cycle control and cancer. *Science* **266**:1821-1828.

Haupt, Y., S. Rowan, and M. Oren. 1995a. p53-mediated apoptosis in HeLa cells can be overcome by excess pRb. *Oncogene* 10:1563-1571.

Haupt, Y., S. Rowan, E. Shaulian, K.H. Vousden, and M. Oren. 1995b.
Induction of apoptosis in HeLa cells by *trans*-activation-deficient p53. *Genes & Dev.* 9:2170-2183.

Haupt, Y., Y. Barak, and M.Oren. 1996. Cell type-specific inhibition of p53mediated apoptosis by mdm2. *EMBO J.* **15:**1596-1606.

Haupt, Y., R. Maya, A. Kazaz, and M. Oren. 1997. Mdm2 promotes the rapid degradation of p53. *Nature* **387**:296-299.

Helin, K., J. Lees, M. Vidal, N. Dyson, E. Harlow, and A.R. Fattaey. 1992. A cDNA encoding a pRb-binding protein with properties of the transcription factor E2F. *Cell* **70**:337-350.

 $\hat{\phi}$  is the second and the second second 2 5.2.5

Helin, K., E. Harlow, and A.R. Fattaey. 1993. Inhibition of E2F-1 transactivation by direct binding of the retinoblastoma protein. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* **13:**6501-6508.

Helin, K. and E. Harlow, 1993. The retinoblastoma protein as a transcriptional repressor. *Trends. Cell Biol.* 43-46.

Hen, R., E. Borrelli, and P. Chambon. 1985. Repression of the immunoglobulin heavy-chain enhancer by the adnovirus-2 E1A products. *Science* **230**:1391-1394.

Herrington, E.A., M.R. Bennett, A. Fanidi, and G.I. Evan. 1994. c-mycinduced apoptosis in fibroblasts is inhibited by specific cytokines. *EMBO J.* 13:3286-3295.

Hiebert S.W., G. Packham, D.K. Strom, R. Haffner, M. Oren G. Zambetti, and J. L. Cleveland. 1995. E2F-1:DP-1 induces p53 and overrides survival factors to triger apoptosis. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* **15**:6864-6874.

Hijmans, E.M., P.M. Voorhoeve, R.L. Beijersbergen, L.J. van't Veer, and R. Bernards. 1995. E2F-5, a new E2F family member that interacts with p130 *in vivo*. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* **15:**3082-3089.

Hinds, P.W., S. Mittnacht, V. Dulic, A. Arnold, S.I. Reed, and R.A. Weinberg. 1992. Regulation of retinoblastoma protein functions by ectopic expression of human cyclins. *Cell* **70**:993-1006.

Hoffman, B. and D.A. Liebermann. 1994. Molecular controls of apoptosis: differentiation/growth arrest primary response genes, proto-oncogenes, and

tumor suppressor genes as positive & negative modulators. *Oncogene* 9:1807-1812.

.

1919

ŝ.

ŝ÷

9<sup>7</sup>

30

ê

Howes, K.A., N. Ransom, D.S. Papermaster, J.G.H. Lasudry, D.M. Albert, and J.J. Windle. 1994. Apoptosis or retinoblastoma: Alternative fates of photoreceptors expressing the HPV-16 E7 gene in the presence or absence of p53. *Genes & Dev.* **8**:1300-1310.

Hsieh, J.-K., S. Fredersdorf, T. Kouzarides, K. Martin, and X. Lu. 1997.
E2F1-induced apoptosis requires DNA binding but not transactivation and is inhibited by the retinoblastoma protein through direct interaction. *Genes & Dev.* 11:1840-1852.

Hu, Q., N. Dyson, and E. Harlow. 1990. The region of the retinoblastoma protein needed for binding to adenovirus E1A or SV40 large T antigen are common sites for mutations. *EMBO J.* **9**:1147-1155.

Hunter, T. and M. Karin. 1992. The regulation of transcription by phosphorylation. *Cell* **70**:375-387.

Hupp, T.R., D.W. Meek, C.A. Midgley, and D.P. Lane. 1992. Regulation of the specific DNA binding function of p53. *Cell* **71**:875-886.

Hurford, R.K., D. Cobrinik, M.H. Lee, and N. Dyson. 1997. pRB and p107/p130 are required for the regulated expression of different sets of E2F responsive genes. *Genes & Dev.* **11**:1447-1463.

Ida, K., I. Kitabayashi, T. Taki, M. Taniwaki, K. Noro, M. Yamamoto, M. Ohki, and Y. Hayashi. 1997. Adenoviral E1A-associated protein p300 is

221

involved in acute myeloid leukemia with t (11;22) (923;913). Blood 90:4699-4704.

Imhof, A., X.J. Yang, V.V. Ogryzko, Y. Nakatani, A.P. Wolffe, and H. Ge. 1997. Acetylation of general transcription factors by histone acetyltransferase. *Curr. Biol.* 7:689-692.

Jacks, T., A. Fazeli, E.M. Schmitt, R.T. Bronson, M.A. Goodell, and R.A. Weinberg. 1992. Effects of a Rb mutation in the mouse. *Nature* **359**:295-300.

Janknecht, R. and T. Hunter. 1996. Transcriptional control:Versatile molecular glue. *Current Biol.* **6**:951-954.

Jayaraman, L. and C. Prives. 1995. Activation of p53 sequence-specific DNA bindong by short single strands of DNA requires the p53 C-terminus. *Cell* **81**:1021-1029.

Jayaraman, L., K. Murthy, C. Zhu, T. Curran, S. Xanthoudakis, and C. Prives. 1997. Identification of redox/repair protein Ref-1 as a potent activator of p53. *Genes & Dev.* 11:558-570.

Jen, J., J.W. Harper, S.H. Bigner, D.D. Bigner, N. Papadaopoulos, S. Markowitz, J.K.V. Willson, K.W. Kinzler, and B. Vogelstein. 1994. Deletion of p15 and p16 genes in brain tumors. *Cancer Res.* 54:6353-6358.

Jenster, G., T.E. Spencer, M.M. Burcin, S.Y. Tsai, M.-J. Tsai, and B.W. O'Malley. 1997. Steroid receptor induction of gene transcription: a two-step model. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* **94**:7879-7884.

Johnson, D.G., J.K. Schwartz, W.D. Cress, and J.R. Nevins. 1993. Expression of transcription factor E2F1 induces quiescent cells to enter S phase. *Nature* **365:**349-351.

Johnson, D.G., K. Ohtani, and J.R. Nevins. 1994. Autoregulatory control of E2F-1 expression in response to positive and negative regulators of cell cycle progression. *Genes & Dev.* 8:1514-1525.

Johnson, D.G., W.Douglas Cress, L. Jakoi, and J.R. Nevins. 1994. Oncogenic capacity of the E2F1 gene. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* 91:12823-12827.

Jones, S.N., A.E. Roe, L.A. Donehower, and A.B. Bradley. 1995. Rescue of embryonic lethality in Mdm2-deficient mice by absence of p53. *Nature* **378**:206-208.

Johnston, L.H. 1992. Cell cycle control of gene expression in yeast. *Trends Cell. Biol.* **2:**353-357.

Jooss, K., E.W.-F. Lam, A. Bybee, R. Girling, R. Muller, and N.B. La Thangue. 1995. Proto-oncogenic properties of the DP family proteins. *Oncogene* 10:1529-1536.

Jost, C.A., M.C. Marin, and W.G. Kaelin Jr. 1997. p73 is a human p53related protein that can induce apoptosis. *Nature* **389**:191-194. Juven, T., Y. Barak, A. Zauberman, D.L. George, and M. Oren. 1993. Wild type p53 can mediate sequence-specific transactivation of an internal promoter within the Mdm2 gene. *Oncogene* **8**:3411-3416. iteration and a subsection of the device of the

1

Kaelin Jr., W.G., W. Krek, W.R. Sellers, J.A. DeCaprio, F. Ajchanbaum, C.S. Fuchs, T. Chittenden, Y. Li, P.J. Farnham, M.A. Blanar, D.M. Livingston, and E.K. Flemington. 1992. Expression cloning of a cDNA encoding a retinoblastoma-binding protein with E2F-like properties. *Cell* **70:**351-364.

Kaghad, M., H. Bonnet, A. Yang, L. Creancier, J.-C. Biscan, A. Valent, A.
Minty, P. Chalon, J.-M. Lelias, X. Dumont, P. Ferrara, F. Mckeon, and D.
Caput. 1997. Monoallelically expressed gene related to p53 at 1p36, a region frequently deleted in neuroblastoma and other human cancers. *Cell* 90:809-819.

Kamb, A. 1995. Cell-cycle regulators and cancer. *Trends in Genetics* **11**:136-140.

Kamb, A., N.A. Gruis, J. Weaver-Feldhaus, Q. Liu, K. Harshman, S.V. Tavitian, E. Stockert, R. Day, B.E. Johnson, and M.H. Skolnik. 1994. A cell cycle regulator potentially involved in genesis of many tumor types. *Science* **264**:436-440.

Kamei, Y., L. Xu, T. Heinzel, J. Torchia, R. Kurokawa, B. Gloss, S.C. Lin, R.A. Heyman, D.W. Rose, and C.K. Glass. 1996. A CBP integrator complex mediates transcriptional activation and AP1 inhibition by nuclear receptors. *Cell* **85**:403-414. Kastan, M.B., Q. Zhan, W.S. El-Deiry, F. Carrier, T. Jacks, W.V. Walsh, B.S. Plunkett, B. Vogelstein, and A.J. Fornace. 1992. A mammalian cell cycle checkpoint pathway utilizing p53 and GADD45 is defective in ataxia-telangiectasia. *Cell* **71**:587-597.

Kern, S.E., J.A. Pietenpol, S. Thiagalingam, A. Seymour, K.W. Kinzler, and
B. Vogelstein. 1992. Oncogenic forms of p53 inhibit p53-regulated gene expression. *Science* 256:827-830.

Kharbanda, S., P. Pandey, S. Jin, S. Inoue, A. Bharti, Z.-M. Yuan, R. Weichselbaum, D. Weaver, and D. Kufe. 1997. Functional interaction between DNA-PK and c-Abl in response to DNA damage. *Nature* **386**:732-735.

Knudson, C.M., K.S.K.Tung, W.G. Tourtellotte, G.A.J. Brown, and S.J. Korsmeyer. 1995. Bax-deficient mice with lymphoid hyperplasia and male germ cell death. *Science* **270**:96-99.

Ko, L.J. and C. Prives. 1996. p53: puzzle and paradigm. *Genes & Dev.* 10:1054-1072.

Koh, J., G.H. Enders, B.D. Dynlacht, and E. Harlow. 1995. Tumour-derived p16 alleles encoding proteins defective in cell-cycle inhibition. Nature 375:506-510.

Komarova, E.A., M.V. Chernov, R. Franks, G. Armin, C.R. Zelnick, D.M. Chin, S.S. Bacus, G.R. Stark, and A.V. Gudkov. 1997. Transgenic mice with p53-responsive lacZ: p53 activity varies dramatically during normal

development and determines radiation and drug sensitivity *in vivo*. *EMBO J.* **16**:1391-1400.

Korzus, E., J. Torchia, D.W. Rose, L. Xu, R. Kurokawa, E.M. McInerney, T.-M. Mullen, C.K. Glass, and M.G. Rosenfeld. 1998. Transcription factor-specific requirements for coactivators and their acetyltransferase functions. *Science* **279**:703-707.

Kowalik, T.F., J. DeGregori, J.K. Schwarz, and J.R. Nevins. 1995. E2F1 overexpression in quiescent fibroblasts leads to induction of cellular DNA synthesis and apoptosis. *J. Virol.* **69**:2491-2500.

Kowalik, T.F., J. DeGregori, G. Leone, L. Jakoi, and J.R. Nevins. 1998. E2F-1 specific induction of apoptosis and p53 accumulation, which is blocked by Mdm2. *Cell Growth Differ*. **9**:113-118.

Kraus, V.B., E. Moran, and J.R. Nevins. 1992. Promoter specific transactivation by the adenovirus-E1A 12S product involves separate E1A domains. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* **12**:4391-4399.

Krek, W., M.E. Ewen, S. Shirodkar, Z. Arany, W.G. Kaelin, and D.M. Livingston. 1994. Negative regulation of the growth-promoting transcription factor E2F-1 by a stably bound cyclinA-dependent protein kinase. *Cell* **78**:161-172.

Kubbutat, M.H.G., S.N. Jones, and K.H. Vousden. 1997. Regulation of p53 stability by Mdm2. *Nature* **387:**299-303.

Kurokawa, R., D. Kalafus, M.-H. Ogliastro, C. Kioussi, L. Xu, J. Torchia, M.G. Rosenfeld, and C.K. Glass. 1998. Differential use of CREB binding protein-coactivator complexes. *Science* **279**:700-702.

Kwok, R.P.S., M.E. Laurance, J.R. Lundblad, P.S. Goldman, H. Shih, L.M. Connor, S.J. Marriott, and R.H. Goodman. 1996. Control of cAMP-regulated enhancers by the viral transactivator Tax through CREB and the co-activator CBP. *Nature* **380**:642-646.

La Thangue, N.B., B. Thimmappaya, and P.W.J. Rigby. 1990. The embryonal carcinima stem cell E1a-like activity involves a differentiation-regulated transcription factor. *Nucl. Acids. Res.* **18**:2920-2938.

La Thangue, N.B. 1994. DRTF1/E2F: an expending family of heterodimeric transcription factors implicated in cell-cycle control. *Trends Biochem. Sci.* **19**:108-114.

Lam, E.W.-F. and N.B. La Thangue. 1994. DP and E2F proteins: coordinating transcription with cell cycle progression. *Curr. Op. Cell. Biol.* **6**:859-866.

Lane, D.P. 1993. A death in the life of p53. Nature 362:786-787.

Lee, C.-W., J. Chang, K.J. Lee, and Y.C. Sung. 1994. The Bell protein of human foamy virus contains one positive and two negative control regions which regulates a distinct activation domain of 30 amino acids. *J. Virol.* **68**:2708-2719.

Ę . : 2 

Lee, C.-W., T.S. Sørensen, N. Shikama, and N.B. La Thangue. 1998. Functional interplay between p53 and E2F through co-activator p300. *Oncogene* 16:2695-2710.

Lee, C.-W. and La Thangue, N.B. 1998. Promoter specificity and coactivator control of the p53-related protein p73. Submitted for publication.

Lee, J.-S., K.M. Galvin, R.H. See, R. Eckner, D.M. Livingston, E. Moran, and Y. Shi. 1995. Relif of YY1 transcriptional repression by adenovirus E1A is mediated by E1A-associated protein p300. *Genes & Dev.* 9:1188-1198.

Lee, E.Y.-H.P., N. Hu, S.-S.F. Yuan, L.A. Cox, A. Bradley, W.-H. Lee, and K. Herrup. 1994. Dual roles of the retinoblastoma protein in cell cycle regulation and neuron differentiation. *Genes & Dev.* 8:2008-2021.

Lee, S., B. Elenbaas, A.J. Levine, and J. Griffith. 1995. p53 and its 14kDa C-terminal domain recognize primary DNA damage in the form of insertion/deletion mismatches. *Cell* **81**:1013-1020.

Lee, W.-H., J.-Y. Shew, F.D. Hong, T.W. Sery, L.A. Donoso, L.-J. Young, R. Bookstein, and E.Y.-H.P. Lee. 1987. The retinoblastoma susceptibility gene encodes a nuclear phosphoprotein associated with DNA binding activity. *Nature* **329**:642-645.

Lees, J.A., K.J. Buchkovich, D.R. Marshak, C.W. Anderson, and E. Harlow. 1991. The retinoblastoma protein is phosphorylated on multi-sites by human edc2. *EMBO J.* **10**:4279-4290.

Leone, G., J. DeGregori, R. Sears, L. Jakoi, and J.R. Nevins. 1997. Myc and Ras collaborate in inducing accumulation of active cyclin E/Cdk2 and E2F. *Nature* **387**:422-426.

Levine, A.J. 1997. p53, the cellular gatekeeper for growth and division. *Cell* 88:323-331.

Li, H., P.J. Gomes, and J.D. Chen. 1997. RAC3, a steroid/nuclear receptorassociated co-activator that is related to SRC-1 and TIF2. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* **94**:8479-**84**84.

Li, Y., C. Graham, S. Lacy, A.M.V. Duncan, and P. Whyte. 1993. The adenovirus E1A-associated 130-kD protein is encoded by a member of the retinoblastoma gene family and physically interacts with cyclins A and E. *Genes & Dev.* **7:**2366-2377.

Lill, N.L., M.J. Tevethia, R. Eckner, D.M. Livingston, and N. Modjtahedi. 1997. p300 family members associate with the carboxyl terminus of simian virus 40 large tumor antigen. *J. Virol.* **71**:129-137.

Lill, N.L., S.R. Grossman, D. Ginsberg, J. DeCaprio, and D.M. Livingston. 1997. Binding and modulation of p53 by p300/CBP co-activators. *Nature* **387**:823-827.

Lin, D., M.T. Shields, S.J. Ullrich, E. Appella, and W. E. Mercer. 1992. Growth arrest induced by wild-type p53 protein blocks cells prior to or near the restriction point in late G1 phase. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* **89**:9210-9214. Liu, Z.G., R. Baskaran, E.T. Lea-Chou, L.D. Wood, Y. Chen, M. Karin, and J.Y.J. Wang. 1996. Three distinct signalling responses by murine fibroblast to genotoxic stress. *Nature* **384**:273-276.

Lin, J., J. Chen, B. Elenbaas, and A.J. Levine. 1994. Several hydrophobic amino acids in the p53 amino-terminal domain are required for transcriptional activation, binding to mdm-2 and the adenovirus 5 E1B 55-kD protein. *Genes & Dev.* 8:1235-1246.

Lowe, S. and H.E. Ruley. 1993. Stabilization of the p53 tumor suppressor is induced by adenovirus 5 E1A and accompanies apoptosis. *Genes & Dev.* 7:535-545.

ų.ľ

Ì

Lowe, S. W., E.M. Schmitt, S.W. Smith, B.A. Osborne, and T. Jacks. 1993. p53 is regulated for radiation-induced apoptosis in mouse thymocytes. *Nature* **362**:847-849.

Lu, H. and A.J. Levine. 1995. Human TAF-31 is a transcriptional coactivator of the p53 protein. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* **92:**5154-5158.

Ludlow, J.W., C.L. Glendening, D.M. Livingston, and J.A. DeCarprio. 1993. Specific enzymatic dephosphorylation of the retinoblastoma protein. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* **13**:367-372.

Ludwig, R.L., S. Bates, and K.H. Vousden. 1996. Differential activation of target cellular promoters by p53 mutants with impaired apoptosis function. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* **16:**4952-4960.

こうないとうしゃ ないない とうしきがい マインしん かんてんてい and the states in the state of the states of the second а Т, 5.00 変換 となる とうさい

Lundblad, J.R., R.P.S. Kwok, M.E. Laurance, M.L. Harter, and R.H. Goodman. 1995. Adenoviral E1A-associated protein p300 as a functional homologue of the transcriptional co-activator CBP. *Nature* **374**:85-88.

Lukas, J., D. Parry, L. Aagaard, D.J. Mann, J. Bartkova, M. Strauss, G. Peters, and J. Bartek. 1995. Retinoblastoma-protein-dependent cell-cycle inhibition by the tumour suppressor p16<sup>*lNK4a*</sup>. *Nature* **375**:503-506.

Lukas, J., B.O. Petersen, K. Holm, J. Bartek, and K. Helin. 1996. Deregulated expression of E2F family members induces S-phase entry and overcomes p16<sup>*lNK4a*</sup>-mediated growth suppression. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* **16**:1047-1057.

Luo, R.X., A.A. Postigo, and D.C. Dean. 1998. Rb interacts with histone deacetylase to repress transcription. *Cell* **92**:463-473.

Macleod, K.F., N. Sherry, G. Hannon, D. Beach, T. Tokino, K. Kinzler, B. Vogelstein, and T. Jacks. 1995. p53-dependent and independent expression of p21 during cell growth, differentiation, and DNA damage. *Genes & Dev.* **9**:935-944.

Macleod, K.F., Y. Hu, and T. Jacks. 1996. Loss of Rb activates both p53dependent and independent cell death pathways in the developing mouse nervous system. *EMBO J.* **15:**6178-6188.

Magae, J., C.-L. Wu, S. Illenye, E. Harlow, and N.H. Heintz. 1996. Nuclear localization of DP and E2F transcription factors by heterodimeric partners and retinoblastoma protein family members. *J. Cell Sci.* **109**:1717-1726.

Maheswaran, S., C. Englert, P. Bennett, G. Heinrich, and D.A. Haber. 1995. The WT1 gene product stabilizes p53 and inhibits p53-mediated apoptosis. *Genes & Dev.* **9:**2143-2156.

Malkin, D. 1993. p53 and Li-Fraumeni syndrome. *Cancer Genet. Cytogenet.* **66**:83-92.

Martin, K., D. Trouche, C. Hagemeier, T.S. Sørensen, N.B. La Thangue, and T. Kouzarides. 1995. Stimulation of E2F1/DP1 transcriptional activity by the MDM2 oncoprotein. *Nature* **375:**691-694.

Martin, S.J. and D.R. Green. 1995. Protease activation during apoptosis : death by a thousand cuts ? *Cell* **82**:349-352.

Martinou, J.C., M. Duboisdauphin, J.K. Staple, I. Rodriguez, H. Frankowski, M. Missotten, P. Albertini, D. Talabot, S. Catsicas, C. Pietra, and J. Huarte. 1994. Overexpression of Bel-2 in transgenic mice protects neurons from maturally-occurring cell-death and experimental-ischemia. *Neuron* **13**:1017-1030.

McCarthy, S.A., H.S. Symonds, and T. Van Dyke. 1994. Regulation of apoptosis in transgenic mice by simian virus 40 T antigen-mediated inactivation of p53. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* **91**:3979-3983.

Melillo, R.M., K. Helin, D.R. Lowy, and J.T. Schiller. 1994. Positive and negative regulation of cell proliferation by E2F-1: Influence of protein level and human papillomavirus oncoproteins. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* **14**:8241-8249.

Missero, C., E. Calautti, R. Eckner, J. Chin, L.H. Tsai, D.M. Livingston, and K.K. Yokoyama. 1995. Involvement of the cell-cycle inhibitor Cip1/Waf1 and the E1A-associated p300 protein in terminal differentiation. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* **92**:5451-5455.

Ő.

Miyashita, T. and J.C. Reed. 1995. Tumour suppressor p53 is a direct transcriptional activator of the human bax gene. *Cell* **80**:293-299.

Moberg, K.H., W.A. Tyndall, and D.J. Hall. 1992. Wild type murine p53 represses transcription from the murine c-myc promoter in a human glial cell line. *J. Cell. Biochem.* **49**:208-215.

Momand, J., G.P. Zambetti, D.C. Olson, D. George, and A.J. Levine. 1992. The mdm-2 oncogene product forms a complex with the p53 protein and inhibit p53-mediated transactivation. *Cell* **69**:1237-1245.

Montes de Oca Luna, R., D.S. Wagner, and G. Lozano. 1995. Rescue of early embryonic lethality in mdm2-deficient mice by deletion of p53. *Nature* **378**:203-206.

Moran, E. 1993. DNA tumor virus transforming proteins and the cell cycle. *Curr. Opin. Genet. Dev.* **3:**63-70.

Morgenbesser, S.D., B.O. Williams, T. Jacks, and R.A. DePinho. 1994. p53dependent apoptosis produced by Rb-deficiency in the developing mouse lens. *Nature* **371:**72-74.

5

Murphy, M., A. Hinman, and A.J. Levine. 1996. Wild-type p53 negatively regulates the expression of a microtubule-associated protein. *Genes & Dev.* **10:**2971-2980.

Muraoka, M., M. Konishi, R. Kikuchi-Yanoshita, K. Tanaka, N. Shitara, J.-M. Chong, T. Iwama, and M. Miyaki. 1996. *p300* gene alterations in colorectal and gastric carcinomas. *Oncogene* **12**:1565-1569.

Nead, M.A., L.A. Baglia, M.J. Antinore, J.W. Ladlow, and D.J. McCance. 1998. Rb binds c-Jun and activates transcription. *EMBO J.* 17:2342-2352.

Nevins, J.R. 1992. E2F: a link between the Rb tumour suppressor protein and viral oncoproteins. *Science* **258:**424-429.

Nobori, T., K. Miura, D.J. Wu, A. Lois, K. Takbayashi, and D.A. Carson. 1994. Deletion of the cyclin-dependent kinase-4 inhibitor gene in multiple human cancers. *Nature* **368**:753-756.

Nordeen, S.K. 1988. Luciferase reporter gene vectors for analysis of promoters and enhancers. *Biotechniques* **6:**454-456.

O'Conner, J.D., E.W.-F. Lam, S. Giffin, S. Zhong, C. Leighton, S.A. Burbidge, and X. Lu. 1995. Physical and functional interactions between p53 and cell cycle co-operating transcription factors, E2F1 and DP1. *EMBO J.* **14**:6184-6192.

Ogryzko, V.V., R.L. Schitz, V. Russanova, B.H. Howard, and Y. Nakatani. 1996. The transcriptional co-activators p300 and CBP are histone acetyltransferases. *Cell* **87**:953-959. Oliner, J.D., J.A. Pietenpol, S. Thiagalingam, J. Gyuris, K.W. Kinzler, and B. Vogelstein. 1993. Oncoprotein MDM2 conceals the activation domain of tunnour suppressor p53. *Nature* **362**:857-860.

Oltavi, Z., M. Curt, and S.J. Korsmeyer. 1993. Bcl-2 heterodimerized *in vivo* with a conserved homolog, Bax, that accelerates programmed cell death. *Cell* **74**:609-619.

Pan, H. and A.E. Griep. 1994. Altered cell cycle regulation in the lens of HPV-16 E6 or E7 transgenic mice: implication for tumour suppressor gene function in development. *Genes & Dev.* 8:1285-1299.

Partridge, J.F. and N.B. La Thangue. 1991. A developmentally regulated and tissue-dependent transcription factor complexes with the retinoblastoma gene product. *EMBO J.* **10**:3819-3827.

Pavletich, N.P., and C.O. Pabo. 1993. Crystal-structure of 5-finger GL1-DNA complex-new perspectives on zinc fingers. *Science* **261**:1701-1707.

Perkins, N.D., L.K. Felzien, J.C. Betts, K. Leung, D.H. Beach, and G.J. Nabel. 1997. Regulation of NF-*K*B by Cyclin-dependent kinases associated with the p300 co-activator. *Science* **275**:523-527.

Perry, M.E., J. Piette, J.A. Zawadzki, D. Harvey, and A.J. Levine. 1993. The mdm-2 gene is induced in response to UV light in a p53-dependent manner. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* **90**:11623-11627.

a tada ta ana ang 

Petrij, F., R.H. Giles, H.G. Dauwerse, J.J. Saris, R.C.M. Hennekam, M. Masuno, N. Tommerup, G.-J.B. van Ommen, R.H. Goodman, D.J.M. Peters, and M.H. Breuning. 1995. Rubinstein-Taybi syndrome caused by mutations in the transcriptional co-activator CBP. *Nature* **376**:348-351.

Phillips, A.C., S. Bates, K.M. Ryan, K. Helin, and K.H. Vousden. 1997.Induction of DNA synthesis and apoptosis are separable functions of E2F-1.*Genes & Dev.* 11:1853-1863.

Pietenpol, J.A., T. Tokino, S. Thiagalingam, W. El-Deiry, K.W. Kinzler, and B. Vogelstein. 1994. Sequence-specific transcriptional activation is essential for growth suppression by p53. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* **91**:1998-2002.

Pietenpol, J.A. and B. Vogelstein. 1993. No room at the p53 inn. *Nature* **365:**17-18.

Pines, J. 1995. Cyclins, CDKs and cancer. Seminars in Cancer Biology 6:63-72.

Polyak, K., T. Waldman, T.-C. He, K.W. Kinzler, and B. Vogelstein. 1996. Genetic determinants of p53-induced apoptosis and growth arrest. *Genes & Dev.* **10**:1945-1952.

Prives, C. 1994. How loop,  $\beta$  sheets, and a helices help us to understand p53. *Cell* **78**:543-546.

Puri, P.L., M.L. Avantaggiati, C. Balsano, N. Sang, A. Graessmann, A. Giordano, and M. Levrero. 1997. p300 is required for MyoD-dependent cell cycle arrest and muscle-specific gene transcription. *EMBO J.* **16**:369-383.

Qin, X.-Q., D.M. Livingston, W.G. Kaelin Jr., and P.D. Adams. 1994. Deregulated transcription factor E2F-1 expression leads to S-phase entry and p53-mediated apoptosis. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* **91**:10918-10922.

Querido, E., J.G. Teodoro, and P.E. Branton. 1997. Accumulation of p53 induced by the adenovirus E1A protein required regions involved in the stimulation of DNA synthesis. *J. Virol.* **71**:3526-3533.

Raff, M.C. 1996. Size control: the regulation of cell numbers in animal development. *Cell* **86**:173-175.

Roth, J., M. Dobbelstein, D.A. Freedman, T. Shenk, and A.J. Levine. 1998. Nucleo-cytoplasmic shuttling of the hdm2 oncoprotein regulates the levels of the p53 protein via a pathway used by the human immunodeficiency virus rev protein. *EMBO J.* 17:554-564.

Rotter, V., O. Foord, and N. Navot. 1993. In search of the functions of normal p53 protein. *Trends. Cell Biol.* 46-49.

Rowan, S., R.L. Ludwig, Y. Haupt, S. Bates, X.Lu, M.Oren, and K.H. Vousden. 1996. Specific loss of apoptotic but not cell-cycle arrest function in human tumor derived p53 mutant. *EMBO J.* **15**:827-838.

Sabbatini, P., J. Lin, A.J. Levine, and E. White. 1995. Essential role for p53mediated transcription in E1A-induced apoptosis. *Genes & Dev.* **9:**2184-2192. Sakai, K., H. Nagahara, K. Abe, and H. Obata. 1992. Loss of heterozygosity on chromosome-16 in hepatocellular carcinoma. *J. Gastroenterol Hepatol.* 7:288-292.

Schmidt, E.E., K. Ichimura, G. Reifenberger, and V.P. Collins. 1994. CDKN2 (p16/MTS1) gene deletion or CDK4 amplification occurs in the majority of glioblastomas. *Cancer Res.* **54**:6321-6324.

Schwarz, J.K., S.H. Devote, E.J. Smith, S.P. Chellappan, L. Jakoi, and J.R. Nevins. 1993. Interactions of the p107 and pRb protein with E2F during the cell proliferation response. *EMBO J.* **12**:1013-1020.

Serrano, M., G.J. Hannon, and D. Beach. 1993. A new regulatory motif in cell-cycle control causing specific inhibition of cyclinD/CDK4. *Nature* **366:**704-707.

Serrano, M., E. Gomez-Lahoz, R.A. DePinho, D. Beach, and D. Bar-Sagi. 1995. Inhibition of ras-induced proliferation and cellular transformation by p16<sup>*INK4*</sup>. *Science* **267**:249-252.

Shan, B., T. Durfee, and W.H. Lee. 1996. Disruption of RB/E2F-1 interaction by single point mutations in E2F-1 enhances S-phase entry and apoptosis. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* **93**:679-684.

Sherr, C.J. 1993. Mammalian G1 cyclins. Cell 73:1059-1065.

Sherr, C.J. and J.M. Roberts. 1995. Inhibitors of mammalian G1 cyclindependent kinases. *Genes & Dev.* 9:1149-1163. Shieh, S.-Y., M. Jkeda, Y. Taya, and C. Prives. 1997. DNA damageinduced phosphorylation of p53 alleviates inhibition by MDM2. *Cell* 91:325-334. d.

Í,

÷,

Shikama, N., J. Lyon, and N.B. La Thangue. 1997. The p300/CBP family: integrating signals with transcription factors and chromatin. *Trends Cell. Biol.* **7**:230-236.

Shikama, N., C.-W. Lee, L. Delavaine, J. Lyon, W. Cairns, M. Kristic-Demonacos, and N.B. La Thangue. 1998. A new component of the p300/CBP co-activator complex that regulates E2F and the p53 response. Submitted for puplication.

Singh, P., S.H. Wong, and W. Hong. 1994. Overexpression of E2F-1 in rat embryo fibroblasts leads to neoplastic transformation. *EMBO J.* **13**:3329-3338.

Slack, R.S., P.A. Hamel, T.S. Bladon, R.M. Gill, and M.W. McBurney. 1993. Regulated expression of the retinoblastoma gene in differentiating embryonal carcinoma cells. *Oncogene* 8:1585-1591.

Smith, C.L., S.A. Onate, M.J. Tsai, and B.W. O'Malley. 1996. CREB binding protein acts synergistically with steroid receptor co-activator-1 to enhance steroid receptor-dependent transcription. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* **93**:8884-8888.

Smith, E.J., G. Leone, J. DeGregori, L. Jakoi, and J.R. Nevins. 1996. The accumulation of an E2F-p130 transcriptional repressor distinguishes a G0 cell state from a G1 phase state. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 16:6965-6976.

Smith, M.L., I.-T. Chen, Q. Zhan, I. Bae, C.-Y. Chen, T.M. Gilmer, M.B. Kastan, P.M. O'Connor, and A.J. Fornace Jr. 1994. Interaction of the p53-regulated protein Gadd45 with proliferating cell nuclear antigen. *Science* **266**:1376-1380.

Somasundaram, K. and W.S. El-Deiry. 1997. Inhibition of p53-mediated transcription and cell cycle arrest by E1a through its p300/CBP-interacting region. *Oncogene* **14**:1047-1057.

Sørensen, T.S., R. Girling, C.-W. Lee, J. Gannon, L.R. Bandara, and N.B. La Thangue. 1996. Functional interaction between DP-1 and p53. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 16:5888-5895.

Spencer, T.E., G. Jenster, M.M. Burcin, C.D. Allis, J. Zhou, C.A. Mizzen, N.J. Mckenna, S.A. Onate, S.Y. Tsai, M.J. Tsai, and B.W. O'Malley. 1997. Steroid receptor coactivator-1 is a histone acetyltransferase. *Nature* **389**:194-198.

Steller, H. 1995. Mechanisms and genes of cellular suicide. *Science* **267**:1445-1449.

Stein, R.W. and E.B. Ziff. 1987. Repression of insulin gene-expression by adenovirus type-5 E1A proteins. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 7:1164-1170.

Stein, R.W., M. Corrigan, P. Yaciuk, J. Whelan, and E. Moran. 1990. Analysis of E1A-mediated growth-regulation functions-binding of the 300 kilodalton cellular-product correlates with E1A enhancer repression function and DNA synthesis-inducing activity. *J. Virol.* **64**:4421-4427. Stewart, N., G.G. Hicks, F. Paraskevas, and M. Mowat. 1995. Evidence for a 2nd cell-cycle block at G2/M by p53. Oncogene 10:109-115. Sturzbecher, H.-W. and W. Deppert. 1994. Structural and functional analysis of tumor suppressor p53. Methods in Molecular Genetics 319-341. 1.444

Strasser, A., A.W. Harris, T. Jacks, and S. Cory. 1994. DNA damage can induce apoptosis in proliferating lymphoid cells via p53-independent mechanisms inhibitable by Bcl-2. *Cell* **79**:329-339.

Thomas, A. and E. White. 1998. Suppression of the p300-dependent mdm2 negative-feedback loop induces the p53 apoptotic function. *Genes & Dev.* **12**:1975-1985.

Thut, C.J., J.L. Chen, R. Klemin, and R. Tjian. 1995. p53 transcriptional activation mediated by coactivators TAFII40 and TAFII60. *Science* **267**:100-104.

Thut, C.J., J.A. Goodrich, and R. Tjian. 1997. Repression of p53-mediated transcription by MDM2: a dual mechanism. *Genes & Dev.* **11**:1974-1986.

Tommasino, M. and L. Crawford. 1995. Human papillomavirus E6 and E7: proteins which deregulate the cell cycle. *BioEssays* 17:509-518.

Torchia, J., D.W. Rose, J. Inostroza, Y. Kamei, S. Westin, C.K. Glass, and M.G. Rosenfeld. 1997. The transcriptional co-activator P/CIP binds CBP and mediates nuclear-receptor function. *Nature* **387**:677-684.

Trouche, D., A. Cook, and T. Kouzarides. 1996. The CBP co-activator stimulates E2F1/DP1 activity. *Nucleic Acids Res.* **24:**4139-4145.

Vairo, G., D.M. Livingston, and D. Ginsberg. 1995. Functional interaction between E2F-4 and p130: evidence for distinct mechanisms underlying growth suppression by different retinoblastoma protein family members. *Genes & Dev.* **9**:869-881.

Vaus, D.L. and A. Strasser. 1996. The molecular biology of apoptosis. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. 93:2239-2244.

Vojtek, A.B., S.M. Hollenberg, and J.A. Cooper. 1993. Mammalian Ras interacts directly with the serine/threonine kinase Raf. *Cell* **74**:205-214.

Vogelstein, B. and K.W. Kinzler. 1994. X-rays strike p53 again. *Nature* 370:174-175.

Vousden, K.H. 1995. Regulation of the cell cycle by viral oncoproteins. Seminars in Cancer Biology 6:109-116.

Waga, S., G.J. Hannon, D. Beach, and B. Stillman. 1994. The p21 inhibitor of cyclin-dependent kinases controls DNA replication by interaction with PCNA. *Nature* **369**:574-578.

Wagner, A.J., J.M. Kokontis, and N. Hay. 1994. Myc-mediated apoptosis requires wild-type p53 in a manner independent of cell cycle arrest and the ability of p53 to induce  $p21^{Wafl/Cip1}$ . Genes & Dev. 8:2817-2830.

Waldman, T., K.W. Kinzler, and B. Vogelstein. 1995. p21 is necessary for the p53-mediated G1 arrest in human cancer cells. *Cancer Res.* 55:5187-5190.

「「「「「」」というという

Wang, Y. and C. Prives. 1995. Increased and altered DNA binding of human p53 by S and G2/M but not G1 cyclin-dependent kinases. *Nature* **376**:88-91.

Wang, J.Y.J. 1997. Retinoblastoma protein in growth seppression and death protection. *Curr. Opi. Genet. Dev.* 7:39-45.

Weinberg, R.A. 1992. The retinoblastoma gene and gene products. *Cancer Surveys* **12**:43-57.

Weinberg, R.A. 1995. The retinoblastoma protein and cell cycle control. *Cell* **81**:323-330.

Weintraub, S.J., K.N.B. Chow, R.X. Luo, S.H. Zhang, S. He, and D.C. Dean. 1995. Mechanism of active transcriptional repression by the retinoblastoma protein. *Nature* **375**:812-815.

Welch, P.J. and J.Y.J. Wang. 1993. A C-terminal protein-binding domain in the retinoblastoma protein regulates nuclear c-Abl tyrosine kinase in cell cycle. *Cell* **75**:779-790.

Welch, P.J. and J.Y.J. Wang. 1995. Abrogation of retinoblastoma protein function by c-Abl through tyrosine kinase-dependent and independent mechanisms. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* **15**:5542-5551.

130

White, E. 1996. Life, death, and the pursuit of apoptosis. *Genes & Dev.* **10**:1-15.

Whyte, P. 1995. The retinoblastoma protein and its relatives. *Seminars in Cancer Biology* **6**:83-90.

Williams, B.O., L. Remington, R.T. Bronson, S. Mukai, D.M. Albert, T. Dryja, and T. Jacks. 1994. Cooperative tumorigenic effects of germline mutations in Rb and p53. *Nature Genetics* 7:480-484.

Wu, C.-L., L.R. Zukerberg, C. Ngwu, E. Harlow, and J. A. Lees. 1995. *In vivo* association of E2F and DP family proteins. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 15:2536-2546.

Wu, X. and A.J. Levine. 1994. p53 and E2F-1 co-operate to mediate aopotosis. *Proc. natl. Acad. Sci.* **91:**3602-3606.

Wyllie, A. 1997. Clues in the p53 murder mystery. Nature 389:237-238.

Xiong, Y., G.J. Hannon, H. Zhang, D. Casso, R. Kobayashi, and D. Beach. 1993. p21 is a universal inhibitor of cyclin kinases. *Science* **366**:701-704.

Yamasaki, L., T. Jacks, R. Bronson, E. Goillot, E. Harlow, and N. Dyson. 1996. Tumour induction and tissue atrophy in mice lacking E2F-1. *Cell* 85:537-547.

Yang, X.-J., V.V. Ogryzko, J.-I. Nishikawa, B.H. Howard, and Y. Nakatani. 1997. A p300/CBP-associated factor that competes with the adenoviral oncoprotein E1A. *Nature* **382**:319-324. Yao, T.-P., S.P. Oh, M. Fuchs, N.-D. Zhou, L.-E. Ch'ng, D. Newsome, R.T. Bronson, E. Li, D.M. Livingston, and R. Eckner. 1998. Gene dosage-development embryonic development and proliferation defects in mice lacking the transcriptional integrator p300. *Cell* **93**:361-372.

Yin, C., C.M. Knudson, S.J. Korsmeyer, and T. Van Dyke. 1997. Bax suppresses tumorigenesis and stimulates apoptosis *in vivo*. *Nature* **385**:637-640.

Yuan, J.N., B.H. Liu, H. Lee, Y.T. Shaw, S.T. Chiou, W.C. Chang, and M.D.
Lai. 1993. Release of the p53-induced repression on thymidine kinase promoter by single p53-binding sequence. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 191:662-668.

Yuan, W., G. Condorelli, M. Caruso, A. Felsani, and A. Giordano. 1996. Human p300 protein is a coactivator for transcription factor MyoD. *J. Biol. Chem.* **271**:9009-9013.

Yuan Z.-M., Y. Huang, Y. Whang, C. Sawyers, R. Weichselbaum, S. Kharbanda, and D. Kufe. 1996. Role for c-Abl tyrosine kinase in growth arrest response to DNA damage. *Nature* **382**:272-274.

Zakut-Houri, R., B. Bienz-Tadmor, D. Givol, and M. Oren. 1985. Human p53 cellular tumor antigen: cDNA sequence and expression in Cos cells. *EMBO J.* 4:1251-1255.

Zamanian, M. and N.B. La Thangue. 1992. Adenovirus E1a prevents the retinoblastoma gene product from repressing the activity of a cellular transcription factor. *EMBO J.* 11:2603-2610.

Zhan, Q., S. Pan, I. Bac, C. Guillouf, D.A. Lieberman, P.M. O'Connor, and A.J. Fornace Jr. 1994. Induction of Bax by genetoxic stress in human cells correlates with normal p53 status and apoptosis. *Oncogene* **9**:3743-3751.

Zhou, X., L. Tarmin, J. Yin, H.-Y. Jiang, H. Suzuki, M.-G. Rhyu, J. Abraham, and S.J. Meltzer. 1994. The *MTS1* gene is frequently mutated in primary human esophageal tumors. *Oncogene* **9**: 3737-3741.

Zhu, L., S. van den Heuvel, K. Helin, A. Fattaey, M. Ewen, D.M. Livingston, N. Dyson, and E. Harlow. 1993. Inhibition of cell proliferation by p107, a relative of the retinoblastoma protein. *Genes & Dev.* 7:1111-1125.

Zwicker, J. and R. Muller. 1997. Cell cycle regulation of gene expression by transcriptional repression. *Trends Genetics* **13**:3-6.

## Acknowledgements

I would like to thank Dr Nick La Thangue for his enthusiastic supervision and guidance throughout the course of my Ph.D. I am grateful for the opportunity he gave me to join his lab. I would also like to thank Susana de la Luna, Liz Allen and Bill Cairns for reading parts of this thesis. Many thanks to Troels Sørensen and Noriko Shikama for their willingness to share reagents and ideas. Thanks also to Chris Larminie and Lorna Morris for the correction of my English. Ľ

I would like to thank Drs Jung-Kon Kim (GNU) and Young-Chul Sung (POSTECH) for their support and advice. I would also like to thank Drs Robert White and John Coggins for reference letters.

I greatly appreciate the support from post and present members of the Cathcart lab. I am indebted to the medical illustration department for providing their excellent services.

Profound thanks go to my parents for their continued and unwavering support, of every kind, during my academic career. I would like to express my gratitude to my parents-in-law and the other members of my extended family for their support and encouragement. Thanks to my lovely daughter for keeping my family always happy. Finally, I thank my wife not only for her patience but also for all her hard work and endless support. This work would not been possible without their support.

During the course of my Ph.D I was supported by the British Council, the Committee of Vice-Chancellors and Principals of the Universities of the U.K. (CVCP) and the Institute of Biomedical and Life Science (IBLS) of the University of Glasgow.

